Effects of diet and exercise on nitrogen status of the body.

. . . • • . .

•

44 14

. 1

IMMEDIATE AND DELAYED EFFECT OF EXERCISE ON VARIOUS NITROGENOUS COMPONENTS OF BLOOD, MUSCLE AND SKIN OF YOUNG ADULT RATS

CONSUMING ADEQUATE VERSUS INADEQUATE LEVELS OF PROTEIN

bу

Estelle Mongeau

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Department of Animal Science Macdonald College of McGill University Montreal

March 1966

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The author wishes to express her sincere gratitude to Dr. E.W. Crampton for his guidance and encouragement in the course of this work and to Dr. D. A. Christensen who generously shared his knowledge and experience in this field of study. Further thanks are due to Dr. R. H. Common, Chairman, and to Dr. P.A. Anatassiadis, from the Department of Agricultural Chemistry, for allowing the use of their equipment and for their competent advice.

The author is also indebted to the technical assistants from the Department of Animal Science, to Miss Messier who typed this manuscript, and to all the others who have helped with the realization of this work. She wishes to thank Dr. R. Beaudoin, Director, and her colleagues from the Institut de diététique et de nutrition, Université de Montréal, for their cooperation, understanding and interest.

The assistance of the Defence Research Board, Canada, Department of National Defence, who partially financed this project, is gratefully acknowledged.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

•

		Page
Ι-	Introduction	1
II -	Review of literature	4
	A - Body nitrogen:	
	1 - Under normal conditions	4
	2 - As affected by stress	16
	3 - As affected by diet	20
	a) Effect of a caloric restriction	20
	b) Effect of a protein restriction	25
	4 - As affected by exercise	41
	a) General effects of exercise on the body	41
	b) Effects of exercise on body nitrogen	45
	B - Dietary protein requirements for exercise	68
III -	Basis and nature of the present study	71
IV -	Specific objectives of the research	74
V -	Experimental procedure	75
	A - General plan of the study	75
	B - Animals	75
	C - Diets	77
	D - Exercise regimen	79
	E - Records	7 9
	F - Tissue collection and storage	80
	G - Chemical and physical methods	82
	H - Statistical analysis	84

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

	Page
VI - Results	26
A - Format used in the presentation of results	86
B - Feed intake and body weights	92
l - Feed intakes	92
2 - Energy Intakes	97
3 - Nitrogen intakes	101
4 - Initial and final body weights	101
5 - Weight gains	101
6 - Efficiency ratios:	
a) Weight gain / energy intake	104
b) Nitrogen intake / weight gain	107
C - Weights of organs and tissue	113
1 - Heart weight	113
2 - Liver weight	116
3 - Muscle weight	117
4 - Skin weight	122
D - Total nitrogen composition of blood serum, muscle and skin	122
E - Nitrogenous components of blood serum	125
F - Nitrogenous components of muscle	131
G - Nitrogenous components of skin	139
VII - Discussion	148
A - Feed intake, body weight and feed efficiency ratios	148
B - Weights of organs and tissues	151
C - Composition of blood serum.	152

.

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

D - Composition of muscle	154
E - Composition of skin	159
F - Integrating discussion	161
VIII - Summary	166
IX - Conclusions	170
Literature cited	173
Annendin	т

Page

FIGURES

Figure number	Title	Page
1	Weekly feed intakes	93
2	Weekly nitrogen intekes	94
3	Weekly weight gains	95
4	Weight gains, nitrogen intakes and feed intakes as affected by exercise, rest or dietary protein	96
5	Body and tissue weights as affected by exercise, dietary protein or replicate	114
6	Nitrogen in blood serum, muscle, and skin, as affected by exercise, rest, dietary protein or replicate	123
7	Distribution of serum protein fractions according to level of exercise, replicate, level of dietary protein or length of rest period	127
. 8	DNA in muscle and in skin, as affected by exercise, rest, dietary protein or replicate	133

.

TABLES

Table Number	Title	Page
t	Body composition of normal adult rats	10
11	Blood proteins of adult rats	11
111	Protein and DNA composition of skeletal muscle of adult rats	13
IV	Protein, collagen, and DNA composition of skin of adult rats	15
v	Nitrogen composition of tissues of rats submitted to long-term moderate exercise	58
VI	Effect of exercise on fresh weights of organs and glands	65
VII	Adrenal and heart weights of exercised (swimming) and non-exercised, pair-fed adult rats	66
VIII	Allotment plan (for each of 2 replicates)	76
JX	Proximate composition of diets	78
x	Average feed intoke according to level of exercise, replicate, experimental period and level of dietary protein	98
XI	Average caloric intake according to level of exercise, replicate, experimental period and level of dietary protein	99
XII	Average nitrogen intake according to level of exercise, replicate, experimental period and level of dietary protein	102
XIII	Mean initial and final body weights according to the level of exercise, replicate, level of dietary protein or length of rest period	102
XIIIA	Average weight gains according to level of exercise, replicate, experimental period and level of dietary protein	103
XIV	Mean weight gains in each experimental period, according to level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	105
XV	Mean weight gains of groups of rats in experiment during each of the three experimental periods	106

TABLES (continued)

Table Number	r Title	Page
XVI	Mean weight gained per 100 Calories consumed, for each experimental period and according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	108
XVII	Mean weight pained per 100 Calories consumed for groups of rats in experiment during each of the three experimental periods	109
XVIII	Mean nitrogen intake per unit of weight gained for each experimental period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	110
XIX	Mean nitrogen intake per unit of weight gained for groups of rats in experiment during each of the three experimental periods	111
xx	First order interactions observed on weight gains, weight gained/100 Calories consumed, or nitrogen intake/unit weight gained	112
XXI	Mean heart, liver, and muscle weights according to the level of exercise, replicate, level of dietary protein or length of rest period	115
XXII	Mean liver weight of groups of rats rested for 0, 2 or 4 weeks after an 8-week exercise period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	118
XXIII	Mean muscle weight of groups of rats, rested for 0, 2 or 4 weeks after an 8-week exercise period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	129
XX IV	First order interactions observed on heart weights (fresh), liver weights (dry, fat-free), and muscle weights (dry, fat-free)	121
XXV	Mean blood serum, muscle, and skin nitrogen according to the level of exercise, replicate, level of dietary protein or length of rest periód	124
XXVI	Mean serum proteins (grams %) and serum albumin/ globulin ratio according to the level of exercise, replicate, level of dietary protein or length of rest period	126

TABLES (continued)

Table Number	Title	Page
XXVII	Mean serum proteins of groups of rats rested for 0, 2 or 4 weeks after an 8-week exercise period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	128
XXVITI	Mean serum albumin/globulin ratios of groups of rats rested for 0, 2 or 4 weeks after an 8-week exercise period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	1 29
XXIX	First order interactions observed on blood serum proteins and albumin/globulin ratios	130
XXX	Mean muscle DNA (mg./100 g. and mg./muscle) and muscle N/DNA ratios according to the level of exercise, replicate, level of dietary protein or length of rest period	134
XXX I	Mean muscle nitrogen in groups of rats rested for O, 2 or 4 weeks after an 8-week exercise period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	135
XXXII	Mean murcle DNA in groups of rats rested for 0, 2 or 4 weeks after an 8-week exercise period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	136
XXXIII	Mean muscle N/DNA ratios in groups of rats rested for 0, 2 or 4 weeks after an 8-week exercise period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	137
XXXIV	First order interactions observed on muscle nitrogen, DNA, and nitrogen/DNA ratios	138
XXXV	Mean skin DNA (mg./100 grams skin) and collegen nitrogen (g./100 grams skin)). according to the level of exercise, replicate; level of dietary protein or length of rest period	142
XXXVI	Mean skin nitrogen/DNA, and non-collagen nitrogen/ DNA ratios, according to the level of exercise, replicate, level of dietary protein or length of rest period	143
XXXVII	Mean skin nitrogen of groups of rats rested for 0, 2 or 4 weeks after an 8-week exercise period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	144

TABLES (continued)

Table Number	Title	Page
XXXVIII	Mean skin DNA of groups of rats rested for 0, 2,or 4 weeks after an 8-week exercise period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	145
XXX IX	Mean skin nitrogen/DNA ratios in rats allowed to rest for 0, 2 or 4 weeks after an 8-week exercise period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein	146
XL ·	First order interactions observed on skin nitrogen, DNA, and nitrogen/DNA ratios	147
м	Fac-simile of a table of means	87
N	Fac-simile of a table of interactions	90

APPENDIX TABLES

Appendix Table No.	Title	Page
1 - ^	Vitamin diet fortification mix	t
2-1	Dietary protein requirements of rats	11
3-A	Initial weights	111
4-A	Final weights	· IV
5 - A	Heart weights (fresh)	v
6-1	Liver weights (dry, fat-free)	٧ĭ
7-A	Muscle weights (dry, fat-free)	V I I
8-Λ	Blood serum nitrogen	VTII
· 9-A	Blood serum albumin/globulin ratio	IX
10-A	Muscle nitrogen	x
11-A	Muscle DNA	XI
12-A	Muscle nitrogen/DNA ratio	XII
13-A	Skin nitrogen	XIII
14-A	Skin DNA	XIV
15-A	Skin nitrogen/DNA ratio	xv
16-A	Skin cøllagen nitrogen	XVI
17-A	Skin non-collagen nitrogen/DNA ratio	XVII

.

I INTRODUCTION

One of the most important consequences of the technical revolution that has marked our century is the replacement of man- and animal-power by mechanical energy and the resulting trend towards sedentarism in man. This change in the way-of-living of a large proportion of the world population has affected the human species in such a way that it has led a well-known scientist (Passmore, 1964) to talk of the development of a "new type of man and woman, homo sedentarius". In spite of this general tendency, there are still individuals whose level of activity can be considered as heavy. In this category are sportsmen, members of the armed forces undergoing heavy drill and certain types of industrial and agricultural workers.

The influence of physical exercise on nutritional requirements remains therefore a subject of interest, especially to investigators in the field of human nutrition. The relationship between the level of activity and energy requirements is quite well established, but the question of protein requirement for exercise is still a matter of controversy. Yet protein is not only an essential nutrient for all, but it has been one of the first dietary components to be recognized as such. In a recent publication, a leading group of experts on protein requirements (FAO/WHO Joint Expert Group, 1965) had to admit that "scientific evidence of a need for more protein.....in heavy workers is inconclusive" and recommended further research on the subject. One of the main difficulties encountered in studying this problem, as well as that of protein requirements in general, is the inadequacy of the criteria available for measuring slight

- 1 -

deficiencies and small changes in the need for protein. The evaluation of labile protein reserves constitutes a means of detecting small variations in the state of protein nutrition that might result from a change in the level of activity or from any other factor. It is only in recent years, however, that simple and sensitive methods have been proposed for the measurement of protein reserves (Allison et al., 1962).

This approach was used by Christensen (1963a) to study the influence of physical exercise on the protein status of rats fed different levels of protein. The results of this study not only indicated that the labile protein of some of the body compartments decreased when activity was increased, but they revealed important changes following exercise, in the nitrogenous composition of certain muscles involved in the imposed exercise. Another interesting observation from the same report is the significant difference found in their response to exercise between animals that had been submitted to intermittent periods of training before the experiment and rats that had not been trained prior to the experimental period. These findings gave weight to the hypothesis that exercise increases protein requirements, but left many points to be clarified. They opened the way to further research in relation to the effect of the level of physical activity on labile and even on socalled stable body nitrogen. This report also demonstrated the importance of rest periods between periods of exercise, especially with respect to changes occurring in muscle. These questions are among several that need to be answered before any conclusion can be reached regarding the influence of the level of physical activity on the need for dietary protein.

- 2 -

The present study was undertaken to obtain some information on the sequence of appearance of changes observed in rats as a consequence of intermittent exercise, on the reversibility of such changes and on the influence of the level of dietary protein on the production and permanence of these changes. More specifically, this experiment was aimed to evaluate the immediate and delayed effects of a prolonged period of exercise and of dietary protein level on the nitrogenous composition of some of the tissues of the rat that were shown to be susceptible to this influence, namely: blood serum, skeletal muscle and skin.

- 3 -

II REVIEW OF LITERATURE

A - Body nitrogen

- 1 Body nitrogen under normal conditions.
 - a Importance and functions of nitrogenous substances in the body.

The metabolizing mass of the living body may be thought of as being essentially a mixture of water and protein. Protein accounts for approximately 20% of the fat-free composition of the body of mammals, and for about threequarters of the dry, fat-free weight of their carcass. Proteins have a structural and a functional role in the body: they are an essential part of the structure of cells and, as constituents of enzymes and hormones, they permit and regulate the metabolic reactions by which life is maintained. If the body is invaded by foreign bodies, proteins play a defensive role either as constituents of antibodies or as detoxifying agents.

b - Types of nitrogenous substances in the body.

In the cell, body nitrogen exists as free amino acids, as structured proteins and as conjugated proteins such as nucleoproteins and lipoproteins. The nucleus contains desoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), one of the constituents of chromosomes and a carrier of genetic information. Ribonucleic acid (RNA), another nucleoprotein, acts as a template for protein synthesis and is found mostly in the ribosomes of the endoplasmic reticulum and in the cell sap. Conjugated with lipids, proteins are essential features of internal and external cellular membranes. Non-protein nitrogen is found predominantly in intraand extra-cellular body fluids. It includes: 1) free amino acids forming the amino acid pool upon which the cells can draw for the synthesis of their individual characteristic proteins; 2) important energy reservoirs such as creatine and creatinine; 3) end-products of protein metabolism such as urea, uric acid and ammonia.

The type of protein found in the protoplasm of any particular cell of the body appears to be specific for tissue and for species. It is the chemical structure of the protein constituents of a tissue which ascribes a special function to this tissue. Blood proteins include haemoglobin and plasma proteins. The latter are referred to as albumins, globulins and fibrinogen, which are general terms including a large number of simple and conjugated proteins as well as traces of enzymes, hormones and antibodies. Serum proteins can be separated electrophoretically into albumin and at least 4 globulin fractions termed: $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \beta$ and γ globulins, each component differing from the other in the size of its molecule. The quantitative importance of each fraction varies with the species. While serum albumin is synthesized mainly in the liver, gamma globulin originates mostly in nonhepatic tissues (Wannemacher et al., 1963).

Muscle is composed of formed elements or myofibrils and of sarcoplasm in which the myofibrils are immersed. The myofibrils contain three types of proteins: myosin which

- 5 -

incorporates L- and H- meromyosins, actin that can be present either in the G- or F-form, the two being interconvertible, and tropomyosin. Actin and myosin can unite to form actomyosin. These three components have different molecular weights, physical and chemical properties and play a leading role in muscle contraction. Sarcoplasm contains globulin X, myoglobin and other nitrogenous components, largely enzymes and nucleoproteins. Extracellular proteins of muscle tissue include collagen, elastin and reticulin.

While the epidermis or outer layer of the skin is composed mainly of keratin, a highly insoluble protein of the albuminoid type, the dermis or inner layer contains other albuminoids such as collagen, elastin and reticulin. The skin interstitial fluid contains the same proteins as those normally found in the plasma (Humphrey <u>et al.</u>, 1957).

c - Dynamic state of body nitrogen.

As a consequence of the work of Schöenheimer (1942), Whipple (1948) and others, it has been recognized that there is a constant turnover of nitrogenous components in the body. Proteins are continually being broken down into amino acids which are pooled and reused for synthetic purposes. The turnover rate varies with the type of protein, some being renewed at a slow pace, while others are rebuilt more rapidly. In the event of a deficiency, the former will be maintained at the expense of the latter.

- 6 -

These observations led Whipple (1948) to distinguish two types of body proteins: stable proteins, the constant turnover of which causes no change in the amount in which it exists in the body or in each cell, and labile proteins, which are that part of tissue protein that can be easily depleted and repleted by varying the intake of protein in the diet. Stable proteins are associated mainly with structural parts of cells such as the nucleus, the membrane and with essential tissues such as nervous tissue. Cellular DNA and serum globulins are examples of stable nitrogenous components (Allison <u>et al.</u>, 1963). Labile proteins are found in greater concentrations in the cytoplasm and in more dispensable organs such as liver and viscera. This type of proteins include, among other components, cellular RNA and serum albumin (Allison et al., 1963).

Allison and coworkers (1963) make a further differentiation between "dynamic protein" and "labile protein reserves". "Labile protein reserves" would account for not more than 5% of the body nitrogen and would be more closely associated with liver, intestinal and pancreatic tissues. Munro (1964) considers this fraction as a mere extension of the free amino acid pool of the body. "Dynamic protein" is a more general term which would include all the dispensable protein stores, represent 20% or more of body nitrogen and be distributed among cells of numerous tissues including skeletal and cardiac muscles and skin. According to Shapiro and Fisher (1962), protein reserves could be maintained through metabolic shifts between dynamic and labile proteins. These authors believe that reserve proteins are made up partially

- 7 -

of cellular and extracellular non-protein nitrogen, and contain substantial amounts of non-essential amino acids. But according to Munro (1964), it is more likely that most of the labile nitrogen is in the form of protein.

d - Importance of protein reserves.

The level at which protein reserves should be maintained in order to assure optimum health and efficiency is still a much debated question. If one defines protein reserves as "a moiety beyond current needs which may be called upon to meet situations of privation or stress" (Holt et al., 1962), it can be assumed that protein stores should be built up only as long as they are beneficial to meet a stress situation. It has proved difficult however, to demonstrate any advantage to the accumulation of large amounts of protein by animals submitted subsequently to different stresses. Grossman and others (1954) could not establish any relationship between the level of dietary protein and wound tensile strength in rats. Furthermore, Halac (1961) and Halac (1962) found that in the same species growth, endurance to forced exercise, survival to starvation and to withdrawal of protein from the diet were better when the animals were on a normal-protein than when they were on a high-protein diet. Resistance to X-ray exposure was the same on both levels of protein (Halac, 1961). Vaughan et al., (1962), who experimented with pigs, believe that a high-protein diet makes these animals less able to cope with the stress of a sudden protein deprivation. And according to Ross (1959), protein restriction prolongs life by retarding growth: an increase in life span would result, at least

- 8 -

in part, from the decrease in respiratory ailments and in ageassociated diseases observed in growth-retarded animals.

On the other hand, beneficial effects of a high-protein diet have been reported in piglets by Bauer and Filer (Anonymous, 1960) under conditions of both starvation and thirst, in rats, by Halac (1961) in relation to water starvation, and in chicks by Fisher <u>et al.</u>, (1964) in response to amino acid imbalance or contamination with a virus. Differences in the actual levels of protein used in these various experiments would explain the discrepancies in the results (Fisher <u>et al.</u>, 1964).

e - Protein composition of the body of the rat.

Body composition of rats, like that of other mammals, varies mainly in its fat and water contents. The amount of water decreases with physiological age, but beyond the point of chemical maturity, there appears to be little change in the gross chemical composition of the dry, fat-free carcass (Bailey <u>et al.</u>, 1960). Table I summarizes different values reported in the literature on the composition of the body of normal adult rats. It will be noticed that the nitrogen or protein content of the fat-free body is fairly constant. According to Bender and Miller (1953), the protein composition of the fat-free carcass is highly correlated with its water content in animals of the same age and strain. <u>Blood proteins</u>

Total blood proteins, serum proteins and serum protein fractions were studied in the rat by several workers. Representative values for these components are shown in table II. Results are expressed in relation to either whole blood or blood serum.

- 9 -

					Body compo	sition	of no	rmal (adult ra	its *			•	
	· .													
Authors	Body	l I	√hole	ca	rcass		Dry	carca	88	Fat-:	free	wet tissue	Dry, f carcas	at-free s
	and sex (g.)	H2O	Fat	N	Protein	Fat	Non-fa	t N 🗆	Protein	11 ₂ 0	N	Protein	N	Protein
Widdowson and McCance	315 M	59	17	-	23									
(1956)	232 F	56	21	-	19									
Stanier (1957)	300 M	63	13	3	-					73	3	-		
Elkinton and	? M	63	13	-	-					71	3	-	11	-
Widdowson (1959)	250 M	65-69	-	-	-	27-39	60-73	8-10	-				13-14	-
Pratt and Putney (1959)	300 M	6467	·	-	-	27-36	63-73	9-10	-				13-14	-
Michelsen and Anderson (1959)	319 F	58	21	-	18									
Lee and	200 M	-	6	-	-			•		72	-	19		
(1961)	? M	-	16	-	-					68	-	21		

TABLE I

* expressed in percentage to the nearest whole percent.

•

10 -

			TABL	,Е II	-					
		B1	ood proteins	s of adult	rats					
Authors	in whole blood in blood serum									
	Total proteins %	Albumin %	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Globulins}\\ \boldsymbol{\propto_1} \boldsymbol{\propto_\beta} \boldsymbol{\beta} \boldsymbol{\gamma}\\ \boldsymbol{\kappa}\\ \end{array}$	Total proteins g.%	Albumin g.%	X1	~ ₂	Globulins B g.%	Y	A/G
Jeffay and Winzles (1958a)	7 (% of whole blc	55 od)(% of	5 10 10 20 blood proteins)							
Weimer <u>et al</u> . (1959a)	· ·			5.8	2.0	1.5	0.7	1.1 3.8	0.5	0.5
Čhristensen (1963a)				6.6	2.6			3.9		0.7
Leathem (1964)				6.1	3.3	0.6	0.6	0.9	0.7	
• .				5.9	2.2	0.8	1.0	1.1 3.9	0.9	

11

,

The turnover rate of rat γ globulin is lower than that of other serum proteins. Its half-life was found to be of 5 days by Jeffay and Winzler (1958a) and of 4.7 days by Freeman and Gordon (1964). These two groups of workers estimated respectively at 3.7 and 2.7 days the half-life of serum albumin.

Muscle proteins

Skeletal muscle of the adult rat does not vary to any large extent in its protein content even if one compares different muscles of the body. Table III shows that authors agree well in estimating the amount of protein in skeletal muscle. There is a wide divergence of opinion, however, in the estimation of DNA in skeletal muscle of rats. This variety of views might be due to differences in the age of the animals or to dissimilarities in the techniques chosen for its determination.

Age affects the DNA content of tissues to a considerable extent. After maturity is attained, however, the DNA content of any diploid nucleus of any tissue within a species is considered constant (Davidson, 1954). Most adult rat tissues contain about 0.65 picogram of DNA.P per nucleus (approximately 8.0 picograms DNA, assuming 8.1% P in DNA), except liver nuclei which would yield values approximating 0.913 picogram DNA.P per nucleus (11 picograms DNA), due to the presence of tetraploid cells (Davidson, 1954). In this case, the amount of DNA per cell would depend on the number of nuclei in each cell and since the quantity of polyploid cells increases with age, the DNA value per cell would depend upon the age and the body weight of animals (Fukuda and Sibatani, 1953), or else upon its ideal weight (Waterlow and

		TAE	BLE III		
	Protein and	DNA composition o	of skeletal muscle o	of adult rats	
Authors	Muscle analyzed	DNA (1)			
	· · · · · ·	g./100 g. wet muscle	g./100 g.fat-free wet muscle	g./100 g.fat-free dry muscle	m./100 g. wet tissue
Mandel <u>et al.</u> (1949)	hind leg	18 *			39 - 50
Stanier (1957)	"skeletal"	21 *			
Hagan and Scow (1957)	left thigh	20			
Mendes and Waterlow (1958)					85 **
Elkinton and Widdowson (1959)	"skeletal"		21 *	84 *	
Kao and McGavack (1959)	lower leg	20			
Christensen (1963b)	gastrocnemius	21 *		94 *	124

(1) figures rounded to the nearest whole number.

* computed from the published data, using 6.25 as the factor of conversion of N to protein.

** computed from a figure given as mg. of DNA.P, assuming 8.1% P in DNA.

- 13

Weisz, 1956). The multiplication of polynuclear cells with aging in tissues other than liver in the rat is questionable. Because of its relative stability, DNA is often used as a reference standard in metabolic experiments involving changes in other constituents of the cell (Thomson <u>et al.</u>, 1953; Gray and de Luca, 1956; Allison and Fitzpatrick, 1960).

- 14 -

In a study on the influence of age on the composition of connective tissue in rats, Kao and McGavack (1959) observed no consistent influence of age on insoluble collagen of the upper leg muscle, but an increase with age in the amount of insoluble collagen in the lower leg and abdominal muscles. The amount of soluble protein, including soluble collagen, per 100 grams of tissue in 8-month-old female rats was found to be 19.9 ± 1.4 grams in the lower leg muscle, and that of insoluble collagen in the same muscle, 1.4 ± 0.3 grams.

<u>Skin proteins</u>

On a percentage basis, rat's fresh skin contains slightly less protein than fresh muscle but much more collagen (cf. table IV). Total collagen increases with age but soluble collagen decreases, according to Kao and McGavack (1959). Houck and Jacob (1958) observed a decrease with age in the concentration of hydroxyproline, and hence of soluble collagen in the skin, but only in rats weighing more than 280 grams. In smaller rats, the amount of hydroxyproline in skin was found to increase with age.

TABLE IV						
Protein, collagen and DNA composition of skin of adult rats						
Authors	Protein (1)			Collagen (1)		DNA (1)
	g./100 g. wet skin	g./100 g. fat- free wet skin	g./100 g.fat- free dry skin	Total g./100 g.	Insoluble wet skin	mg./100 g. fresh skin
Stanier (1957)	15 *					
Rodesh and Mandel (1958)						dermis: 72 ^{**} epidermis: 110 ^{**}
Elkinton and Widdowson (1959)		27 *	77 ×			
Kao and McGavack (1959)	13 (soluble protein only)			21	15	
Christensen (1963b)	19 *	· · · · ·	86 *			110

(1) figures rounded to the nearest whole number.

* computed from the published data using 5.38 as the factor of conversion of N to protein.

** computed from a figure given as DNA.P, assuming 8.1% P in DNA.

15 -

2 - Body nitrogen as affected by stress

Dietary restriction or imbalance, severe physical exercise, extreme variations in environmental temperature, as well as several other factors can be grouped under the heading of stressor agents. When reviewing the effect of such factors, and particularly of the first two, on body nitrogen, one finds that there is a group of effects that are common to all of these factors and that reflect the effort of the body to adapt itself to a sudden change in environment.

a - General effects of stress on body nitrogen.

Systemic stress, especially during the "alarm" stage, causes a rapid breakdown of cytoplasm and even of entire cells (Selye, 1950), resulting in the liberation of proteins and protein catabolites which can either be excreted, causing a negative nitrogen balance, or be reused for the synthesis of tissues. The former situation usually predominates, as shown by an elevated urinary excretion of urea, creatinine, uric acid, sulphur and amino acids (Leathem, 1964), and by the occasional occurrence of proteinuria (Selye, 1950). Plasma proteins, especially albumin, fall, while non-protein nitrogen in the blood tends to rise, at least in the initial stage of the stress state (Selye, 1950). The tissues lost more readily are those from the thymus and other lymphatic organs, large parenchymatous glands such as the liver and pancreas, connective tissue and musculature. Quantitatively, because they are large organs, the carcass and the skin represent important sources of the protein degradation

- 16 -

products. The more abundant the protein reserves, the more severe are the nitrogen losses resulting from stress. The immediate result of such a stimulation of catabolism is a more rapid turnover of tissue proteins, but soon the regeneration capacity of tissues wears off, and the protein reserves of the animal become exhausted.

b - Role of hormones in the response of body nitrogen to stress.
1) Adrenal hormones

Adrenal hormones play a definite role in the changes in protein metabolism induced by stress, as indicated by the fact that the adrenal cortex is the only organ that tends to gain weight under stressful conditions (Selye, 1950). An acute stress brings about an increased secretion of corticosterone which, through gluconeogenesis, furnishes the organism with the fuel that it urgently requires. Engel (Boulouard, 1963) believes that an increased need for carbohydrate would be, in fact, the first general effect of stress. In order to maintain the level of blood sugar, adrenal corticoids enhance catabolism of peripheral tissue proteins. This in turn creates an accumulation of amino acids in the blood and the liver. The amino acids that are not transformed into glucose are resynthesized into liver proteins (Korner, 1960) and, under certain conditions, into blood proteins such as y globulin (Trémolières et al., 1954). Corticoids can therefore be anabolic or catabolic depending on the tissue involved. Korner (1960) found that adrenal

corticoids increase the proportion of large-sized ribosome particles containing RNA in the liver and believes that this fact is linked with the increased ability of the liver to synthesize protein under the influence of these hormones. On the other hand, adrenal steroids reduce the rate of amino acid incorporation into muscle, into diaphragm, into mouse kidney and into rat skin (Leathem, 1964).

2) Other hormones.

Several hormones other than the adrenal corticoids are involved in protein metabolism and protein synthesis. Stress may, in some cases, disturb hormonal balance and affect body nitrogen through influencing quantitatively and/or qualitatively the endocrine secretion of the pancreas, of the pituitary, of the gonads and of the thyroid. A review of the role of hormones in protein metabolism is, however, outside the scope of this section. The present review is therefore limited to general and important studies published on this subject in recent years.

It must be remembered that the fundamental mechanisms of hormonal action at the level of cellular physiology are still poorly understood (Querido, 1962; Randle, 1963). Protein anabolic hormones such as the pituitary growth hormone, androgens and insulin were shown to accelerate amino acid incorporation into peptides (Krahl, 1961; Korner, 1962; Leathem, 1964). This effect would be specific of the organ affected rather than specific of the hormone (Kassenaar <u>et al.</u>, 1962), with the result

that the same hormone will cause an increase in protein synthesis in some tissues, and an increase in protein breakdown in other tissues. In the case of androgens, -Aschkenasy (1959) believes that their main effect is not nitrogen retention but a specific redistribution of proteins among organs and tissues. The over-all effect of hormones on nitrogen balance depends on the importance of the target organs affected by the hormone concerned. While growth hormone and androgens cause a positive nitrogen balance because they induce nitrogen retention in large organs such as skeletal muscle, adrenal corticoids and thyroid hormones increase protein synthesis in the liver and perhaps in other tissues, but have a general catabolic effect because they increase the breakdown of peripheral muscles. Estrogens produce an increase in the size and protein content of sexual tissues only (Leathem, 1964). Insulin is protein anabolic and is essential for an optimal action of growth hormone and androgens (Leathem, 1964). When the hormonal action results in a positive nitrogen balance, it is usually due to hypertrophy, but the work of Kassenaar et al. (1962) indicates that androgens induce hyperplasia in the seminal vesicles of the rat. The composition of a muscle that increased in size as a result of the administration of growth hormone was found to remain unchanged (Leathem, 1964).

3 - Body nitrogen as affected by diet.

In addition to general effects of stress, a dietary restriction, whether of calories or of protein produces

- 19 -

specific changes in body nitrogen.

a - Effect of a caloric restriction:

1) On the whole body or carcass composition.

The results of a caloric restriction on the protein composition of the body of animals are somewhat different depending on whether the animal is completely starved or is chronically underfed. In both cases, there is a loss of weight corresponding to a decrease in the percentage of both fat and fat-free solids, but in adult animals, the proportion of fat lost is greater during chronic undernutrition than during fasting (Widdowson and McCance, 1956).

Widdowson and McCance (1956) reported that the amount of protein in the carcasses of male rats, either underfed for 5 weeks or starved for 6 days, was 80% and 84% respectively of that of control animals, while comparable percentages in female animals were 91% and 92%; the body weights of the same animals were 84%, 85%, 85% and 84% of those of the controls in the same 4 groups. The proportion of nitrogen in the bodies of the rats that were restricted in their caloric intake was therefore either the same or higher than in the control animals. This finding was confirmed by Stanier (1957) and by Sobel <u>et al.</u>, (1959). This last group of workers found that, if expressed as a percentage, the loss in carcass nitrogen was inferior to the loss in body weight until the latter reached 30%, at which point the loss of nitrogen equalized that of body weight. The absolute amount of nitrogen in the carcass is also reduced in caloric restriction (Garcia and Roderuck, 1964b).

Widdowson and McCance (1956) observed no difference in the total amount of water in the bodies of control and food-deprived animals. However, Stanier (1957) and Elkinton and Widdowson (1959) found a higher percentage of water in the whole carcass, but a reduced amount of water in the lean body mass of rats that had been underfed for periods varying from 6 days to 13 weeks, compared to normally-fed animals.

Longer experiments on food restriction failed to demonstrate any marked change in the body composition of animals. Fisher and Griminger (1963) observed no difference in either nitrogen, lipids or moisture contents of the bodies of chicks fed limited amounts of food for 3 years. In a study in which they compared the body composition of rats maintained, by means of food restriction, at a weight of 200 grams for periods up to 26 weeks with that of normal rats of the same weight, Lee and Lucia (1961) found no significant difference in most body components, including the proportion of body weight represented by protein. But they observed that, although body weight remained constant, feed intake gradually decreased for the first 44 days, at which time it settled at a level 35% below the initial intake. The authors believe that this decrease in the caloric requirement

- 21 -

is the result of adjustments involving several mechanisms: improvement in the efficiency of feed absorption, decreased metabolic rate, slowing of the activity and changes in the utilization of food, particularly in carbohydrate metabolism. Although this group of workers did not notice any change in the voluntary activity of their underfed animals, Cabak <u>et al.</u>, (1963a) observed a reduction in the activity of a group of young rats fed restricted amounts of a high-protein diet.

2) On organs and tissues.

The first organs to suffer from a caloric restriction are the liver, the pancreas and the intestine. Ju and Nasset (1959), report that in adult rats these three organs lose about one half of their nitrogen in a 192hour fast. A decrease in the quantity of digestive enzymes would account for a large part of this decrease in nitrogen.

Effect on blood nitrogen.

Inanition, in rats from which food is withheld until they lose 25% of their initial weight, causes a decrease in serum albumin, \prec_i, \prec_i , and β globulins, according to Weimer <u>et al.</u>, (1959a), but increases the concentration of γ globulin. Total blood nitrogen rose steadily in adult rats fasted for 192 hours (Ju and Nasset, 1959). Such an increase, as well as that of γ globulin, could simply reflect a decrease in blood volume, but the published data does not allow

- 22 -

one to conclude on the validity of this assumption. On the other hand, Cabak and others (1963a) found no appreciable change in the albumin fraction under conditions of caloric restriction in young rats but a decrease in the \ll and β globulins, as well as a fall in total plasma proteins.

Effect on muscle nitrogen.

Muscle, and skeletal muscle in particular, is greatly affected by a caloric insufficiency. During fast periods of 3 to 7 days, the thigh muscles of young rats lost weight in proportion to the body weight loss, and of the calories represented by this weight loss, 13% to 27% were derived from protein (Hagan and Scow, 1957). There was no appreciable change in the $H_2O/protein$ ratio nor in the nitrogen content of the non-protein nitrogen or of the stroma fractions. Myosin values were lower than for controls in rats that were starved for the longest period (7 days) only, but sarcoplasmic proteins ("water soluble") suffered a considerable loss (21% of initial weight) in all the starved animals.

The picture is slightly different for chronic undernutrition, in which case most workers report an increase in the amount of water per unit weight of muscle (Elkinton and Widdowson, 1959; Dickerson and McCance, 1960; Widdowson <u>et al.</u>, 1960). Overhydration was found to be due to an increase in
extracellular water, while intracellular fluid decreased (Cabak <u>et al.</u>, 1963a). These changes were accompanied by an increase in non-protein nitrogen and in extracellular protein, and by a decrease in sarcoplasmic and fibrillar protein. Similar results were obtained in chicks by Dickerson and McCance (1960) and in young pigs by Widdowson and collaborators (1960). Caloric deficiency affects the total amount of certains enzymes of muscle, but does not alter their unit activity (Wainio <u>et al.</u>, 1959).

Effect on skin nitrogen.

The skin of calorie-restricted animals does not retain greater amounts of water than that of normal animals according to Elkinton and Widdowson (1959) working with rats, and to Widdowson <u>et al.</u>,(1960), with adult pigs. It could even contain less water and more nitrogen per kilogram of fat-free tissue, at least in young rats (Cabak <u>et al.</u>, 1963a). No difference in the collagen/nitrogen ratio of skin was found by this group of workers nor by Fisher and Griminger (1963) in the chick. In pigs, Widdowson <u>et al.</u>, (1960) noted an increase in such a ratio only when underfeeding was started at a very early age.

- 24 -

b - Effect of a protein restriction.

Through its effect on labile protein fractions, protein intake affects the nitrogen content of the body as a whole and its distribution in the different body compartments. The picture of protein depletion varies depending on the stage of the depletion and the severity of the dietary restriction. The effects of protein depletion on body composition are mediated through the influence of such a restriction on:

- food intake and body weight;
- nitrogen utilization and excretion;
- nitrogen balance and protein synthesis.
- Effect of dietary protein level on food intake and body weight.

A voluntary restriction of food intake is not specific of a protein deficiency but is characteristic of all imbalanced diets. On a protein-free diet, animals rapidly lose their appetite (Williams, 1961) and consequently, lose weight. Adult rats will lose up to approximately 50% of their initial weight at the end of 60 to 80 days of deprivation (Jacob <u>et al.</u>, 1951; Williams, 1961).

Usually, animals eat to satisfy their energy requirements (Wagle <u>et al.</u>, 1962; Andik <u>et al.</u>, 1963). Once a depletion state is established, the need for energy of the protein-depleted animals is reduced because of a lower protoplasmic mass and consequently, of a lower basal metabolism (Black, 1939; Aschkenasy,

1960). On a "per cell" basis, however, Gray and Deluca (1956) could not observe any difference in the metabolic activity of tissues of rats fed either a lowor a high-protein ration. In young animals, the limitation of growth imposed by protein restriction also reduces the need for food energy. Up to a certain limit, adult animals try to compensate a deficiency of protein by an increase in food consumption (Garcia and Roderuck, 1964à). But according to Meyer and Hargus (1959), animals would be limited in their ability to increase their food intake in order to obtain more protein by their capacity to store or dissipate energy. Andik et al., (1963) confirmed this assumption by finding that the food intake and the survival rate of young rats given a low-protein diet were higher if the animals were maintained in a cold temperature than if they remained at room temperature.

2) Effect of dietary protein level on nitrogen utilization.

The level of protein in the diet affects both nitrogen digestibility and nitrogen retention. The proportion of nitrogen consumed that is absorbed increases with an increase in the percentage of dietary protein, mostly because the proportion of fecal nitrogen represented by metabolic fecal nitrogen varies inversely with the level of protein intake (Rutherford, 1955;Hartsook and Hershberger, 1963). In addition, certain types of proteins are poorly digested in proteindepleted animals, probably due to a lack of digestive

- 26 -

enzymes or other substances present in the digestive tract (Allison, 1957).

The rate of general turnover of nitrogen in the body is also proportional to the level of nitrogen intake, so that increased intakes will result in increased outputs in the urine (Hartsook and Hershberger, 1963). When the protein intake is less than the requirement, Allison (Allison and Fitzpatrick, 1960) showed that the excretion of urinary nitrogen is a function of the magnitude of protein stores. The biological value of the protein and the caloric adequacy of the diet also influence the amount of nitrogen excreted. Urinary nitrogen excreted by an animal with well-supplied protein stores is both of "endogenous" and "exogenous" origin i.e. it comes both from tissue protein, including the body amino acid pool, and from food protein. The first type is represented by urinary creatinine, the amount of which does not vary with protein intake, but is correlated with the protoplasmic mass or better, with the functional nuclei of muscle mass (Allison, 1956). Urea and uric acid, for their part, are mostly the breakdown products of exogenous protein and constitute almost 100% of the fraction of urinary nitrogen that varies with protein intake.

- 27 -

3) Effect of dietary protein level on nitrogen balance and protein synthesis.

Through its influence on nitrogen excretion, the level of dietary protein affects the sign and the value of nitrogen balance in the body but its effect is not necessarily in the same direction or of the same magnitude for the whole organism and for its different compartments. During protein depletion, two types of changes take place which are closely related one to the other (Garrow, 1959): 1) a breaking-down of body proteins affecting first the more labile proteins such as plasma albumin, proteins of the liver, of the intestine, of the pancreas; 2) a change in the distribution of protein synthesis in favour of the essential organs. The over-all result is a general slowing down of protein metabolism (Jeffay and Winzler 1958b; Yuile et al., 1959b). As the level of dietary protein is increased, the turnover rate of tissue proteins is increased, reaching a maximum, in weanling rats, when casein is the only source of protein, at the level of 25% dietary protein for intestinal and liver proteins, and at levels up to 40% dietary protein for other proteins (Muramatsu et al., (1963).

The magnitude of the over-all nitrogen balance in the organism or in a tissue depends not only on the level of protein fed, but also on the supply and balance of amino acids and on the supply of energy, both of which being limiting factors on the rate of synthesis (Munro <u>et al.</u>,

1953; Munro, 1954). The influence of the caloric intake on nitrogen retention varies with the protein intake. With a protein-free diet, it is evident that addition of energy can do little to increase the rate of protein synthesis (Allison and Fitzpatrick, 1960). But when dietary protein is adequate, an increase in calories will cause a linear improvement in nitrogen balance (Munro et al., 1962a). It has been observed (Allison, 1956; Munro et al., 1962a).that a restriction in the caloric consumption does not alter utilization of dietary protein unless it falls below 50% of the requirement; at that point, dietary protein is used for energetic purposes and is no longer available for the synthesis of tissues or to replenish body protein reserves. With very low caloric intakes, the magnitude of nitrogen balance would be a function of the importance of protein stores (Allison, 1956).

The effect of protein intake on protein synthesis is reflected in the amount of RNA in the cell. RNA participates in protein synthesis in two ways (Simkin, 1959): 1) soluble RNA, found mostly in the cytoplasm, is involved in the transport of activated amino acid residues to the site of protein synthesis; 2) ribonucleoprotein RNA, concentrated in the microsome of the cell, receives the soluble RNA-amino acid complex giving the amino acids their sequence to form a characteristic protein. It is believed that a deficiency in protein does not affect the

- 29 -

total amount of RNA synthesized, at least in the liver, but that it speeds up its breakdown, this effect being confined to the microsomal fraction (Munro and Clark, 1960). An increase in the quantity of ribonuclease, the enzyme that catabolizes RNA, in tissues of protein-deprived animals confirms the relationships between RNA, protein anabolism and the level of dietary protein (Zigman and Allison, 1959).

4) Effect of a protein deficiency on the nitrogen composition of the body.

The combined effects of a dietary protein restriction on tissue degradation and on protein synthesis can be measured in the profound modifications undergone by the body under the influence of such a deficiency. These changes can be observed at 3 levels: that of the whole organism, that of tissues and organs and that of the cell.

Effect of a nitrogen deficiency on the nitrogenous components of the whole body.

Studying the effects of a protein-free diet on the total carcass composition of adult rats, Stanier (1957) concluded that these effects were not much different from those of a caloric-deficient high-protein diet. There was overhydration of the body, less fat (8%) than in control animals (13.2%) but more than in animals restricted in energy (2.5%), and practically the same proportion of nitrogen (3.15, 3.25 and 3.20 grams nitrogen per 100 grams) in the fat-free carcass of protein-depleted, control and underfed animals. The percentage loss of nitrogen was lower than that of body weight so that the nitrogen concentration of the body was increased.

In weanling rats made protein-deficient, the proportion of non-collagen nitrogen per kilogram of fat-free tissue is decreased (Cabak et al., 1963a). Similarly to what happens in caloric restriction, collagen would not become degraded unless deprivation is prolonged. No loss of collagen was observed in chicks that were either starved or protein-depleted until they lost one third of their initial body weight (Summers and Fisher, 1960). But if the same birds were repleted and starved again for 6 days, a decrease of 20% in the collagen was registeredin both calorie-restricted and proteinrestricted groups. In mice, Harkness et al. (1955) estimated at 13% the decrease in total collagen that followed a 17-day period on a protein-free diet, while residual protein nitrogen was lowered by 37%. Effect of a nitrogen deficiency on the nitrogenous components of organs and tissues.

As mentioned earlier, nitrogen losses during protein depletion are confined to the labile or, in severe cases, to the dynamic fraction of body nitrogen. Moreover, protein deprivation results in

- 31 -

shifts in tissue synthesis in favour of the essential organs. Consequently, different organs and tissues lose and gain nitrogen at different rates when protein intake is below the requirement. In early protein depletion, protein is lost from readily available pools such as that of serum and liver (Garrow, 1959). Extravascular protein would contribute twice as much nitrogen as the circulating plasma during this phase (Yuile et al., 1959a). Later during depletion, proteins of slower turnover are used to furnish essential amino acids to the essential organs. Of other tissues which could contribute amino acids to an over-all metabolic pool during stress, muscle would be one of the most important (Munro et al., 1953; Yuile et al., 1959b; Waterlow, 1963; Allison et al., 1963).

Skin, because of its considerable mass, accounts for the largest percentage of the nitrogen of the body after muscle and skeleton and for this reason, it has been suggested as a possible reservoir of readily available nitrogen (Sobel <u>et al.</u>, 1959). The observation that, during rehabilitation from protein or caloric undernutrition, one-third of the nitrogen retained by young rats was deposited in the skin (Cabak <u>et al.</u>, 1963b), supports this opinion. <u>Effect of a protein deficiency on blood nitrogen</u>.

Long-term protein deprivation in the rat results

in decreased blood volume, plasma volume, packed cell volume and circulating haemoglobin (Ambegaokar and Chandran, 1959). A change in blood volume can mask variations in blood components making it difficult to compare results obtained by different workers. In general, total circulating proteins and total albumin, as well as their concentration in the plasma or the serum, are substantially decreased during severe protein depletion. This is true in the rat (Lippman, 1948; Weimer et al., 1959a, 1959b; Ambegaonkar and Chandran, 1959; Mulgaonkar et al., 1959), in the dog (Kawashima, 1956; Wannemacher et al., 1963), in the cat (Coles, 1960), and in the human (Kulkarni et al., 1960). In longterm protein malnutrition in humans, serum proteins and serum albumin may appear normal up to the final stages of deficiency (Picou and Waterlow, 1962) presumably because the decrease in synthesis of these substances is compensated by a reduction in their catabolism.

The effect of protein depletion on the globulin fractions of the serum is more inconstant. There is usually a decrease in the relative proportions of \propto_1, \propto_2 , and β globulins (Kawashima, 1956; Weimer <u>et al.</u>, 1959a, 1959b; Mulgaonkar <u>et al.</u>, 1959; Wannemacher <u>et al.</u>, 1963) but γ globulin either stays unchanged (Wannemacher <u>et al.</u>, 1963) or

- 33 -

increases (Weimer <u>et al.</u>, 1959a, 1959b). This last observation may be the result of hemoconcentration. The effect of protein depletion on serum proteins appears thus to be restricted to those proteins such as serum albumin which are synthesized in the liver (Wannemacher <u>et al.</u>, 1963). Because of the relative stability of γ globulin, which is the principal component of the globulins, serum albumin/globulin or A/G ratio is usually considered a good index of protein depletion. At least in early stages of depletion, the A/G ratio of protein-deprived rats is lower than normal (Weimer <u>et al.</u>, 1959a, 1959b).

Among other blood proteinsaffected by protein deprivation are glycoproteins (Weimer <u>et al.</u>, 1959c) and certain enzymes such as aldolase and pseudocholinesterase (Barrows and Chow, 1959; Allison and Fitzpatrick, 1960). Plasma esterase, plasma lipase and serum amylase would be reduced in the protein deficient human (Waterlow, 1959). Effect of a protein deficiency on muscle nitrogen.

During protein depletion, muscle weight and muscle protein are reduced, the latter to even a greater extent than the former. Hind leg muscles of adult rats lost 55% to 65% of their protein after 61 to 69 days of a protein-free regime, while they lost only 50% to 60% of their weight (Mandel <u>et al.</u>, 1949). In spite of the depletion, extracellular proteins particularly collagen, continue to grow, and therefore to increase in concentration and in absolute amounts (Mendes and Waterlow, 1958; Cabak <u>et al.</u>, 1963a). But the amount of sarcoplasmic and fibrillar protein decreases (Cabak <u>et al.</u>, 1963a), as well as that of RNA (Mandel <u>et al.</u>, 1963a), as well as that of RNA (Mandel <u>et al.</u>, 1949). The concentration of DNA is reported to have increased during prolonged protein deprivation but its absolute amount per muscle was unaffected (Mandel <u>et al.</u>, 1949). In similar conditions, Mendes and Waterlow (1958) observed a decrease in the quantity of DNA per muscle and believe that this decrease reflected a diminution in the number of cells.

During protein depletion, muscle non-protein nitrogen and particularly free amino acids, tend to decrease for the first 2 to 3 weeks (Thomson <u>et al.</u>, 1950) and then to rise (Cabak <u>et al.</u>, 1963a). This last observation, according to Allison <u>et al.</u>, (1963) reinforces the assumption that muscle supplies overall metabolic pools with amino acids during stress. There is even a tendency for depleted animals to maintain higher levels of free amino acids in the muscles than in the liver (Allison et al., 1963).

Part of the nitrogen lost by skeletal muscle in protein deprivation is accounted for by a reduction in the quantity of enzymes. Wainio <u>et al.</u>, (1959), studying cytochrome oxidase, succinate-cytochrome reductase, DPN.H-cytochrome C reductase and aldolase in the gastrocnemius muscle of the rat, observed a decrease of 10% to 20% in unit activities and of 50% to 60% in the total activities of these enzymes. Muscle lactic dehydrogenase, on the contrary, is not influenced by protein level and succinoxidase is increased under conditions of deficiency (Anonymous, 1959).

Effect of a protein deficiency on skin nitrogen.

The results of subnormal protein intakes on the skin of animals such as the rat are in line with those shown in muscle but they are less pronounced. Rodesh and Mandel (1958), giving a protein-free diet to adult rats during 30 to 60 days, noted a decrease in RNA of 45% in the epidermis and of 40% in the dermis, the results being given per unit surface area. When expressed the same way, DNA showed no change, but its concentration per 100 grams of fresh skin was increased. The amount of nitrogen per 100 grams of fresh skin remained unchanged which presumably means, assuming a loss in other constituents, that the concentration of nitrogen in the skin was decreased. Total collagen was found to be markedly decreased in the skin of mice submitted to a

protein-free diet for 20 days (Harkness <u>et al.</u>, 1958). In an experiment involving young rats fed a low-protein diet (Cabak <u>et al.</u>, 1963a), the concentration of collagen, as well as that of skin nitrogen was found to increase, due to dehydration, but this was ascribed to a shortage of calories, rather than to one of protein.

Effect of a protein deficiency on the nitrogen composition of other organs and tissues.

As mentioned earlier, liver and pancreas are among the first organs to be affected by a protein deficiency. Within a few days, the liver loses as much as 40% of its protein (Waterlow, 1956). As it might be expected, a large proportion of the lost nitrogen is in the form of enzymes (Albanese, 1959 ; Allison and Fitzpatrick, 1960). There is also a substantial loss of RNA (Weill et al., 1956; Allison et al., 1963). Pancreas responds quickly to a deficiency of protein by a loss of nitrogen, RNA and even, according to Mandel et al. (1954), by an absolute loss of DNA. Histological changes such as a gradual disappearance of zymogen granules and atrophy of the acini (Wachstein and Meizel, 1959) would explain the decrease in pancreatic enzymes observed in the protein deficient rat (Snook and Meyer, 1964) and human (Waterlow, 1954).

Protein and RNA are also lost from the spleen (Jacob <u>et al.</u>, 1951), the kidney (Addis et al., 1940; Allison <u>et al.</u>, 1962) and the adrenals (Munro <u>et al.</u>, 1962b) as a result of a protein deficiency. The first two of these organs, as well as the heart, suffer a loss of enzymes (Wainio <u>et al.</u>, 1959). The brain appears very resistant to protein depletion (Mandel <u>et al.</u>, 1950; Wainio <u>et al.</u>, 1959; Allison <u>et al.</u>, 1962).

Effect of a nitrogen deficiency on the nitrogenous components of the cell.

The impact of protein nutrition on the cell has been studied mostly in the liver, first because this organ contains a high proportion of labile nitrogen, and second, because of the ease with which it can be isolated and separated into its different components.

While Thomson <u>et al.</u> (1952) and Munro (1954) believe that the number of liver cells is not altered by protein depletion, Williams (1961) reported a decrease in the number of cells per liver both in rats that were protein deficient and in their pairfed controls indicating that this result was due to inanition. But if one considers the number of cells per unit weight of liver, then the figure gradually goes up as protein depletion progresses (Williams, 1961).

Total nitrogen per cell falls gradually in the course of protein depletion, partly due to inanition. After 80 days of a protein-free diet, the nitrogen concentration in the liver cell of depleted rats was found to be only 68% to 75% of that of pair-fed controls (Williams, 1961). The nucleus nitrogen does not suffer at all from this loss (Muntwyler <u>et al.</u>, 1950; Moulé, 1959) which would be shared uniformly by all cytoplasmic fractions (Munro, 1954). Analyzing each fraction more precisely, however, led Muntwyler <u>et al.</u>(1950) to think that the depletion is most pronounced in the microsomes (47.4% of total), then in the residual material (30.9% of the loss) and least in the mitochondria (20% of the loss). Similar conclusions were reached by Wirramanayake <u>et al.</u>(1953).

Following protein deprivation, there would be a reduction in the amino acid pool of the liver cell (Allison et al., 1963) and a reduction in cell RNA (Thomson <u>et al.</u>, 1952; Munro, 1954; Moulé, 1959). The loss of RNA in the microsomal fraction of hepatic cells accounts for practically all the decrease of this component in the liver (Wirramanayake <u>et al.</u>, 1953; Munro, 1954).

Contrarily to RNA, DNA is usually considered a stable component of the liver cell. That the amount of DNA per nucleus is not affected by dietary means is recognized by Campbell and Kosterlitz (1952), Thomson <u>et al.</u> (1952) and by Davidson (1954). Disagreement with this finding was enunciated by Ely and Ross (1951), by Lecompte and de Smul (1952)

- 39 -

and by Umana (1965). All three groups of workers observed higher than normal values for DNA in liver cell nuclei of young rats previously submitted to protein depletion. The inanition consecutive to protein deficiency would cause, according to Ely and Ross (1951), severe pycnosis in the cell resulting in the disappearance of nuclei without a corresponding decrease in the amount of DNA. Umana (1965) believes that protein deficiency increases the polyploid population of the liver, and not the DNA content of each nucleus. 4 - Body nitrogen as affected by exercise.

a - General effects of exercise on the body.

Physical activity is the cause of metabolic, physiological and physical changes appearing in this order in the organism. The increased demand for energy accelerates the metabolism, particularly in muscle. This in turn, increases the need for energy-yielding nutrients and for oxygen. The first of these requirements is met through an augmented consumption of food, and the second, through physiological adjustments involving the respiratory and circulatory systems. Further physiological adaptations are needed for the removal of excess waste products and heat, in order for the body to maintain homeostasis; increased blood flow, sweating are the most important of these changes. Finally, prolonged exercise will cause adaptative changes in the size and composition of tissues, organs and of the whole body in order that work be performed with maximum efficiency. All of these physical and chemical changes occuring in the working organism are controlled through sensitive nervous and hormonal mechanisms. The existence, magnitude and permanence of such changes depend, to a large extent, on 3 factors:

- the duration of the physical activity;
- the intensity of the physical activity;
- the repetition of the same type of activity (training).
- 1) Influence of the duration of physical activity.

The length of time during which a certain activity

- 41 -

is performed and the moment at which the physiological or metabolic response of the body is measured greatly influence the type and size of this response. First, the total amount of work performed, and consequently the energy spent, are proportional to the length of the exercise period. Moreover, the effect of long sustained effort on the body is quite different, in some instances, from that of exercise periods of more intensity interrupted with frequent rests. For example, the first type of activity would not cause any hypertrophy of skeletal muscle, contrarily to the second type (Steinhaus et al., 1931b). Finally, within one period of work of any duration, the metabolic effects of activity vary with the phase during which the measurements are taken. Muscular exercise is usually considered as including 3 steps (Bugard et al., 1961): 1 - a period of muscular effort corresponding to a period of oxygen debt and of shifts of water and electrolytes between intra-and extracellular phases; 2 - a period of fatigue during which certain metabolites such as lactic acid accumulate in the blood; 3 - a period of recovery in which more stable conditions are gradually reestablished. An increase in the secretion of protein-catabolizing corticoids would accompany the first phase, while more of the proteinanabolizing androgens would be produced in the resting phase. During the latter, oxygen consumption would only gradually decrease to the pre-exercise level, and

- 42 -

Passmore and Johnson (1960) observed that oxygen consumption was sustained for 7 hours above basal level after human subjects had completed a 10-mile walk at moderate speed.

2) Influence of the intensity of the physical activity.

Duration and intensity of work are the two factors which determine the total amount of work produced, and therefore, the energy expenditure. Young et al. (1959) found that caloric expenditure was highly correlated with the grade of inclination in treadmill running in dogs. Oxygen debt would also be related to the intensity of work, according to the same workers. The latter consider body temperature as the best criterion of physical exhaustion. Many of the changes arising in the body as a consequence of exercise are functions, not so much of the total work produced, but of the work load or work performed per unit of time. This is true of the increase in muscle size consecutive to speed running in rats (Steinhaus, 1933), of the increase in muscle strength resulting from training (Hettinger, 1961) as well as of E the nitrogen loss induced by muscular activity in man (Gontzea et al., 1962a). There are indications (Fowler et al., 1962) that the level of certain serum enzymes rises as the intensity of work increases in humans during treadmill activity.

3) Influence of training.

It is widely recognized that the same work load does not require the same amount of energy from comparable subjects, or even from the same subject during different trials. This difference is due to training. Frequent and regular repetition of a certain activity results in important changes that tend to facilitate the performance of this activity, to retard the development of fatigue, and to improve the efficiency of the body in doing this exercise. As examples of some of these changes, Morehouse and Miller (1953) mention: a greater ability for the muscles to absorb and utilize oxygen, an improved circulation due to an increase in the number of capillaries and/or to a dilatation of existing vessels in the heart, muscle, and cerebral cortex, a larger stoke volume but a slightly slower heart rate, and adjustments in the nervous system resulting in better skill.

Severe training may bring about an enlargement of the heart and sometimes a change in the size of other organs and tissues. In this respect, Kimeldorf and Baum (1954) who studied the effect of exhaustive exercise on organ growth in rats, make a distinction between the effects of stress, which are non-specific, and those which are structural adaptations of the body to facilitate the performance of exercise. In the first category they place adrenal enlargement, thymic involution and reduced body weight, and in the second category, heart hypertrophy

- 44 -

and a relative increase in the size of the muscle or muscles participating in the exercise. That the effect of training varies with the length and intensity of the exercise periods is illustrated by the fact that endurance sports enlarge the right side of the heart while short, intense repeted movements produce similar changes in the left side of the heart (Morehouse and Miller, 1953). Since trainability of muscle is greater in the male than in the female, it is thought that it has a direct relationship with the availability of male sex hormones (Hettinger, 1961). The hypertrophy of muscle and the increase in its components caused by physical activity and by male sex hormone were found to be similar in all respects (Hettinger, 1961).

b - Effects of exercise on body nitrogen.

Similarly to protein depletion, physical exercise exerts its effects on body nitrogen through several channels. For the convenience of comparison, these effects of exercise will be examined and grouped under the same headings as when the effects of the level of dietary protein were reviewed.

1)- Effect of exercise on food intake and body weight.

While moderate exercise does not appear to interfere with normal growth or weight gain of rats (Steinhaus, 1933; Mayer <u>et al.</u>, 1954), strenuous exercise has a definite depressing effect on the rate of weight gain of both young (Guerrant <u>et al.</u>, 1939) and adult rats (Kimeldorf and Baum, 1954; Hearn and Wainio, 1956; Gould <u>et al.</u>, 1959; Gollnick and Hearn, 1961). Growth retardation due to severe exercise would not affect the final weight attained by the animal, but only delay its achievement (Guerrant <u>et al.</u>, 1939). The difference observed between the influence of moderate and of strenuous exercise tends to confirm the opinion of Kimeldorf and Baum (1954) that the failure to gain weight under conditions of hard work is a reflection of a depressed desire to eat that follows any stressful situation.

That an increase in energy output is not always compensated by an increase in energy intake is testified by several authors, among which Guerrant et al. (1939), Kuncova and Vinaricky (1958), Gollnick and Hearn (1961). When rats are moderately exercised, according to Mayer and associates (1954), the food intake increases in direct proportion to the length of the exercise period. This does not hold true if the animals are exercised for less than 1 hour per day, or for more than 6 hours per day. This last point would represent a threshold above which exercise could be considered "stressful". Thomas and Miller (1958) report a similar trend: up to a level of approximately 1 mile a day, the food intake of exercised rats remained below that of control animals, but above this level, it equaled or exceeded that of the controls. Moreover, on rest days, the food deficit was largely compensated by a food intake greater than

- 46 -

that of non-exercised animals. Thomas and Miller (1958) further observed that this increase in food consumption persisted after termination of exercise and that the rate of gain of rats that had been subjected to exercise was considerably elevated for fairly long periods of time. Another interesting observation of these same workers is that on exercise days and, to a lesser extent, on resting days, the spontaneous activity of the exercised animals was greatly depressed.

2) -- Effect of exercise on nitrogen utilization and excretion.

No consistant effect on the digestibility of protein food can be attributed to physical exercise. Exercise has been reported in turn to increase the efficiency of food utilization (Guerrant <u>et al.</u>, 1939), to have no influence on nitrogen utilization (Konishi and McCoy, 1960), and to increase fecal nitrogen in horses (Harvey <u>et al.</u>, 1939) and in humans (Gontzea <u>et al.</u>, 1959).

Physical activity modifies the metabolism of nitrogen in the body in the same way, if not to the same extent, that it affects the metabolism of other energy-yielding nutrients. Terroine has shown (Terroine and Sorg-Matter, 1927) that the expenditure of "endogenous" nitrogen, or of this portion of the catabolized nitrogen that is not of immediate dietary origin, is proportional to basal metabolism. On the

- 47 -

other hand, basal metabolism would increase as a consequence of physical activity (Black, 1939; Rougier and Osouf, 1960; Brozek, 1961). One may then agree with Gontzea et al. (1959) that the increase in energy metabolism that accompanies physical exercise intensifies endogenous nitrogen consumption. Munro (1964), however, disagrees with this opinion, and claims that any increase in the nitrogen output resulting from exercise is related to the level of protein in the diet and not to an increase in endogenous nitrogen metabolism. In other words, the effect of physical exercise on protein metabolism would be mostly on "exogenous" nitrogen, or that portion of catablized nitrogen that varies directly with the dietary intake of nitrogen. This view is supported by reports showing a considerable elevation in blood urea and in nitrogen excretion following physical activity.

Blood urea and to a smaller extent, blood uric acid and creatinine are significantly elevated during exercise (Chailley-Bert <u>et al.</u>, 1961). The explanation proposed by Chailley-Bert and his collaborators (1961) is that there would be in the blood a degraded nitrogen fraction that would neutralize the excess of acids liberated in the process of muscular contraction. After the activity has ceased, this fraction would become useless and be excreted.

Physical activity accentuates nitrogen excretion

- 48 -

both in urine and, in the case of man, in sweat. Exercise proteinuria is a well known phenomenon that has been observed in several species, including man, and mostly in sportsmen. Immediately following exercise and for some time after, the urine of individuals performing strenuous exercise contains the same protein fractions as those found in blood serum at the same time (Nedbal and Seliger, 1958). The albumin/globulin ratio of blood and urine of young men running at top speed was found to be 1.59 compared to 0.57 during rest periods. Urinary excretion of mucoproteins was also found to be elevated during exercise (Dukes-Dobos et al., 1963). Exercise proteinuria has been attributed to the effect of an increased blood acidity on the glomerular membrane (Javitt and Miller, 1952) or to a decreased renal blood flow (Nedbal and Seliger, 1958; Taylor, 1960). These changes in the kidney would be secondary to an increased secretion of noradrenaline (Cantone and Cerretelli, 1960b) and therefore, would be indicative of over-all strain rather than be a specific effect of exercise. The fact that exercise proteinuria decreases with training (Cantone and Cerretelli, 1960b) and is not present in intermittent moderate exercise (Gontzea et al., 1962a) confirms this opinion.

Even in the absence of proteinuria, urinary excretion of nitrogen increases with an increase in activity. While total urinary nitrogen was found to

- 49 -

increase by 14% to 17% during the 4 days that men performed on a bicycle ergometer an amount of exercise corresponding to 1250 Calories, the excretion of urea during the same period was estimated 13% to 21% higher than in the preceeding days although the nitrogen intake was kept constant (Gontzea et al., 1962a). This is to say that it is mostly the intensification of the process of urogenesis that is responsible for the rise in nitrogen excretion through the kidney. Urea represents 70% to 90% of the nitrogen excreted according to the same author, and ammonia 3% to 6%. No appreciable modification in the excretion of ammonia was found to follow an exercise period, except when work was performed at high temperatures. Nitrogenuria stayed elevated for 1 to 3 days after exercise periods had ceased (Gontzea et al., 1959). The increase in nitrogen output associated with exercise is more pronounced after a meal than in the post-absorptive state (Munro, 1964).

Until recently, nitrogen excretion in sweat had not been given much attention and most studies on the effect of physical activity on nitrogen metabolism and nitrogen balance failed to consider this factor. More recent work, however, has attracted the attention of scientists on the important role of perspiration in the excretion of some products of nitrogen metabolism, especially in conditions where sweating is abundant.

In a study involving 63 men aged 14 to 56, Gontzea et al. (1959) from Rumania collected, by means of nylon sleeves, and analyzed 449 samples of sweat from three areas of the body: chest, arm and thigh, while the subjects were doing exercise on a bicycle ergometer. They found that in 75% of the individuals, nitrogen concentration of sweat varied between 0.30 and 0.55 gram per liter, with a mean value of 0.43 gram per liter. The higher the volume of sweat, the lower was its nitrogen concentration, but the decrease became marked only when the output exceeded 400 ml/hour: for an output of 200 to 300 ml per hour, the mean nitrogen concentration was 0.45 gram per liter and when the output was 400 to 500 ml per hour, the mean nitrogen content fell to 0.36 gram per liter. However, when the volume exceeded 600 ml/hour, the nitrogen concentration stopped decreasing. The nitrogen concentration of the sweat collected from the arm or thigh was slighly higher than that of samples taken on the chest. If one calculates from these figures, how much nitrogen was excreted per hour during work, average values of 112, 162 and 173 mg. are obtained for volumes of sweat of 250 ml, 450 ml, and 600 ml per hour. Gontzea and his collaborators (1959) estimated the rate of secretion of sweat at 250 ml per hour when room temperature was 20° C (68° F) and at 450 ml when it was 35° C (95° F).

- 51 -

Another group of workers: Consolazio et al. (1963) reported much higher concentrations of nitrogen in the perspiration of men doing exercise on a bicycle ergometer. They estimated at 149, 189 and 241 mg.per hour the amount of nitrogen excreted in sweat during work at 70°, 85° and 100° F. Although acclimatization to heat was found to lower these figures, the values reported by Consolazio et al. (1963) are still higher than the ones obtained by the Rumanian group of workers. Excretion of nitrogen in sweat is considerably lower during sleep. Under minimal sweating conditions, the average output is 15 mg. nitrogen per hour (Consolazio et al., 1963). An increase in the quantity of sweat nitrogen because of exercise is not compensated by a decrease in nitrogen excretion through urine or feces, according to Consolazio and coworkers (1963). Urea would account for the largest proportion of the total nitrogen excreted through sweating, ammonia, for about 8% and creatinine and uric acid, for about 1% (Consolazio et al., 1963).

The acceleration in protein metabolism that occurs as a result of exercise is not proportional to the increase in caloric expenditure, at least not in all phases and periods of exercise. Gontzea <u>et al.</u> (1962a, 1962b) showed that an increase in energy expenditure of 50% produces an increase of 14% to 17% in nitrogen excretion and that training reduces the excretion of

- 52 -

nitrogen to a greater extent than it diminishes the energy expenditure necessary to perform the same amount of work. They suggest that the catabolizing effect of adreno-cortical hormones might decrease with time. Moreover, in trained fed animals, the percentage of Calories expended that are derived from protein decreases with the length of time spent since a meal was consumed (Young et al., 1962) and decreases as the amount of work is increased (Young and Price, 1961). Young et al. (1962) believe that in the fed animal, protein oxidation provides a maximum of 7% of the total energy spent during work. The same group of workers figures that in the post-absorption state, approximately 60% of the variation in nitrogen excretion is due to energy expenditure per se. They do not make any suggestion as to what factor or factors might be responsible for the other 40% in variation but the literature on this subject would suggest stress as an important factor, at least in untrained individuals. The observation mentioned earlier (Gontzea et al., 1962a) that nitrogen losses were more closely related to the energy expenditure per unit of time than to the total amount of work performed, supports this concept.

 Effect of exercise on nitrogen balance and protein synthesis.

The increased nitrogen excretion that follows physical exercise results in a negative

- 53 -

nitrogen balance for as long as excretion remains high, even if the intake was sufficient for equilibrium before exercise was started. With a diet supplying 1 gram of protein per kilogram of body weight, Kraut et al.(1958) observed a negative nitrogen balance in 2 men performing hard work for 23 weeks, when only 13% of the protein was of animal origin. But when this percentage was increased, the balance was positive. On the same amount of protein, but with about 1/3being animal protein, 8 out of the 9 subjects observed by Gontzea et al. (1959) lost body protein while they were doing heavy physical exercise bringing their energy requirement up to a level of 3300 to 4100 Calories per day. Always supplying the same quantity of protein (1g/kg/day), Gontzea et al. (1962a) repeated this study with 18 men submitted for 4 consecutive days to a level of physical activity equivalent to 1250 Calories per day. Nitrogen balance became negative in 17 of the cases and remained negative during the following 4 days in 10 of the cases, even if energy requirements were all the time satisfied. The average loss was evaluated at 1.60 grams nitrogen or 10.0 grams of protein per day. When the protein intake was increased by 50%, nitrogen balance, under the same exercise conditions, was positive or, in the case of 2 individuals, only slightly negative. When the exercise period was prolonged to 3 weeks,

- 54 -

a negative nitrogen balance was established in the first 2 days in 6 out of 8 cases; it was accentuated during the following two days, but became gradually less negative in the rest of the 3 weeks. At the end of this time, nitrogen losses had decreased by 75% to 85% compared to the first 2 days, while energy expenditure had decreased by 20%. Nitrogen losses averaged 1.27 grams per day in the first 2 days to end up at 0.19 gram per day after 3 weeks. Giving the same intake of protein (lg./kg/day), Yoshimura (1960) observed a positive nitrogen balance in his subjects during heavy muscular exercise but noted the appearance of anemia and hypoproteinemia after 10 days of exercise. These symptoms disappeared after 2 to 3 weeks, the activity being maintained at the same level, and failed to appear when the intake of protein was raised to 2 grams per kilogram per day.

On an intake of 1.2 grams of protein per kilogram of body weight per day, young men showed a fall in nitrogen retention when physical training was started, but a rise above control values as the exercise period was prolonged (Watkin <u>et al.</u>, 1963). On the contrary, when the diet contained only 0.4 gram of protein per kilogram of body weight, nitrogen losses increased progressively during each of the work phases. A deficient intake (4 to 8 grams nitrogen per day) led to considerable nitrogen losses

- 55 -

(51 grams nitrogen) in individuals participating in a
3-day bicycle contest (Chailley-Bert et al., 1961).

There is little experimental evidence to support the concept that protein synthesis is increased in certain tissues during exercise. In vitro experiments on working muscles indicate that during the rest period that immediately follows activity, synthesis of muscle protein occurs when the supply of protein is adequate (Popova, 1951). Further data is needed to confirm this report and to determine if this synthesis represents an increase over the normal rate of protein synthesis in muscle and in other tissues of the living animal.

Effect of exercise on the nitrogen composition of the body.

Two opposite influences tend to modify the nitrogen composition of the body as a result of physical exercise: on one hand, severe exercise delays growth in the young and, in the older animal, produces a temporary negative nitrogen balance; on the other hand, exercise stimulates protein metabolism and perhaps protein synthesis, at least in certain body compartments such as muscle. The result of these two tendencies is reflected in changes of variable duration in the blood, muscle, skin, and other organs and tissues, but appears to have no measurable effect on total body nitrogen.

- 56 -

Effect on total body composition.

If total body nitrogen is not affected by exercise, the proportion of body weight represented by fat is considerably decreased in exercised animals (Steinhaus <u>et al.</u>, 1931b). The observation that the body of guinea pigs that had been exercised for 8 months had a higher specific gravity than that of control animals (Brozek, 1961) corroborates this finding. After three weeks' strenuous training, the body water of soldiers was found to have increased, and body density to have increased slightly, according to the same author (Brozek, 1961).

Effect of exercise on blood nitrogen.

In 1963, Christensen reported that long-term moderate exercise significantly reduced total serum proteins, serum albumin, and, to a slighter degree, serum globulins, in adult rats, resulting in a lower serum A/G ration in the exercised group (cf. table V). Exercise consisted of running on a revolving drum for 3½ hours a day, 6 days a week for 28 days. This report came rather unexpected for only short-lasting effects of exercise had been previously demonstrated on serum proteins. In humans performing exercise for 30 minutes on a bicycle ergometer, De Lanne <u>et al</u>. (1959) showed that total plasma proteins were slightly increased during submaximal and maximal work and in the period that immediately followed the exercise.

- 57 -

TABLE V Nitrogen composition of tissues of rats submitted to long-term moderate exercise (Christensen, 1963a)																	
									Group	Blood serum				Muscle		Skin	
										proteins g.%	albumin g.%	globulins g.%	A/G ratio	DNA mg./1	N muscle	DNA mg./s	N ample
Non-exercised	6.6	2.6	3.9	0.7	4.0	111	10.8	362									
Exercised	6.0	2.3	3.7	0.6	4.5	124	10.8	377									
			1 -														

.

.

58

The increase in the concentration of total proteins and of albumins were not thought to be due entirely to hemoconcentration (De Lanne et al., 1958). Beta-and gamma-globulins, contrarily to albumins and to \ll_1 -and \ll_2 -globulins, tended to drop during submaximal work; but these levels, as well as those of other fractions gradually returned to normal values, always reached after 60 minutes of recovery. The albumin/globulin ratio was increased during the first minutes of submaximal work, remained steady thereafter during submaximal work, decreased markedly 5 minutes after maximal work and returned to normal within 60 minutes after the end of exercise. De Lanne and collaborators (1958) believe that all plasma protein fractions except β globulins can be rapidly replaced from intercellular resources. According to Johnson and Wong (1961) there are exchanges of proteins of low molecular weight, such as albumin and certain globulins, between the plasma and the lymph, and these exchanges are made possible by alterations of capillary pores. Climatic conditions could modify the response of plasma proteins to physical exercise (De Lanne et al., 1958).

Important changes in serum enzymes have been observed during and following physical exercise. A significant elevation of glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase (SGOT), of glutamic-pyruvic transaminase

- 59 -
(SGPT), of lactic dehydrogenase (SLD) and of aldolase have been reported in rats (Altland and Highman, 1961) and in humans (Fowler et al., 1962) following treadmill activity. The study of Altland and Highman (1961) involved an exceptionally long exercise period of 16 hours: in this case the value of SLD was found to return to normal within 24 hours, that of SGPT, within 72 hours, and those of SGOT and of serum aldolase, to remain slightly above normal even after 144 hours of rest. Fowler et al. (1962) did not evaluate the time necessary for enzyme levels to return to their initial values after exercise, but Cantone and Cerretelli (1960a), in an experiment where human individuals performed exercise for 30 minutes on a treadmill, estimated at 75 minutes the time needed for aldolase activity to return to normal. Fowler et al. (1962) suggest that there is a relationship between the magnitude and duration of exercise and serum enzyme levels and that the increase in enzymes would be considerably less when the activity is more intense. The elevation in blood enzyme levels would be caused by an increase in the permeability of cells and particularly of the mitochondria or of the cellular membrane (Altland and Highman, 1961; Fowler et al., 1962) or to an acceleration in muscle enzyme synthesis and turnover with diffusion of larger quantities of the enzymes out of the cells (Fowler et al., 1962).

- 60 -

Effect of exercise on muscle nitrogen.

When considering the effect of exercise on muscle, the severity and type of exercise and the amount of training are of great importance. In an extensive review on the chronic effects of moderate exercise published in 1933, Steinhaus reports that during training by treadmill running, dogs' muscles gain in size, strength and endurance, and that the increase in size is due exclusively to an increase in sarcoplasm, and not to changes in the length of fibers, in the number of nuclei nor in the number or size of fibrilli in muscle cells. This hypertrophy of muscle would be a function of the work performed per unit of time. Helander (1961) also found that calf muscles of guinea pigs exercised for 4 months had a slight tendency to increase in size with a rise in the degree of activity. The total nitrogen content of wet muscle tended to be higher. In contradiction with Steinhaus (1933), this author is of the opinion that the increase in total nitrogen reflects an increase in myofilamental nitrogen, as he observed no change in either sarcoplasmic protein, stroma protein nor NPN. Helander (1961) concludes that one could expect an increase in the contractile strength of muscle following this elevation in the concentration of myofilamental nitrogen.

This hypothesis is confirmed by Hettinger (1961) who related muscle strength to muscle cross section and

- 61 -

found that training not only increased the size of muscle fibers, but also the absolute number of nuclei in the muscles and their protein content. Christensen (1963a) found a significant increase in the fresh weight of gastrocnemii muscles of rats that had been submitted to prolonged intermittent exercise and then exercised again for 28 days, compared with those that had received the preliminary training but had remained idle during the last period of the experiment. Furthermore, Christensen (1963a) observed increased values for total DNA, total nitrogen and total RNA per muscle in exercised rats that had received previous training, in comparison with trained rats that served as controls (cf. table V). Differences in muscle N/DNA and RNA/DNA ratios were, however, not significant.

Contrarily to moderate exercise, forced swimming results in a decrease in the absolute size of muscles of rats, whether practiced at the rate of $\frac{1}{2}$ hour per day for a minimum of 35 days (Hearn and Wainio, 1956; Gollnick and Hearn, 1961) or to exhaustion, for 30 days (Kimeldorf and Baum, 1954). Hearn and Wainio (1956) found the wet weights of gastrocnemii muscles of adult rats to be 1.861 and 2.005 grams respectively for the exercised and control groups, while in Gollnick and Hearn's experiment (1961), comparable weights were 2.377 and 2.433 grams for corresponding groups. In another experiment involving exhaustive

- 62 -

exercise in rats, Kimeldorf and Baum (1954) reported that the gluteus maximus muscle was significantly smaller in the exercised group, but represented a larger part of body weight.

The nitrogenous composition of muscle is not believed to vary much as a result of severe, shortterm physical activity. Gollnick and Hearn (1961) estimated the protein content of skeletal muscle, as represented by the gastrocnemius, to be 217.17mg. per gram of wet weight in the case of exercised rats and 218.72mg. for the control group: this difference was not significant. No change was observed, following exercise, in the activity of muscle succinic dehydrogenase (Hearn and Wainio, 1956), malic dehydrogenase and phosphorylase (Gould and Rawlinson, 1959), and lactic dehydrogenase (Gould and Rawlinson, 1959; Gollnick and Hearn, 1961).

Effect of exercise on skin nitrogen.

Exercise does not influence the DNAccontent of skin, nor does it affect significantly the N/DNA or RNA/DNA ratios in this tissue, according to Christensen (1963a). However, in rats that had been submitted to prolonged intermittent exercise, these ratios were slightly elevated in the exercised group compared to the idle group, and were much lower in the preconditioned rats, including both exercised and non-exercised groups, than in the rats that had not

- 63 -

been trained before the experiment. Long-term intermittent exercise would then result in lower N/DNA and RNA/DNA ratios with a predisposition to high ratios during a subsequent exercise period. Effect of exercise on other organs and tissues.

The size of many organs and glands is affected by exercise, but the way each one is affected and the intensity of this effect depend again on whether the exercise is one that requires strength, speed and a short but exhaustive effort such as swimming or speed running, or one of endurance such as treadmill walking. Table VI illustrates the effect of both types of exercise on some important organs and glands. Except for the heart and adrenals, the data reported in this table does not warrant definite conclusions.and more rigidly controlled exercise is needed to support valuable statements on the effect of exercise on liver, kidneys, spleen. Christensen (1963a) found no effect of exercise in adult rats on the DNA content of liver. However, in exercised animals, the fresh liver weight was slightly decreased, and the N/DNA ratio was increased but not significantly.

Whether the exercise is one of endurance such as running, or one that requires speed or intense effort, such as swimming, there is a marked enlargement of the heart, especially of the two ventricules (cf. tables VI and VII). Steinhaus et al. (1931a) remarks that

- 64 -

Authors	Species of	Type of	Length of		Change in f	resh weigh	t [*]	
AUCHOIS	animai	exercise	period	Liver	Héart	Adrenals	Kidney	Spleen
Hatai (1915)	rat	endurance	3-6 months	+ 18%	+ 23%	-	+ 19%	-24%
Steinhaus (1931b)	dog	short speed	?	+16%	+13%	+ 28%	+ 27%	- 20%
Steinhaus (1931b)	dog	endurance	?	no diff.	+ 5%	-21%	+ 3%	+ 6%
Kimeldorf and Baum (1954)	rat	short speed	3-30 days	-	incr.	+ 21%	decr.	incr.
Hearn and Wainio (1956)	rat	short speed	½-hour/day 5 - 8 weeks	-	+ 5%	+ 21%	-	-
Gollnick and Hearn (1961)	rat	short speed	½-hour/day for 35 days	-	+ 2% (ventricle)	+ 32%	-	-

TABLE VI

Effect of exercise on fresh weights of organs and glands

× expressed in percentage to the nearest whole percent. 65

nutenat	and heart we	Ignes of exc	2101860 (Swii			, pari-reu		
Authors	Initial weight of	Length	Weight g	gain/day ns)	Adrenal (milli	weight grams)	Heart w (milli	eight grams)
	rats (grams)	of study	Exercised	Controls	Exercised	Controls	Exercised	Controls
Hearn and Wainio (1956)	250	8 weeks	1.4	2.0	23	19	1861	2005
Gollnick and Hearn (1961)	340	35 days	1.1	1.8	37	2 8	1014	991

TABLE VII

Adrenal and heart weights of exercised (swimming) and non-exercised, pair-fed adult rats

- 66

- 99

this increase in size is not paralleled by a corresponding gain in body weight, so that the ratio of heart weight to body weight is higher in exercised animals. There are indications that heart size regresses when exercise is discontinued (Steinhaus <u>et al.</u>, 1931a). Cardiac enlargement would represent an adaptive change to exercise (Kimeldorf and Baum, 1954). Protein content (Gollnick and Hearn, 1961) and unit activity of lactic dehydrogenase (Gollnick and Hearn, 1961) and of succinic dehydrogenase (Hearn and Wainio, 1956) of the heart were not found to be modified by exercise. But the total activity of lactic dehydrogenase was significantly increased (Gollnick and Hearn, 1961).

Another fairly constant feature of exercise is a marked enlargement of the adrenal glands: this would be a non-specific response of the organism to stress (Kimeldorf and Baum, 1954; Hearn and Wainio, 1956).

- 67 -

B - Dietary protein requirements for exercise.

Dietary protein is essentially needed by the body for two main purposes:

 to make up for obligatory losses of nitrogen through urine, feces and skin;

2) to supply the amino acids necessary for growth of new tissues as well as for the chemical maturation of existing tissues. Protein requirements of rats under maintenance conditions and during growth are given in the appendix (table 2-A).

During exercise, both of these basic needs are increased, for it has been shown that exercise:

- increases the loss of nitrogen in the urine, at least at the beginning of a training period (Gontzea <u>et al.</u>, 1959; Gontzea <u>et al.</u>, 1962a);

- increases the loss of nitrogen through the skin (Gontzea et al., 1959; Consolazio et al., 1963);

- promotes growth of certain muscles participating in the exercise (Steinhaus, 1933; Helander, 1961; Hettinger, 1961; Christensen, 1963a).

Moreover, there is considerable evidence (Yoshida <u>et al.</u>, 1957; Abraham <u>et al.</u>, 1961; Wagle <u>et al.</u>, 1962; Crampton, 1964) that optimum growth and nitrogen utilization are closely related to the balance between the protein and the caloric content of the diet, which would suggest that an increase in the requirement for energy because of activity should be accompanied by a proportional increase in the protein intake. Information on this subject is still, however, far from complete, and most authorities in the field of human nutrition reserve their opinion on this matter until further study is completed. Widely used dietary standards (U.S. Food and Nutrition Board, 1964; Canadian Council on Nutrition, 1964) assume that physical activity does not increase protein requirements. This opinion is based on earlier nitrogen balance studies that showed no increase in nitrogen retention as a consequence of physical activity.

The validity of nitrogen balance as a criterion to assess protein requirements has been questioned (Christensen, 1963a; Crampton, 1964) on the basis that nitrogen equilibrium may be established over a wide range of nitrogen intakes, and that an over-all equilibrium does not necessarily implicate that protein is available in sufficient amounts in all body compartments. Using various criteria to determine the adequacy of the diet, a few investigators have recently attempted to estimate quantitatively the need for protein during exercise. Yoshimura (1960) evaluated at 2.0 grams per kilogram of body weight per day the amount of mixed protein needed to prevent symptoms of protein deficiency in men doing heavy muscular exercise. Gontzea and co-workers (1960) for their part, recommend that the diet of young men performing work and necessitating 3300 to 4100 Calories per day, should provide 12% to 14% of the Calories in the form of protein when about 1/3 of the protein is of animal origin. According to Watkin et al. (1963), 0.8 to 1.0 gram of protein of good quality per kilogram of body weight per day is needed to maintain nitrogen equilibrium in physically active adult individuals. A more rigorous

- 69 -

approach was used by Crampton (1964) to estimate at 19 grams of digestible protein per 1000 digestible Calories the amount of dietary protein needed for work. This proportion is the same as that needed for maintenance and applies to any species of mammals, whatever their size. As far as the FAO/WHO Joint Expert Group (1965) they do not make a specific recommendation for an extra allowance of protein for work because of "inconclusive evidence". But they strongly recommend that research be continued on this subject.

III BASIS AND NATURE OF THE PRESENT STUDY

The literature shows that exercise has a stimulating effect on protein metabolism as demonstrated by an increase in nitrogen excretion and a negative nitrogen balance, at least for some time following the beginning of the training period. The elevation in the level of certain nitrogenous fractions and enzymes in the blood during exercise is also indicative of a slowing of the catabolism and/or of an increase in the anabolism of these compounds as a result of exercise. Part of these changes could, however, be attributed to the stress of meeting a new situation, since they tend to recede with time. As training advances, other tendencies appear which could be more validly related to exercise "per se": transfer of nitrogen from labile stores such as serum albumin, liver proteins, to other body compartments including muscle and perhaps, skin.

Christensen (1963a) has shown that these changes affect not only labile but also so-called "stable" nitrogenous compounds such as DNA. In some cases, however, the appearance of such changes is linked with the presence of several successive periods of exercise and rest. This raises the questions of the time of appearance and of the reversibility of these effects. Are these modifications instigated during an exercise period and maintained or perhaps enhanced during the rest period that immediately follows, or are they delayed effects of exercise, showing only after the imposed activity has been stopped for some time? How long do these results last and how long does it take for all the nitrogenous components of tissues to return to pre-exercise levels, supposing that these changes are reversible? As yet no answer can be given

- 71 -

to these questions.

Further work is then needed to clarify the following points: 1) to find out whether changes in the nitrogenous components of blood serum, muscle and skin following prolonged intermittent exercise are a continuous process or are realized according to a pattern presenting peaks and pits of varying heights;

to determine the length of time that it takes for these components to return to levels comparable with those obtained in controls;
 to evaluate the influence of the dietary protein level on the changes observed as a consequence of exercise in the nitrogenous components of these same tissues.

The present study aims to furnish some of the basic data necessary to answer these questions. It is postulated that certain of the changes observed by Christensen (1963a) in the nitrogen status of rats submitted to several intermittent periods of exercise are delayed effects of exercise, showing only after the animals have been allowed to restfora certain length of time. This hypothesis does not exclude the possibility that such changes could be intensified or reversed by subsequently imposing another period of exercise to the animals. But the present study is limited to the observation of the immediate and delayed effects of only one period of exercise on the protein status of rats. Blood serum, skeletal muscle and skin were analyzed with respect to some of their most important nitrogenous components, namely: total nitrogen in blood serum, muscle and skin; albumin and globulin in blood serum; DNA in muscle and skin, and collagen in skin only. It is assumed that albumin/globulin and N/DNA ratios are reliable criteria of protein

- 72 -

nutrition when comparing groups in which the "stable" components of the ratios i.e. globulin or DNA, are not different from one group to another. In cases where there is a treatment effect on globulin or on DNA, such a ratio could not validly be used for evaluating protein reserves in that particular tissue.

Three levels of dietary protein were used in this experiment: one corresponding to the level generally considered adequate for maintenance in adult rats, one which was equivalent to twice the maintenance level and one which was only half of the maintenance level. The use of these three diets enabled one to observe any possible interaction between dietary protein and exercise and between dietary protein and the length of the rest period allowed after exercise was ceased. It was assumed that, if protein needs were not increased in proportion to caloric needs during exercise periods, the augmented feed and caloric intake resulting from an increase in activity would raise the protein consumption of rats consuming sub-maintenance level of protein to the maintenance level; similarly, such an increase in protein intake would raise the intake of animals already receiving amounts of protein sufficient for maintenance to super-maintenance level. In such cases, this improvement in the protein status would be reflected in the protein reserves. If, on the contrary, the supplement of protein consumed by active rats was needed to meet the increased demand of exercise, the levels of labile protein reserves should be similar in the active and in the idle rats receiving the same level of dietary protein.

- 73 -

IV SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES OF THE RESEARCH

The purpose of this experiment was to observe the effect, on rats consuming super-maintenance, maintenance or sub-maintenance levels of protein, of a muscular exercise period of 8 weeks, followed by rest periods of zero, two or four weeks, as measured by: 1) the rate of weight gain and the feed efficiency ratio; 2) serum proteins and the serum albumin/globulin ratio; 3) muscle nitrogen, muscle DNA and the N/DNA ratio in muscle; 4) skin nitrogen, skin DNA, skin collagen as well as the N/DNA and the non-collagen N/DNA ratios in the skin.

ì

A - General plan of the study

The study included 2 replicates with 36 animals per replicate. The allotment plan (table VIII) gives the distribution of animals into the different treatment groups in each replicate.

The design of this experiment is a 3 x 3 x 2 x 2 factorial arrangement. The "E₁" and "E₀" main groups ("exetcise" and "control"), included 18 animals each. These were subdivided into 3 sub-groups according to the length of the "recovery" period (0, 2 or 4 weeks) that followed the initial period of 8 weeks of exercise. During the whole test (exercise and recovery periods) two rats of each sub-group were maintained on either one of 3 diets: - diet 1 (D₁) in which the level of protein was twice that which is considered adequate for maintenance^{*};

- diet 2 (D_2) in which the level of protein was equal to that which is adequate for maintenance^{*}:

- diet 3 (D_3) in which the level of protein was only one half of the maintenance requirement^{*}.

B - Animals

Eighteen-week-old female albino rats were used in this study. The animals were housed in individual 6" x 8" screen-bottomed cages. Food and water were supplied ad libitum except during the 3½-hour daily period during which exercised rats were confined to the exercise apparatus cages where no food was available. During this time, food was also withdrawn from cage-idle animals. The rats used in replicate II were of the same strain as those used

^{* &}quot;maintenance requirement" in this thesis, designates that level of dietary protein considered sufficient for maintenance by the U.S. Committee on Animal Nutrition (cf. Appendix table 2-A).

TABLE VIII									
Allotment plan (for each of 2 replicates)									
Level of	Length of the rest period after initial		Diet						
exercise	8 weeks of exercise	Diet 1 (D_1)	Diet 2 (D ₂)	Diet 3 (D ₃)					
		Group E ₁ D ₁ R _O	Group E ₁ D ₂ R _O	Group E ₁ D ₃ R _O					
Exercise (group E _l)	O week (KO)	2	2	2					
		Group E ₁ D ₁ R ₂	Group E ₁ D ₂ R ₂	Group E ₁ D ₃ R ₂					
	2 weeks (R ₂)	2	2	2					
		Group E ₁ D ₁ R ₄	Group EL D ₂ R ₄	Group E ₁ D ₃ R ₄					
	4 weeks (R_4)	2	2	2					
		Group E ₀ D ₁ R ₀	Group E ₀ D ₂ R ₀	Group E _O D ₃ R _O					
No exercise	0 week (R ₂)	2	2	2					
	2 weeks (Ra)	Group E ₀ D ₁ R ₂	Group E ₀ D ₂ R ₂	Group E ₀ D ₃ R ₂					
		2	2	2					
	t weeks (P.)	Group EO D1 R4	Group E ₀ D ₂ R ₄	Group E _O D ₃ R ₄					
	4 Weeks (r4)	2	2	2					

- 76

in the first replicate, but did not originate from the same breeding farm and were smaller in size than rats in replicate I; their average weight was 258 grams, and that of rats in replicate I, 289 grams.

C - Diets

Diets were purified rations containing the following ingredients (given in percentages):

	Diet I (13.6% protein)	Diet 2 (6.8% protein)	Diet 3 (3.4% protein)
Vitamin-free casein	15.0	7.5	3.75
Corn oil	14.0	14.0	14.0
Corn starch	61.0	68.5	72.25
Alphocel	5.0	5.0	5.0
Salt mix (U.S.P. XIV)	4.0	4.0	4.0
Vitamin mix	1.0	1.0	1.0
	100.0	100.0	100.0

The composition of the vitamin mix is given in the Appendix (table 1-A).

Samples of each of the three diets used in every one of the two replicates were analyzed for energy, dry matter, crude protein and ether extract. The results of the analyses are shown in table IX. The low values obtained for ether extract and for energy in the case of the diets used in replicate I were thought to be due to an uneven blending of the oil through the mixture because of the inadequacy of the equipment used for mixing the diets. As the discrepancies were about the same for all three diets, however, it was assumed that this irregularity did not appreciably alter the results. If expressed as milligrams of protein per Calorie,

		Proxi mate compo	sition of diets		
	1				
Diet	Replicate	Dry matter	Crude protein	Ether extract	Calories per
		~ %	on air-dry sample.	(on dry matter)	too grams diet
1 *					(50 (1))
(15% casein)	L	90	14	8 (1)	450 (1)
2 * (7.5% casein)	T	91	7	8 (1)	440 (1)
2 8					
(3.75% casein)	I	90	4	8 (1)	430 (1)
1 **					
(15% casein)	II	93	14	15	470
2 **				1 F	140
(7.5% casein)		92	8	15	460
3 ** (3.75% casein)	II	92	4	15	450

TABLE IX

* mixed in several batches in small mixer.

** mixed in single batch in large mixer.

(1) sampling difficulties in the case of replicate I are believed to be responsible for the low values obtained for ether extract and for energy. the protein content of diets 1, 2 and 3, is respectively of 30, 15 and 7.5 mg. Since the minimum level of dietary protein considered adequate for adult rats is 10 mg. per Calorie (cf. Appendix table 2-A), it is evident that the first two diets fulfill this requirement while diet 3 does not.

D - Exercise regimen

The rats in groups "E₁" were exercised 6 days a week for 8 weeks. The full daily work schedule consisted of 7 cycles of 25 minutes of work and 5 minutes of rest. Rats were gradually conditioned to exercise starting with only 5 minutes of exercise on the first day and increasing the length of the exercise periods every day until the 11th day at which time they ran the entire $3\frac{1}{2}$ -hour cycle.

The exercise apparatus was composed essentially of a motordriven revolving drum on which the rats were forced to walk at a speed of approximately 48 feet per minute. Water was supplied ad libitum during exercise periods.

E - Records

The following data were collected on each individual animal during the trial:

- 1 weekly feed consumption and body weight;
- 2 fresh weight of the heart;
- 3 fresh and dry, fat-free weights of the liver, of muscle (pair of gastrocnemii muscles) and of a skin sample shaved ante mortem;

4 - chemical determinations: a) on blood serum: - total nitrogen - albumin and globulins - non-protein nitrogen b) on muscle (gastrocnemii): - total nitrogen - DNA c) on skin: - total nitrogen - DNA

- hydroxyproline (collagen)

Hydroxyproline was also determined on muscle, but due to difficulty in reducing the fibrous material of muscle into a fine powder, and therefore in obtaining perfectly homogeneous samples, the results of these determinations were too variable to be utilized and had to be discarded.

F - Tissue collection and storage

Rats were killed by decapitation under light anesthesia. Exercised rats sacrificed immediately after the 8-week exercise period (group E_1R_0) were killed approximately 2 hours after the end of the exercise period. Tissues were collected and submitted to the treatment hereby described. Whenever weighing and homogenizing were necessary, these were done within 25 minutes to minimize effects of dehydration and autolysis.

1 - <u>Blood</u>.

Blood was recovered in a test tube, set aside for cooling, centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 minutes, and the serum collected by decantation. In certain cases mentioned in section G, paragraph 1, the serum was analyzed immediately for albumin and globulins. In all other cases, it was kept at -5°C until needed for analyses.

2 - Muscle.

Gastrocnemii (2) muscles were dissected out, weighed and homogenized at high speed for 2 minutes in 95% ethanol using a Vir-Tis model 45 macro homogenizer. The homogenate was extracted 3 times for 24 hours each time, first with 95% ethanol, second, with a 50-50 mixture of 95% ethanol and ethyl ether and finally with ethyl ether. Each time, the tissue was recoved by filtration. After the last filtration, the tissue was allowed to dry at room temperature for 36 hours and weighed. It was then ground with a mortar and pestle and kept in a powdered form at -5° C until used for analyses.

3 - Liver and heart.

The liver was removed, weighed, homogenized, given the same treatment and kept in the same conditions as the gastrocnemii muscles. The heart was removed and weighed after excess blood had been wiped off with a paper towel.

4 - <u>Skin.</u>

The back of the rat was clipped to remove long hair just before the animal was decapitated. After bleeding, a section of the skin measuring approximately 8 x 5 centimeters was cut from the lumbar region. This sample, which included both epidermal and dermal layers of the skin was freed manually from lose subcutaneous fat. It was weighed and homogenized in 95% ethanol in a Waring blendor. After being extracted with 95% ethanol and ether and air-dried in the same fashion as muscle and liver, it was then ground in a micromill and kept at $-5^{\circ}C$.

G - Chemical and physical methods.

1 - Albumin and globulins (serum)

The distribution of these serum fractions in total serum protein was determined by paper electrophoresis using a Spinco model R system composed of a Durrum cell, and using 0.075 ionic Veronal buffer at pH 8.6. A description of the method used can be found in the Spinco Technical Bulletin 6095A. Electric current was run for 17 hours at 3 milliamps per cell. The filter paper strips used were Schleicher and Schuell 2043A. The strips were stained with amidoblack dye, and the stained strips were scanned with a recording densitometer (model R Analytrol). This analysis was performed on fresh serum in the case of replicate II and the last third (Group R₄) of replicate 1, and on frozen serum in the case of the first two-thirds (groups R₀ and R₂) of replicate 1.

2 - <u>Nitrogen</u> (serum, muscle, skin)

Total nitrogen was determined by the micro Kjeldahl method as outlined in the A.O.A.C. manual (1960).

3 - Non-protein nitrogen (serum)

Non-protein nitrogen was determined by the Folin and Wu method, as described by Hawk, Oser and Summerson (1954), on pooled samples from the serum of the 2 rats receiving exactly the same treatment in each replicate, whenever enough serum was available for this determination. Since a gross

- 82 -

examination of these data revealed no difference between the results obtained in groups R_0 , R_2 and R_4 (killed immediately after the 8-week exercise period or after 2 or 4 weeks of rest), the results were averaged for these three groups and the sera of rats of the three groups were pooled to estimate NPN in the cases where the quantity of serum from 2 rats only had not been sufficient to do this determination. The appropriate figure was then used to correct the total serum nitrogen values to protein nitrogen.

4 - Desoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) (muscle and skin)

The nucleic acids were extracted and determined according to the method outlined by Ceriotti (1952 and 1955). The extraction consisted of suspending the tissue powder in 10%(v/v) perchloric acid heated at 70°C, stirring constantly for 20 minutes. The supernatant was collected after centrifuging for 20 minutes at 1800 rpm at 5°C. The procedure was repeated twice and the extracts combined and made up to volume. DNA was determined on the extract by means of a colorimetric method based on the Dische reaction of DNA with indole (Ceriotti, 1952). A calibration curve was prepared using a purified DNA preparation (1) obtained from calf thymus.

5 - Hydroxyproline (collagen) (skin)

Protein from the skin was hydrolyzed by autoclaving the tissue with 6N HCl at 120°C in sealed tubes for 3 hours. The hydrochloric acid was then neutralized with NaOH, the amino acid mixture was filtered to remove humin, and the extract diluted to 100 mls. Hydroxyproline was then determined

- 83 -

kindly supplied by Dr. R.H. Common, Director of the Chemistry Department, Macdonald College.

colorimetrically according to the Leach modification (Leach, 1960) of the Neuman and Logan method (Neuman and Logan, 1950). The percentage of collagen in the tissue was calculated using 7.46 as the factor of conversion of hydroxyproline to collagen. When calculating the percentage of collagen nitrogen in the tissue, it was assumed that collagen contained 18.6% nitrogen.

H - Statistical Analysis.

The data were analyzed by the variance method. The variation was distributed among the different sources of variation in the following manner:

Sources of variation	Degrees of freedom
Between all animals	71
Between groups	35
Replicate	1
Level of exercise	1
Length of rest period	2
Level of dietary protein	2
Interactions	29
lst order:	
Replicate x level of exercise	1
Replicate x length of rest period	2
Replicate x level of dietary protein	2
Exercise x length of rest period	. 2
Exercise x level of dietary protein	2
Length of rest period x level of dietary p	protein 4
2nd and 3rd order interactions	16
Remainder	36

In the analysis of variance, the second and third order interactions were added to the remainder, bringing the total number of degrees of freedom for error to 52.

In the cases where a significant "F" value was found for the length of rest period or the level of dietary protein, the least significant range was calculated in order to determine which ones of the three means involved were significantly different one from the other. The method used was Duncan's new multiple-range test as described by Steel and Torrie (1960).

During the course of laboratory manipulations, one of the blood samples was lost (from sub-group $E_0D_3R_2$). Since the variability of the results of the determinations on blood serum was fairly low, especially in the control group of animals, it was decided (1) that, in the statistical treatment of the data, the value obtained for the other animal receiving the same treatment would be used to replace the missing value, and 1 degree of freedom would be subtracted from the total variation and from the variation within pairs of animals receiving the same treatment combination.



after consultation with Dr. H.A. Steppler, Professor of Statistics, Macdonald College.

VI RESULTS

A - Format used in the presentation of results.

The results presented in this section are in the form of tables and of diagrams. In addition, full results are given in the Appendix tables 3-A to 17-A inclusively. Diagrams (fig. 1 to 9) illustrate various trends throughout the experiment or compare the results obtained on different tissues or during different phases of the experiment. Tables, which include tables of means (cf. table M) and tables of interactions(cf. table N) are numbered XV to XL and show separately and in combination the effects of exercise, length of the rest period after exercise, level of dietary protein, and replicate, on the variables measured.

Besides means, tables of means (cf. table M) give the standard error of each mean, differences between comparable means and indicate whether these differences are statistically significant or not. Tables of interactions (cf. table N) list the statistically significant first order interactions observed in each determination. In every case, means or other statistics are given first for the whole experiment and then, for each experimental period separately, the three experimental periods corresponding to the different lengths of time that the animals werekept alive, but idle after the end of the initial 8-week period of exercise. In the cases where experimental period and groups of rats are not confounded in the experiment, such as in the measurement of weight gains, feed or nutrient intakes, results are also given according to the groups of rats

- 86 -

		TA	BLE M (Fac-simil	e of a t	able of me	eans)			
according t	o the lev	Mean vel of exe	rcise, re	plicate,	level of	dietary y	protein, o	r lengt	h of res	t period.
Variable measured	Level of	f exercise	Replicate		Level of dietary protein			Length of rest period		
period	El	EO	I	11	D1	D ₂	^D 3	RO	R ₂	R ₄
(n = 72)	846±90	804±70 42 *	815±80 1	834±80 .9	853±50	871±70 18 102 **	751±70 120 ** *	825±90 1	826±70 1	824±90 2

* significant at the 5% level (p<0.05)
** significant at the 1% level (p<0.01)</pre>

٠ 87 .

included in the experiment during each of the experimental periods.

In table M, each mean is followed by its standard error. Example: 846±90. The difference between means are placed underneath and between the two means from which they were computed. When comparisons are made between three means, such as with levels of dietary protein or length of rest periods, the difference between the first and the second levels, and that between the second and third levels are placed immediately underneath the means, and the difference between the first and third values is placed on the following line in the center of the column where it belongs. Example:

Means (with s)825±90(A)826±70(B)824±90(C)Differences between A and B, B and C12Difference between A and C11

Whenever they occur, significant differences are indicated by one (*) or two (**) asterisks, one * corresponding to a probability level of 5% (p<0.05) and two **, to a probability level of 1% (p<0.01).

The total number of animals included for the determination concerned is indicated in the column on the extreme left under the name of the variable measured (n =).

The following expressions and/or abbreviations are used in both tables of means and Appendix tables 3-A to 17-A:

- Levels of exercise:

 E_1 : exercised

 E_0 : controls - not exercised

- 88 -

- Levels of dietary protein:
 - diet $l(D_1)$: 15% casein diet
 - diet 2 (D_2) : 7.5% casein diet
 - diet 3 (D₃) : 3.75% casein diet
- Experimental periods:
 - period I : first 8 weeks of trial, during which the rats in the El group (36) were exercised and those in the E₀ group (36) were cage-idle.
 - period II : following 2 weeks of trial (weeks 9 and 10) during which all remaining rats (48) were cage-idle.
 - period III: last 2 weeks of trial (weeks 11 and 12), during which all remaining rats (24) were cage-idle.
 - group 0 : group of rats (24) that lived only through period
 (R₀)
 I and were killed immediately after the 8-week
 exercise period.
 - group 2 : group of rats (24) that lived through periods I
 (R₂)
 and II and were killed after 10 weeks of experiment
 (8-week exercise period plus 2-week rest period).

In table N (table of interactions), statistically significant interactions are indicated by one (*) or two (**) asterisks, depending whether they are significant at the 5% (p(0.05)) or at the 1% (p(0.01) level. When the variable measured was such as A, which was the case for weight gains, feed and nutrient intakes, the results were considered according to experimental period and

TABLE N (Fac-simile of a table of interactions)							
	First	order inter	actions obse	erved on	••••		
Variable measured	Groups of rate and or experimental period	E x Rep	ExD	ExR	Rep x D	Rep x R	D x R
A	Period I Period II Period III All per. & groups Groups 2, 4 Group 4			**	**	**	
B	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)	* *	×				
	4						

* significant at the 5% level (p<0.05)
** significant at the 1% level (p<0.01)</pre>

. າິດ • according to groups. In all other cases, since experimental periods were confounded with groups, results were only divided according to groups.

The following abbreviations are used to designate the first order interactions:

E x Rep). :	level of exercise x replicate
ExD	•	level of exercise x level of dietary protein
ExR	:	level of exercise x length of the rest
		period after the initial 8 weeks of exercise
Rep. x D	:	replicate x level of dietary protein
Rep. x:R	:	replicate x length of the rest period after
		the initial 8 weeks of exercise
DxR	:	level of dietary protein x length of the
		rest period after the initial 8 weeks of
		exercise.

The term "muscle" used in connection with the present project means the gastrocnemius muscle, and the word "skin", that portion of the shaved skin that was removed for analysis, as described in section V under "Experimental procedure".

B - Feed intake and body weights.

Results on feed intake, nitrogen intake, body weight gains and body weights attained after 8, 10 or 12 weeks of trial are summarized in Figures 1, 2, 3 and 4. While Figure 1 shows the effect of exercise and of dietary protein level on feed consumption for each week of the experiment, Figures 2 and 3 illustrate the influence of these factors on nitrogen intakes (Fig. 2) and on weight gains (Fig. 3). One notices that, until the 4th or 5th experimental week, among the rats on maintenance (diet 2) or super-maintenance (diet 1) levels of protein, food consumption and weight gains of exercised rats were much below those of cage-idle rats. After this length of time, however, the appetite of exercised rats began to improve and the gains of weight of active rats exceeded those of the control animals. This acceleration in weight gain in exercised rats was intensified during the first rest period (period II) and, in the case of the rats on diet 1, during the second rest period (period III). Although a reduction in the rate of weight loss was noted in the rats on diet 3 after 4 or 5 weeks of trial and a slight gain was registered during period II, the weight curve showed an almost constant decline in both exercised and idle rats during the whole 12 weeks of experiment. Figure 4 summarizes the effects of diet and of exercise on feed intakes, nitrogen intakes and on weight gains during each of the three experimental periods.

1 - Feed intakes.

Average feed intakes per rat per week are given in



- 93 -

ш

FIG UR





grams r a t ek Der



 $D_1 P_2 P_3$ $P_1 P_2 P_3$ P1 P2 P3 \mathcal{P}_2 D₂ D₃ $\mathbf{D}_1 \quad \mathbf{D}_2 \quad \mathbf{D}_3$ D₁ 71 Dj D₁ D₂ D₃ P1 P2 $P_1 \quad D_1 \quad D_1$ **P**, $\mathbf{D}_1 \quad \mathbf{D}_2$ D, D₁ 2 5

-8_

1

3

4

6 7 weeks

8

9

10

14

P1 D,

12


Table X. Although no tests of significance were done on these data, the following tendencies can be observed from this table:

- 97 -

a) feed consumption of exercised rats was higher during period II than in period I and, for replicate I, higher in period III than in period II, even if there was no imposed exercise during any of the last two periods;
b) during period I, the feed intake of exercised rats was approximately equal or only slightly superior to that of idle rats; in 2 cases, it was even slightly inferior;
c) during all periods and both in exercised and cage-idle animals, highest feed intakes were practically always registered in rats on diet 2;

d) animals in replicate I, in general, ate more than those in replicate II.

2 - Energy intakes.

Since the chemical analysis of the diets showed slight differences between the energy contents of diets 1, 2 and 3 in the same replicate, and between the diets of similar composition in the two replicates (cf. table IX), average caloric intakes of the animals were computed and are summarized in table XI. The tendencies shown in the feed intakes are maintained, with the exception of the differences between replicates which are smaller, and, in a few instances, contrary to those observed in the feed intakes. The animals in replicate I ate more than those in replicate II, but since the energy concentration of their

TABLE X														
	Average FEED INTAKE * according to level of exercise, replicate, experimental period and level dietary protein.													
	(grams of food per rat per week)													
Level of exercise	Replicate	Period I (n = 72)				Period II $(n = 48)$			Period III (n = 24)					
		D1	D ₂	D ₃	Dl	D ₂	^D 3	D1	D ₂	^D 3				
EL	I	87	92	87	96	.110	107	105	113	96				
(exercised)	11	83	89	87	96	102	82	86	78	76				
EO	٦.	79	90	87	80	92	88	83	100	90				
(idle)	II	83	94	87	79	88	97	74	88	90				

* calculated to the nearest whole figure

- 86 -

				TAB	LE XI						
	Aver	age CALO exp	RIC INTAKE * erimental pe	accordi eriod and	ng to le level o	vel of exer f dietary p	rcise, rep protein.	olicate,			
			(kilo-	calories	per rat	per week)					
Level of exercise	Replicate		Period I (n = 72)			Period II $(n = 48)$		Period III (n = 48)			
		Dl	D ₂	^D 3	Dl	D ₂	D ₃	D ₁	D ₂	D3	
	I	3 89	404	372	431	481	455	473	494	409	
El											
(exercised)	ĬI	393	408	391	456	469	370	407	360	342	
	· · ·										
	. 1	357	394	373	360	404	373	373	439	382	
EO						_					
(idle)	II	392	433	395	376	403	437	350	405	407	

* calculated to the nearest whole figure

- 66 -

			TAE	LE XII						
Ave	erage NIT exp	ROGEN INTAk erimental p	CE according and and	ng to lev l level of	vel of exem E dietary p	ccise, rep protein.	olicate,			
		(gran	ns nitroge	n per rat	per week))	L			
Replicate		Period (n =)	i I 72)		Period II (n = 48)		Period III (n = 24)			
	D ₁	D ₂	^D 3	Dl	D ₂	D ₃	D ₁	D ₂	D ₃	
I	1.9	1.0	0.5	2.1	1.2	0.6	2.3	1.2	0.5	
		_								
II	1.8	1.0	0.5	2.1	1.1	0.5	1.9	0.9	0.4	
• I	1.7	1.0	0.5	1.7	1.0	0.5	1.8	1.1	0.5	
II	1.8	1.0	0.5	1.7	1.0	0.5	1.6	1.0	0.5	
	Ave Replicate I II II II	Average NIT explicate Replicate D1 I 1.9 II 1.8 II 1.7 II 1.8	Average NITROGEN INTAKexperimental point (gram Replicate Period (n = 1) D1 D2 I 1.9 1.0 II 1.8 1.0 II 1.7 1.0 II 1.8 1.0	TAR Average NITROGEN INTAKE according experimental period and (grams nitroge) Replicate Period I (n = 72) D1 D2 D3 I 1.9 1.0 0.5 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 II 1.7 1.0 0.5 II 1.8 1.0 0.5	TABLE XII Average NITROGEN INTAKE according to level of (grams nitrogen per rate (n = 72) Replicate Period I (n = 72) D1 D2 D3 D1 I 1.9 1.0 0.5 2.1 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 2.1 ·I 1.7 1.0 0.5 1.7 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 1.7	TABLE XII Average NITROGEN INTAKE according to level of exert experimental period and level of dietary processing (grams nitrogen per rat per week) Replicate Period I Period II (n = 72) I D1 D2 D3 D1 D2 I 1.9 1.0 0.5 2.1 1.2 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 2.1 1.1 II 1.7 1.0 0.5 1.7 1.0 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 1.7 1.0	TABLE XII Average NITROGEN INTAKE according to level of dietary protein. (grams nitrogen per rat per week) Replicate Period I (n = 72) Period II (n = 48) I 1.9 1.0 0.5 2.1 1.2 0.6 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 2.1 1.1 0.5 II 1.7 1.0 0.5 1.7 1.0 0.5 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 1.7 1.0 0.5	TABLE XII Average NITROGEN INTAKE according to level of exercise, replicate, experimental period and level of dietary protein. (grams nitrogen per rat per week) Replicate Period I Period II I N1 D_2 D_3 D_1 D_2 D_3 D_1 I 1.9 1.0 0.5 2.1 1.2 0.6 2.3 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 2.1 1.1 0.5 1.9 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 1.7 1.0 0.5 1.8 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 1.7 1.0 0.5 1.6	TABLE XII Average NITROGEN INTAKE according to level of exercise, replicate, experimental period and level of dietary protein. (grams nitrogen per rat per week) Replicate Period II (n = 24) Replicate Period II (n = 72) Period III (n = 24) D1 D2 D3 D1 D2 D3 D1 D2 I 1.9 1.0 0.5 2.1 1.2 0.6 2.3 1.2 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 2.1 1.1 0.5 1.9 0.9 'I 1.7 1.0 0.5 1.7 1.0 0.5 1.8 1.1 II 1.8 1.0 0.5 1.7 1.0 0.5 1.6 1.0	

- 100 -

diets was lower, the energy intake was usually comparable in rats given otherwise the same treatment combination.

3 - Nitrogen intakes.

Average nitrogen intakes are summarized in table XII, assuming 16% nitrogen in the source of protein used in the diets (casein). The larger consumption of food of the rats on diet 2 tended to compensate for the lower protein content of their diet when compared with diet 1, and the nitrogen intake of these rats was in most cases more than half of the nitrogen consumption of rats on diet 1.

4 - Initial and final body weights.

Initial weights and final weights after 8, 10 or 12 weeks of trial are shown in tables 3-A and 4-A in the Appendix. Mean initial and final body weights as affected by the treatments are given in table XIII. Besides replicate, which influenced even initial weights, the level of dietary protein is the only factor that affected the final weights of the animals, the final weight of rats on diet 3 being significantly lower than that of rats on diet 2 and from that of rats on diet 1.

5 - Weight gains.

Average weight gains in each experimental period are reported in table XIIIa. The statistical analysis of weight gains revealed significant interactions between the level of exercise and the length of the rest period after exercise, and between replicate and the length of the rest period after exercise (cf. table XX). The effect of these combinations

TABLE XIII													
according	to the le	Me evel of ex	an INITIA ercise, r	L and FIN eplicate,	AL BODY W level of	WEIGHTS (1 f dietary p) protein or	r length c	of rest p	eriod.			
				(grams	per rat)								
	Level of	exercise	Repli	cate	Level o	of dietary	protein	Length of rest period					
	. E1	EO	1 11		D1	D ₂	D ₃	RO	R ₂	R ₄			
Initial weights (n=72)	275 ± 20	272 ± 19 3	289 ± 14 3	258±7 1**	272 ± 18	273 ± 18 1 4	276 ± 21 3	275 ± 15	273±16 2 3	272±23			
Final weights $(n = 72)$	290 ± 34	287 ± 35 3	302 ± 32 20	276 ± 31 6**	310 ± 20	303 ± 26 7 57**	253±24 50**	287 ± 31 7	294±35 2	285±37 9			
									_				

(1) calculated to the nearest whole figure.

.

- 102 -

	TABLE XIIIa													
	Average WEIGHT GAINS according to level of exercise, replicate, experimental period and level of dietary protein.													
L.			(gr	ams per 1	at per we	eek)								
Level of exercise	Replicate	P (eriod I (n = 72)		P	Period II (n=48)		I	Period III (n=24)					
		Dl	D ₂	^D 3	D ₁	D ₂	^D 3	Dl	D ₂	D3				
E1	I	2.8	1.8	-3.0	5.9	4.1	3.4	3.5	~0. 2	-4.5				
(exercised)	11	3.0	0.5	-2.8	10.0	13.6	1.6	4.5	-1.3	-2.0				
EO	Ĩ	4.2	3.6	-2.7	-0.5	-1.1	-3.0	-0.5	-1.2	-2.8				
(idle)	11	4.4	3.8	-2.1	5.8	3.0	-0.9	3.0	0.8	-0.5				

.

103 -

of factors can be seen in table XIV. During period I, weight gains were smaller in the exercised than in the idle animals, but the difference was not statistically significant. In period II, the difference between weight gains of exercised and control rats was highly significant, the gains of the first group being about 12 times those of the second group. During the last experimental period, both exercised and idle animals lost weight and the loss was not significantly different in the two groups. Weight gains were similar for rats on diet 1 and on diet 2 for the first 2 periods of the trial, but those of animals on the low-protein diet were significantly smaller than those of the two other groups. During period III, both diet 2 and diet 3 caused a loss of weight in the animals, while a gain was registered in animals on diet 1.

Table XV shows the influence of the length of rest period on the weight gain of rats of a same group. As it can be observed from this table, the weight gains of rats in group 4 (R_4) were slightly inferior to those of groups 2 (R_2) and 4 (R_4) or 0 (R_0), 2 (R_2) and 4 (R_4) combined, and this, for the same period. But the same trend, i.e. an acceleration of the weight gain during the first rest period, can be observed in both group 4 (R_4) alone, and groups 2 (R_2) and and 4 (R_4) combined.

6 - Efficiency ratios.

a - Weight gain/energy intake

Since the different diets were not exactly isocaloric,

Mean WEIGHT GAINS in each experimental period, according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein. (grams per rat per week)													
	Level of	exercise	Replica	ite	Level of dietary protein								
	El	EO	I	II	D ₁	D ₂	D ₃						
Period I (weeks 1 to 9) (n=72)	0.8±3.2	1.9±3.6	1.4±3.8	1.2±3.1	3.6±1.5	3.0 ± 2.5 0.6 6.2**	-2.6±1.8 5.6**						
Period II (weeks 9, 10) (n=48)	6.4±5.5 0.5±4.3 5.9**		1.5±4.8 4.	5.5±5.4 .0**	5.3±5.4	4.9±6.2 0.4 5.0**	0.3±4.4 4.6**						
Period III (weeks 11,12) (n = 24)	-0.1±3.9	-0.3±2.1 0.2	-1.0±3.2	0.7±2.8	2.6±2.1	-0.5±2.4 3.1** 4.2**	-1.6±2.2						

.

•

105

.

		TABLE XV	1	
	Mean WEIGHT GA during each (INS of groups of of the three ex grams per rat p	of rats in experiment sperimental periods per week)	
	Experimenta	al period		
	Period I	Period II	Period III	
Groups 0, 2, 4 (n = 72)	1.3±3.5	-	-	
Groups 2, 4 (n = 48)	1.2±3.6 2.3**	3.5±5.7	-	
Group 4 (n = 24)	0.9±3.5 1.8	2.7±5.2 0.7	0.2±3.0 2.5*	

(cf. table IX), the efficiency of the diets in producing a gain of weight was calculated as weight gained per 100 Calories consumed. In order to eliminate negative values, the weight gain figures were coded by adding 10 to weekly weight gains. The ratio was therefore estimated according to the following formula:

weekly gain of weight in grams + 10 ______ x 100 Calories consumed per week

The mean ratios are presented according to treatment and period of experiment in table XVI, and according to groups of rats and length of the rest period in table XVII. Statistically significant interactions between main treatments are reported in table XX. The effect of treatments and of experimental periods on the caloric efficiency ratios was similar to that observed on weight gains: increased efficiency of exercised rats during period II and increasingly higher efficiencies with increasing levels of protein in all periods. A difference between replicates was also apparent during periods II and III.

b - Nitrogen intake/weight gain

This ratio was calculated according to the following formula:

grams of nitrogen consumed per rat per week grams of weight gained per rat per week + 10 The value of 10 was added to weight gains for the same reason as when computing the weight gain/100

	TABLE XVI													
Mean WEI and accordin	Mean WEIGHT GAINED PER 100 CALORIES CONSUMED, for each experimental period and according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein (1)													
100 (g	rams of weigh	nt gained pe	r week + 10,	/calories cons	umed per wee	k)								
	Level of en	cercise	Repl	icate	Level of dietary protein									
л.	E1	EO	I	II	D1	D ₂	^D 3							
Period I	2.7±0.7 0.1	3.0±0.9	3.0±0.9	2.8±0.7 0.2	3.6±0.4 0.	3.2±0.5	1.9±0.4 1.3 **							
(n = 72)						1.7**								
	3.7±1.1	2.7 ± 1.1	2.7±0.9	3.7±1.2	3.7±1.0	3.6±1.2	2.5±1.0							
Period II (n = 48)	1.			1.0		1.2								
Period III	2.4±0.9 0.	2.5±0.7	2.1±0.7	2.7±0.8 0.6**	3.2±0.6	2.2±0.6	2.0±0.6 0.2							
(n = 24)						1.2**								

(1) in computing this ratio, a value of 10 was added to every mean weekly weight gain in order to eliminate negative values.

- 108 -

		TABLE XV	TI											
for groups of 100 (g	Mean WEIGHT GAINED PER 100 CALORIES CONSUMED for groups of rats in experiment during each of the three experimental periods (1) 100 (grams of weight gained per week +10/calories consumed per week)													
		Experimental p	eriod											
	Period I	Period II	Period III											
Groups 0, 2, 4 (n = 72)	2.9±0.8													
Groups 2, 4 (n = 48)	2.9±0.8 0.	3.2±1.2 3*												
Group 4 (N = 24)	2.8±0.9 0.	3.0±1.1 2 0.4*	2.4±0.8 0.6**											

(1) in computing this ratio, a value of 10 was added to each mean weekly weight gain in order to eliminate negative values.

TABLE XVIII														
Mean NIT according	Mean NITROGEN PER UNIT OF WEIGHT GAINED for each experimental period according to the level of exercise, replicate or level of dietary protein.(1) (grams nitrogen consumed per week/gram of weight gained per week + 10)													
(gra	ms nitrogen c	onsumed per	week/gram	of weight gain	ed per week	+10)								
	Level of ex	ercise	Rep	licate	Level of dietary protein									
	E1	E _O	I	II	D ₁	D ₂	D ₃							
Period I (n=72)	0.10±.03 0.09±.03 0.01		0.09±.03	0.09±.03 0	0.13±.01 0	0.07±.02 .01								
Period II (n=48)	0.08±.04 0.	0.11±.06 03*	0.11±.06	0.08±.03 0.03**	0.14±.05 0	0.08 ±.03 .06** 0 0.08**	0.06±.04 .02							
Period III (n=24)	0.12±.05 0.	0.11±.05 01	0.14±.05	0.09±.03 0.05**	0.15±.03 0	0.12±.03 .03* 0 0.08*	0.07±.03 .05*							

(1) in computing this ratio, a value of 10 was added to every mean weekly weight gain in order to eliminate negative values.

- 110

r

TABLE XIX													
Mean in e	Mean NITROGEN INTAKE PER UNIT OF WEIGHT GAINED for groups of rats in experiment during each of the three experimental periods. (1)												
(grams	s nitrogen consume	d per week/grams	of weight gained per	r week + 10)									
		Experi	mental period										
	Period I	Period II	Period III										
Groups 0, 2, 4 (n = 72)	0.09 ±.03												
Groups 2, 4 (n = 48)	0.09 ±.03 0	0.09 ±.02											
Group 4 (n = 24)	0.10 ± .03 0	0.10±.05 0.01	0.11±.05 0.01	· .									

(1) in computing this ratio, a value of 10 was added to mean weekly weight gains in order to eliminate negative values.

- 111 -

TABLE XX																				
First order interactions observed on weight gains, weight gains/100 calories consumed or nitrogen intake/unit weight gained.																				
	Experimental period <u>or</u> groups of rats	E	x	rep	E	x	D		E	x	R	rep	x	D	rep	x	R	D	x	R
Weight gains (g.)	Period I Period II Period III All per. & grps. Groups 2, 4 Groups 4									**		**			**					
Weight gained/ 100 calories consumed	Period I Period II Period III All per. & grps. Groups 2, 4 Group 4									**					* **					
N intake/unit weight gained	Period I Period II Period III All per. & grps. Groups 2, 4 Group 4									¥ X					**					

- 112 -

Calorie ratio. Mean ratios are shown in tables XVIII and XIX and first order interactions, in table XX. Generally speaking, nitrogen efficiency ratios followed a pattern similar to that of energy efficiency ratios.

C - Weights of organs and tissues

Figure 5 illustrates the differences observed in the fresh weight of the heart and the dry, fat-free weights of liver and muscle with different diets, replicates and in each of the three groups of animals (groups 0, 2 and 4). For the purpose of comparison, final body weights of the animals are also included in this diagram. While liver and muscle weights are grossly proportional to final body weights, heart weight is related more closely to the level of exercise than to body weight. The influence of replicate, dietary protein and length of rest period varied with the tissue and will be discussed for each organ or tissue separately.

1 - <u>Heart weight</u>

Heart weights are given in the Appendix (table 5A). The levels of exercise and of dietary protein are the two factors which significantly affected the mean fresh weight of the heart as shown in table XXI. No statistically significant interaction was found in relation to heart weight (cf. table XXIV). The heart was significantly larger in the exercised animals on all three diets and during the 3 periods of the experiment. No regression in the mean heart weight of



Body and Organ Weights



				TABLE	XXI								
	Mean HEART, LIVER AND MUSCLE WEIGHTS according to the level of exercise, replicate, level of dietary protein or length of the rest period. (milligrams per rat)												
	.		(n	nilligrams	s per rat	.)		1					
	Level of e	xercise	Replic	cate	Level o	f dietary	protein	Length of rest period					
	E1	E ₀	Ī	II	D ₁	D ₂	^D 3	R _O	R ₂	R ₄			
Heart weight (fresh)	846±90 42**	804±70 *	815 ± 80	834±80 9	853±50 1	871±70	751 ± 70 20**	825±90 1	826 ± 70 2	824± 90			
(n = 72)	· ·					102**			1				
Liver weight (dry, fat-free) (n=72)	1892 ±400 19 52	944±290	2026±370 21 ⁻	1809±300 7**	2113±290 1	0 1998±330 .15 3 470**	1643±250 55**	1786±290 2	1997±295 [1** 2 184**	1970±430 7			
Muscle weight (dry, fat-free) (n = 72)	794 <u>+</u> 80 20	814 ± 80	786 ± 80 35 [‡]	821±80 **	869±60 4	824 ± 50 5* 10 151**	718±50 06**	811 ± 90 2	809 ± 80 1 19	792±90 7			

115 -

exercised rats was observed in the 4 weeks of rest included in this experiment. The heart did not show an increase in weight proportional to the increase in body weight during the 2 periods of rest, as indicated by the similarity of the heart weights of rats in group $O(R_0)$, group 2 (R_2), and group 4 (R_4) (table XXI). No statistically different values were obtained for animals on diet 1 and those on diet 2. The hearts of rats in replicate II weighed slightly more than those of rats in the first replicate, although the final body weights of the former group of animals were lower than those of the latter group, but this difference was not significant.

2 - Liver weight

The difference between the weight of fresh liver and that of dry, fat-free liver was fairly constant for all the animals, and the percentage of weight loss resulting from dehydration and fat-extraction varied between 75.4% and 79.2%. The tendency was for the livers of rats on diet 3 to lose more weight during the fat extraction and drying procedure than those of animals on diets 1 or 2. It is presumed that this was due to the presence of a larger proportion of fat in the livers of the former. This finding coincides with the observation that in at least 10 out of 24 cases, the liver of rats on diet 3 was markedly paler in colour than that of other rats and appeared marbled with yellow granules which were presumed to be fat. No microscopic examination or chemical analysis was done, however, to confirm this hypothesis.

The mean dry, fat-free weight of the liver was significantly affected by replicate, level of dietary protein and length of rest period, as shown in table XXI. Full data on liver weight are given in table 6A in the Appendix. A significant interaction between exercise and length of rest period was observed and can be seen more clearly in table XXII which gives mean liver weights for groups of animals rested for periods of various lengths after the initial 8 weeks of exercise. Liver dry, fat-free weight was significantly lower in exercised rats that had not been allowed to rest after the 8-week exercise period (group R_0) than in corresponding control animals, but this difference disappeared in rats that were allowed a 2-week or a 4-week rest period (groups R_2 and R_4). No difference in liver dry fat-free weight was found between animals maintained on diet 1 and those consuming diet 2. In the case of group R_0 , the difference in the value obtained for rats on diet 3 and that for rats on diet 2 was not statistically significant.

3 - Muscle weight

The percentage of fat and humidity lost by the muscles as a result of the ether and alcohol extraction and of drying was practically the same in all groups

			TABLE XXII								
Mean LIVER WE acc	IGHT of groups o ording to the le	f rats reste vel of exerc	d for 0, 2 d ise, replica	or 4 weeks af ate or level	ter an 8-we of d ie tary	ek exercise protein.	e period,				
		(milligrams	dry, fat-fre	ee liver per	rat)						
	Level of e	xercise	Replica	ate	Level of dietary protein						
	El	EO	I	11	D1	D ₂	D ₃				
	1637 ± 250	1935 ± 260	1860 ± 340	1712 ±230	1956 ± 180	1793±300	1608 ± 300				
Group O	29	8**	14	48	1	63 1	85				
(n = 24)						34 8**					
Group 2 (n = 24)	1997 <u>+</u> 340 0	1997 ± 270	2075 ± 310 1	1919 ± 270 56	2193 ± 290 1	2052 ± 220 41 3 447**	1746 <u>+</u> 190 306*				
Group 4 (n = 24)	2040 ± 490 14	1900 <u>+</u> 360 0	2143 ± 440 34	1798 ± 360 45	2190 ± 350	2147 ± 380 43 5 616*	1574 ± 250 573*				

- 118 -

of animals, and amounted to approximately 77%. The influence of the various treatments on the mean dry, fat-free weight of muscle is shown in table XXI and in table XXVII. Full results on muscle weight are given in the Appendix (table 7-A). As seen in table XXIII, exercise was associated with significantly lower muscle weight when considering group O (R_0) alone, but the difference was not significant when estimating the three groups together (table XXI). The lag in muscle growth ascribable to exercise was made up during the first rest period (period II). Muscle weight remained the same in exercised and cage-idle rats during period III.

Differences between replicates were in some respects similar to those found in heart size. Rats in replicate II had larger gastrocnemii muscles, especially during period I (significant difference in group 0), than the rats in replicate I, although their body weights were smaller. But this difference was not significant in groups 2 and 4. Animals maintained on a high level of protein (diet 1) had larger muscles than those on a maintenance level of protein (diet 2) if they were allowed no rest after the 8-week initial exercise period, but this difference diminished during the two rest periods and became non-significant. Muscles of rats on diet 3 were always smaller than those of rats on diets 1 or 2.

	(mi	liorams dry	, fat-free m	uscle per ra	t)	ocern.					
	Level of ex	ercise	Replicate	abere per re	Level of dietary protein						
	El	EO	I	II	D ₁	D ₂	D3				
Group 0 (n = 24)	781 ± 80 60*	≌ 1841 ± 80 *	785 ± 90 5	837 ± 70 2*	879 ± 80	823 ± 60 56* 9 147**	732 ± 50 1**				
Group 2 (n = 24)	809 ± 90 0	809 ± 70	806 <u>+</u> 70	812±80 6	869 ± 50	830 ± 30 39 10 142**	727 ± 60 93**				
Group 4 (n <u>=</u> 24)	791±90	792±90	769 ± 80 4	815 ± 90 6	860 ± 70	819 ± 50 41 12 164**	696±50 23**				

•

L

120 -

¢

				TABL	E	XXIV										
First order interactions observed on heart weights (fresh), liver weights (dry, fat-free) and muscle weights (dry, fat-free).																
	Groups of rats	E	c rep	E	x	D	Ех	R	rep	x D	rep	x	R	D	x	R
Heart weight (fresh) (mg.)	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)															
Liver weight (dry, fat-free) (mg.)	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)						**									
Muscle weight (dry, fat-free) (mg.)	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)															

•

4 - Skin weight.

As only a section of the skin was removed for analysis and skin samples were not identical in size, comparisons between the weights of the skin samples were of no meaningful value.

D - Total nitrogen composition of blood serum, muscle and skin

A comparison of the nitrogen composition of blood serum, muscle and skin can be made from table XXV and from figure 6. Detailed figures giving the nitrogen content of these tissues appear in tables 8-A, 10-A and 13-A in the Appendix. Replicate, level of dietary protein and, in the case of muscle, length of the rest period significantly affected the percentage of nitrogen in these tissues but exercise "per se" did not. In muscle, there was a significant interaction between exercise and the level of protein in the diet; this effect will be discussed with the results on muscle (paragraph F of the present section).

In the serum, the percentage of nitrogen was higher in rats of replicate I when compared with those of replicate II, but in muscle and skin, the opposite occurred. The level of protein in the diet was reflected directly in serum nitrogen, but it appeared to have but little influence on the percentage of nitrogen in muscle and skin. In muscle, the highest concentration of nitrogen was found in rats fed diet 2 and the lowest in those consuming diet 3, while the contrary was true for skin. In both serum and



		TABLE	XXV	
Меал	n BLOOD SERUM, MUSC replicate, le	CLE AND SKIN NITROG evel of dietary pro	EN according to the level o tein or length of rest peri	of exercise, od.
		(grams	~ %)	
	Level of exercise	Replicate	Level of dietary protein	Length of rest period
	E ₁ E _O	1 11	D ₁ D ₂ D ₃	R _O R ₂ R ₄
Serum N [#]	1.08±.13 1.08±.13 0	1.15±.11 1.01±.11 0.14**	1.18±.08 1.09±.11 0.97±.11 0.09** 0.12**	1.08±.11 1.11±.14 1.06±.14 0.03 0.05*
			0.21**	0.02
Muscle N (n=72)	14.79±.38 14.80±37 0.01	14.54±.19 15.04±.34 0.50**	14.78±.33 14.89±.46 14.70±31 0.11 0.19** 0.08	14.75±.37 14.72±.29 14.90±.43 0.03 0.18 ^{**} 0.15 [*]
Skin N (n <u>-</u> 72)	15.90±.49 15.93±.48 0.03	15.57±.35 16.25±.32 0.68**	15.95±.48 15.76±.51 16.03±.43 0.19* 0.27** 0.08	15.80±39 16.00±.46 15.94±.56 0.20 0.06 0.14

(1) one sample missing from replicate II, group E_0 , D_3 , R_2 . # corrected for non-protein nitrogen.

. 124 .

skin, there was a slight increase (not significant) in the percentage of nitrogen after 2 weeks of rest (group R_2 versus group R_0) and a decline after 4 weeks of rest (group R_4). In muscle, the concentration of nitrogen was sensibly the same after no rest and after 2 weeks of rest (groups R_0 and R_2) but significantly higher after 4 weeks of rest (group 4).

E - Nitrogenous components of blood serum

Mean serum proteins and albumin/globulin ratios are presented in table XXVI and detailed data on A/G ratio in table 9-A in the Appendix. Interactions found in these determinations are listed in table XXIX. The concentration of serum proteins was significantly higher in rats of replicate I than in rats of replicate II. This elevated value was the result not only of a higher albumin, but also of a higher globulin fraction (cf. figure 7). While the serum proteins and the A/G ratio fell with a decrease in dietary nitrogen, the percentage of globulins and of γ globulin in the serum was remarkably constant on all three levels of protein intake (cf. figure 7). Animals consuming diets 1 and 2 exhibited similar values for serum proteins in group O (R_0) only, and for the A/G ratio, in group 4 (R_4) only; otherwise, all 3 diets gave significantly different results in each of the three experimental periods.

Both serum proteins and serum globulins tended to increase after 2 weeks of rest (period II) and to decrease after 4 weeks of rest (period III), but these

				TABLE	XXVI							
according to	Mean S the level	SERUM PRO of exer	OTEINS (gi cise, repl	rams %) an licate, le	nd SERUM evel of d	ALBUMIN/G	GLOBULIN RA rotein or 1	ATIO Length of	rest peri	lod.		
<u></u>	Level of e	exercise	Replic	cate	Level o	of dietar	y protein	Length of rest period				
	El	EO	I	11	D ₁	D ₂	D ₃	RO	R ₂	R ₄		
Serum Proteins (n =71) (1)	6.7±0.8 0.1	6.6±0.8	7.1±0.7 0	6.2±0.7 .9**	7.2±0.5	5 6.7±0.).5** (1.2 ^{*†}	7 6.0±0.7 0.7** *	6.6±0.7 0	6.8±0.8 .2 0.1	6.5±0.9		
Serum A/G Ratio (n=71) (1)	0.57±0.14 0.04	0,61±0,17 4	0.58±0.17 0.0	0.61±0.14	0.71±0.1	2 0.60±0.1 0.11* 0 0.25	4 0.46 <u>*0</u> .08 .14** **	0.56±0.12 0	0.56±0.1	30.66±0.19 0.10* *		

(1) one sample missing from replicate II, group E_0 , D_3 , R_2 .

- 126

.

FIGURE 7

Distribution of Serum Protein Fractions

according to level of exercise, replicate, level of dictary protein, or length of rest period



			TABLE XXVII	[
Mean SERUM PROTEIN accord	S of groups of ing to the lev	rats restored el of exerci	ed for 0, 2 cise, replic tein/100 gra	or 4 weeks at ate or level ams serum)	fter an 8-w of dietary	veek exerci v protein.	se period,				
	Level of exe	ercise	Replica	ate	Level of	Level of dietary protein					
	E ₁	EO	I	II	D ₁	D ₂	D ₃				
Group 0 (n = 24)	6.7±0.7 0.1	6.6±0.8	7.0±0.5 0	6.2±0.5 .8**	7.1±0.5 0	6.7±0.5 .4 1.0**	6.1±0.7 0.6**				
Group 2 (n=23) (1)	6.7±0.9 0.2	6.9±0.8	7.3±0.7 1	6.3±0.5 .0**	7.3±0.7 0	6.8±0.8 .5* 1.1**	6.2±0.7 0.6*				
Group 4 (n = 24)	6.6±1.0 0.2	6.4±0.8	6.9±0.7 0	6.1±0.9 .8**	7.2±0.4 0	6.6±0.8 .6** 1.5**	5.7±0.6 0.9**				

٠

(1) one sample missing from replicate II, group E_0 , D_3 .

i

- 128 -

		1	TABLE XXVII								
of groups accordin	ہ s of rats rest ng to the leve	lean SERUM A ted for O, 2 al of exerci	ALBUMIN/GLOBU 2 or 4 weeks ise, replicat	LIN RATIOS after an 8-w e or level c	veek exercise of dietary pr	e period, cotein.					
	Level of ex	ercise	Replic	ate	Level of dietary protein						
	El	EO	1	11	D1	D ₂	D ₃				
Group 0 (n = 24)	0.56±.14 0	0.56±.10	0.54±.09 0.0	0.58 ±.14 4	0.66 ± .12 0.1	0.55±.06 1** 0. 0.18**	0.48±.09 07*				
Group 2 (1) (n=23)	0.54±.12 0.05	0.59 ±.15	0.55 ±.11 0.0	0.58 ± .16	0.69 ±.08 0.1	0.56 ±.09 .3** 0. 0.26**	0.43±.06 13**				
Group 4 (n = 24)	0.62±.17 0.07	0.69 ± .22	0.65 ±.24 0.0	0.66 ±.12	0.80 ±.12 0.1	0.70±.18 000. 0.33**	0.47±.09 23**				

••

(1) one sample missing from replicate II, group E_0 , D_3 .

1

- 129 -

				T/	ABLE	2 2	XIX								<u></u>	-				
First order interactions observed on blood serum proteins and albumin/globulin ratios.																				
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Groups of rats	E	x rep		E	x	D	E	x	R	r	эp	x	D	rep	x	R	D	x	R
Serum proteins (g.%)	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)												×		- - - - -				-	
Serum A/G ratio	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)		**										¥							

.

L

130 -

changes were not statistically significant. However, a statistically significant increase occurred in the A/G ratio during period III, but this increase was observed in the cage-idle rats as well as in the exercised animals.

The effects of the length of the rest period on the nitrogen components of the serum can be estimated from tables XXVII and XXVIII where mean serum proteins and A/G ratios are reported according to the experimental period. Exercise had no significant effect on serum proteins nor on A/G ratio in either of the three periods, but there was a significant replicate-exercise interaction on the A/G ratio during the first 2 periods (cf. table XXIX). Exercised rats in replicate I had a lower A/G ratio than idle rats during period I, while in replicate II opposite tendencies were found. During period II, the contrary occurred. In the course of period III, animals in both replicates showed lower A/G ratios when exercised than when not exercised and this was true for animals on either level of protein.

F - Nitrogenous components of muscle

The mean concentration of nitrogen in muscle according to treatment, is given in table XXV, and that of DNA, in fig.8 and table XXX. This last table also shows the mean quantity of DNA per muscle as well as the mean N/DNA ratio in muscle as affected by treatments. The figures from which these means were calculated are found in tables 10-A, 11-A and 12-A in the Appendix. The level of dietary
protein is the only significant factor incluencing the percentage of DNA in muscle and the N/DNA ratio. The amount of DNA per muscle was affected by the level of protein in the diet and by replicate. While the quantity of DNA per 100 grams dry, fat-free muscle was higher, the quantity of DNA per muscle and the N/DNA ratio were lower in rats on diet 3 than in animals on either one of the other two diets. The quantity of DNA per muscle was also significantly higher in rats on diet 1 than in those on diet 2 because of the significantly different sizes of the muscles of these two groups of rats (cf. table XXI). For the same reason, the amount of DNA per muscle was greater in replicate II than in replicate I.

A significant interaction was found between replicate and the level of exercise on the amount of DNA per 100 grams muscle and on the N/DNA ratio (cf. table XXXIV). This was caused by the results obtained with group 4 (R_4): while in the exercised rats the percentage of muscle DNA was lower in replicate I than that in the controls, the situation was reversed in replicate II. As for the N/DNA ratio, its value was higher for exercised rats than for cage-idle animals in replicate I, and lower in replicate II.

The influence of the length of rest period on muscle components is clearly seen in tables XXXI, XXXII and XXXIII in which mean percentages of nitrogen, DNA and mean N/DNA ratios are given for each level of exercise, replicate

FIGURE 8

DNA in Muscle, and in Skin



as affected by exercise, rest, dietary protein, or replicate

	TABLE	XXX	
MUSCLE DNA (mg./100 the level of exerc) grams muscle [#] ar cise, replicate, le	nd mg./muscle ^{##})and MUSCLE evel of dietary protein or 1	N/DNA RATIOS, ength of rest period.
Leveloof exercise	Replicate	Level of dietary protein	Length of rest period
E ₁ E ₀	I II	D ₁ D ₂ D ₃	R _O R ₂ R ₄
423 ± 3 427 ± 3 4	424±3 426±2 2	418 ± 2 417 ± 2 439 ± 2 1 22^{**} 21^{**}	425 ± 3 426 ± 3 423 ± 3 1 3 2
3.4±.4 3.5±.3 0.1	3.3±.4 3.5±.3 0.2*	3.6±.3 3.4±.3 3.2±.3 0.2* 0.3** 0.5**	3.4±.4 3.4±.3 3.3±.3 0 0.1 0.1
35.1±2.3 34.8±2.8 0.3	34.5±2.7 35.4±2.3 0.9	35.4±1.8 35.9±3.2 33.5±1.8 0.5 2.4** 1.9**	34.9±2.7 34.7±2.4 35.3±2.6 0.2 0.6 0.4
	IUSCLE DNA (mg./100 the level of exercise Level.of exercise E_1 423 ± 3 427 ± 3 4 3.4 ± .4 3.5 ± .3 0.1 35.1±2.3 34.8±2.8 0.3	TABLE INSCLE DNA (mg./100 grams muscle # ar the level of exercise, replicate, let Level of exercise Replicate E_1 E_0 I II 423 ± 3 427 ± 3 424 ± 3 426 ± 2 4 2 2 3.4 ± .4 3.5 ± .3 3.3 ± .4 3.5 ± .3 0.1 0.2* 35.1±2.3 34.8±2.8 34.5±2.7 35.4±2.3 0.3 0.9	TABLE XXX TABLE VXX TABLE VXX TABLE VXX TABLE VXX TABLE VXX Level of dietary protein or 1 Level of dietary protein or 1 Level of exercise Replicate Level of dietary protein or 1 Level of dietary protein D <th< td=""></th<>

1

dry, fat-free muscle

pair of gastrocnemii muscles.

134 -

.

1 1

	TABLE XXXI												
Mean MUSCLE NITROGEN accordin	N in groups of rats reste ng to the level of exerci	d for O, 2 or 4 weeks af se, replicate or level o	ter an 8-week exercise period, of dietary protein.										
	(grams N/100 gr	ams dry, fat-free muscle	2)										
	Level of exercise	Replicate	Level of dietary protein										
	E ₁ E _O	I II	D ₁ D ₂ D ₃										
Group 0 (n =24)	14.76 ± .31 14.74 ± .44 0.02	14.46 ±.23 15.04 ±.24 0.58**	14.87±.35 14.79±.44 14.59±.30 0.08 0.20 0.28*										
Group 2 (n = 24)	14.67 ±.35 14.77 ±.22 0.10	14.59 ± .16 14.85 ± .33 0.26*	14.64 ± .26 14.81 ± .34 14.72 ± .26 0.17 0.09 0.08										
Group 4 (n = 24)	14.92±.46 14.87±.42 0.05	14.57±.16 15.23±.36 0.34**	14.84±.36 15.06±.56 14.80±.35 0.22 0.26 0.04										

۱

• **1**35 •

.

		T	ABLE XXXII	[
Mean MUSCLE DNA i accordin	n groups of ra g to the level	ts rested of exerci	for 0, 2 on se, replica	4 weeks aften ate or level c	er an 8-week exer of dietary protei	cise peri n.	od,
	(millign	ams DNA/10	O grams dry	y, fat-free mu	iscle)		
	Level of ex	ercise	Repli	lcate	Level of die	tary prot	ein
	El	EO	I	II	D ₁	D ₂	D ₃
Group O (n = 24)	420 ± 30 10	430 ± 30	423 ± 40	427 ± 20 4	418 ± 10 7	425 ± 40 15	433 ± 30 8
Group 2 (n ==24)	432 ± 20 12	420 ± 30	424 ± 20	428 ± 30	427 ± 20 .18	409 ± 30 15	442 ± 20 33**
Group 4 (n = 24)	416±20 15	431 ± 30	423 ± 30	424 ± 20 1	411 ± 20 6	417 ± 30 32**	443 ± 20 26*

.

•

۰.

	Level of e	xercise	Replica	ate	Level of dietary protein					
····	El	EO	I	II	D ₁	D ₂	D ₃			
Group 0 (n = 24)	35.3±2.7 0.	34.4 ± 2.7 9	34.4±3.3 0.	35.3±2.0 .9	35.7±1.5 0.6	35.1±3.8 5 1. 1.9	33.8±2.			
Group 2 (n = 24)	34.1±2.1 1.	35.3±2.6 2	34.5 ± 2.1 0	34.9 ± 2.7 .4	34.4±1.6 2.0	36.4±3.0) 3. 1.1	33.3±1. .1**			
Group 4 $(n = 24)$	35.9±1.6 1.	34.8±3.3	34.6±2.8 1	36.1 ± 2.3	36.2±1.9 0.	36.3±3.0	33.5±1. .8**			

:

- 137

TABLE XXXIV														
First order interactions observed on muscle nitrogen, DNA and nitrogen/DNA ratios.														
	Groups of rats	Ехтер	ExD	ExR	rep x D	rep x R	D x R							
Muscle N (g.%)	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)		¥		**	*								
Muscle DNA (mg.%)	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)	**	×											
N/DNA ratio	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)	*	.t.											

.

:

- 139 -

and level of dietary protein and according to the experimental period. One will notice that the level of protein in the diet significantly affected the nitrogen concentration of muscle only in rats of group O (R_0) , while it affected the percentage of DNA in muscle and the N/DNA ratio only in rats of groups 2 (R_2) and 4 (R_4) . Differences in replicate were not the cause of any variation in the DNA concentration nor in the N/DNA ratio during any of the 3 periods, except for N/DNA in group 4 (R₄) in which a significantly higher ratio was found for rats of replicate II. An interaction between exercise and level of protein (table XXXIV) in the diet was observed in the concentration of DNA during period II (group R2). In the course of the first rest period (period II), the DNA concentration of the muscles of exercised rats was higher than that of cage-idle animals only when the latter consumed maintenance or supermaintenance levels of protein. During period III, a replicate-exercise interaction was noted both in DNA and in the N/DNA ratio. This reflected the fact that exercised animals in replicate I showed a smaller concentration of DNA in muscle and a higher N/DNA ratio than control rats during this period, while the contrary was true for rats included in replicate II.

G - Nitrogenous components of skin

The mean percentage of nitrogen in the skin is given in table XXV, that of DNA and collagen nitrogen, in table XXXV and the mean N/DNA and non-collagen N/DNA ratios, in table XXXVI. Full results on these skin components and ratios are found in the Appendix (tables 13-A, 14-A, 15-A, 16-A and 17-A). The level of exercise had no effect on any of these variables. If one separates the results according to the experimental period, however, such as in tables XXXVII, XXXVIII, XXXIX, it can be seen that exercise was associated with a significant decrease in the nitrogen content of the skin in group 2 (R_2). Significant exercise-replicate interactions (cf. table XL) occurred in the percentage of DNA as well as in the N/DNA ratio in rats of group 4 (R_4). In replicate I, the skin of exercised animals contained a lower percentage of DNA than that of control animals, but the opposite was seen in rats of replicate II.

Replicate influenced the nitrogen and the DNA concentration of the skin practically to the same extent, so that the N/DNA ratio was similar in both replicates. A significantly higher percentage of collagen nitrogen was found in replicate II but the ratio of non-collagen N/DNA in the two replicates remained within the limits of error variation.

The percentage of protein in the diet was associated with significant differences in the nitrogen and DNA of the skin and in its N/DNA ratio. Animals on diet 2 had less nitrogen in their skin than those on either diet 1 or diet 3. DNA was significantly lower in the skin of rats on diet 3, with the result that the N/DNA was significantly higher in this group of rats compared to those on diets 1 or 2. In group 4 (R_4), i.e. the group of rats that was

- 140 -

last to be sacrificed, a higher concentration of DNA and a lower N/DNA ratio were found compared to either group O (R_0) or group 2 (R_2). But the length of the experimental period did not significantly affect the percentage of collagen nitrogen nor the non-collagen N/DNA ratio in the skin.

				TABLE	XXXV							
Mean according to t	SKIN DNA (he level c	(mg./100 of exerci	grams ski se, repli	n [#]) and (cate, leve	collagen el of die	nitrogen etary prot	(g./100 g tein or le	rams skin ngth of r	[#]) est perio	od.		
	Level of	exercise	Repli	cate	Level	of dieta	ry protein	Length of rest period				
	E1	EO	I	II	D1	D ₂	D ₃	RO	R ₂	R ₄		
DNA (mg./100 grams dry, fat-free skin) (n=72)	667±80 7	660±50	641±50	685±60	673 <u>+</u> 60 8	681±60 3 4 37*	636±5 <i>0</i> 5**	641±5 <i>0</i> 9	650±6 <i>0</i> 4 58**	699±6 <i>0</i> 9**		
Collagen N (g./100 grams dry, fat-free skin) (n=72)	10.34±.66 0.2	10.61±.69 7	10.27±.6 0.4	8 10.68±.64	10.48±.77 0.1	10.26±.58 22 0. 0.20	3 10.68±.65 42	10.48±.67 0.17	10.65±.7(0.	0 10.29±.67 36		

dry, fat-free skin.

- 142 -

	TABLE XXXVI													
according to	Mea the level	an SKIN NI 1 of exerc	ITROGEN/DI cise, rep	VA and NO licate, l	N-COLLAGE evel of d	N NITROGI ietary p	EN/DNA RA' rotein or	TIOS, length of	rest peri	lod.				
	Level of	exercise	Replic	cate	Level of	dietary	protein	Length of rest period						
	El	^Е О	I	II	D ₁	D ₂	D ₃	RO	R ₂	R4				
N/DNA (n = 72)	24.1±2.8 0	24.2±1.8 .1	24.5±2.5 0	24.1±2.2 .4	23.8±1.8 0	23.3±1.9 .5 1.8 ³	25.6±2.7 2.3** **	24.8±2.0 2 0.1	24.9±2.7 2 2. 1.9**	2.9±1.7 ,0**				
Non-collagen N/DNA (n = 72)	8.4±1.2 0.	8.1±0.8 .3	8.3±1.2 0	8.2 <u>+</u> 1.0	8.1±1.0	8.1±0.7 0 0.4	8.5±1.3 0.4	8.3±1.3 0	8.3±1.1 C	8.1±0.7				

		TA	BLE XXXVII						
Mean SKIN NITROGEN accordin	of groups of ng to the leve	rats rested 1 of exercis	for O, 2 or e, replicate	4 weeks afte or level of	er an 8-week dietary pro	exercise per tein.	iod,		
	(gr	ams N/100 gr	ams dry, fa	-free skin)	- <u></u>				
	Level of e	xercise	Replica	ate	Level of	dietary prot	ein		
	E ₁	EO	Ĩ	II	D ₁	D ₂	D3		
Group 0 (n = 24)	15.87 ±.41 0.	15.73 ±.38 .14	15.52±.26 0.	16.08 ±.29 56**	15.77 ±.44 0.	15.71±.42 06 0. 0.15	15.92 ± .34 21		
Group 2 (n = 24)	15.86 ± .52 0.	16.13±.36 .27*	15.72±.38 0.	16.27 ±.36 55**	16.10±.49 0,	15.81 ± .41 29 0. 0.02	16.08 ±.46 27		
Group 4 (n = 24)	15.96±.55 0.0	15.91±.60 05	15.47 ±.37 0.	16.40 ±.22 93**	15.97±.49 0.	15.76±.70 21 0. 0.11	16.08±.50 32		

- 144 -

	, ,	TA	ABLE XXXV	IIĪ			
Mean SKIN DNA accor	of groups of rat ding to the level	s rested f of exerci	for 0, 2 of lse, replic	r 4 weeks afte cate or level o	r an 8-week of dietary	c exercise pe protein.	eriod,
	(mill	igrams DNA/	gram, dry	, fat-free ski	n)		
	Level of exer	cise	Repl	icate	Level of	E dietary pro	otein
	El	EO	I	II	D1	D ₃	
Group 0 (n = 24)	643 ± 50 3	640 ± 50	629 ± 50	653 ± 40 24	662 ± 40 11	651 ± 40 41 52	610±40
Group 2 (n = 24)	647 <u>±</u> 80 5	652±50	633±70	666±50 33	667 ± 50	674±40 7 61 59	608±80
Group 4 (n = 24)	710±80 22	688 ± 30	661 ± 30	737±70 76**	690 ± 8 <i>0</i> 28	718±80 3 24 1	`689 ±3 <i>0</i> 9

- 145 -

	Level of	exercise	Replicate	2	Level o	f dietary p	rotein
	E1	EO	I	II	Dl	D ₂	D ₃
Group 0 (n = 24)	24.8 ± 2.0	24.7 ±2.0	24.9±2.2 0.	24.7±1.8	23.9±1.8 0	24.2±2.0 .3 2.3	26.2±1.5 2.0
Group 2 (n = 24)	24.9 ± 3.6 0.	24.8±1.7	25.1 ± 3.4 0.	24.6±2.1	 24.2±1.6 0	23.5±1.5 .7 2.6	26.8±3.6 3.3
Group 4 (n = 24)	22.7±2.1 0.	23.2±1.2	23.5±1.1 1.	22.4 ± 2.0	23.4 ± 2.0 1	22.1±1.7 .3 0	23.4±1.1 1.3

I.

TABLE XL																			
First order interactions observed on skin nitrogen, DNA, and nitrogen/DNA ratios.																			
	Groups of rats	Е	x	rep	E	x	D	E	x	R	rep	x	D	rep	x	R	D	x	R
Skin N (g.%)	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)																		
Skin DNA (mg.%)	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)		*																
Skin N/DNA ratio	All groups Group O (R _O) Group 2 (R ₂) Group 4 (R ₄)		*													-			

-

.

VII DISCUSSION

Each set of results presented in section VI will be discussed separately before an attempt is made to integrate these results into a general pattern of immediate and prolonged effects of exercise on blood serum, muscle, and skin of rats fed various levels of protein.

A - Feed intake, body weight, and feed efficiency ratios.

The depressing effect of exercise on appetite and on growth observed in this study suggests that a stressful situation was created when the exercise regimen was first imposed on the rats. According to the standards set by Mayer et al. (1954) and by Thomas and Miller (1958), a physical effort of this length (3 hours per day) and intensity (1.6-mile walk at a speed of 47 feet per minute) would not be considered strenuous and should not have depressed the appetite of the animals. Differences in the type of diet, in the room temperature or in the construction of the exercise apparatus could be evoked to explain the discrepancies in the results. One important difference in the experimental conditions between the study reported by Mayer et al. (1954) and the present investigation is in the length of the exercise and rest periods within the same day: while in the first case 5 minutes' rest were inserted between each 10 minutes of exercise, a period of rest of this length was allowed only after 25 minutes of walking in the second case. In the present study, the apparent stress was overcome within 4 or 5 weeks at which time the appetite of the animals improved causing a marked increase in weight for the remaining 3 or 4 weeks of the exercise period. The persistance of large food intakes in exercised animals even after cessation of activity is in accordance with a similar observation

by Thomas and Miller (1958). There is a lag in the adjustment of the appetite to the nutritional needs of the animal, no matter whether these needs are suddenly increased or decreased.

Weight gains were closely related to feed intakes in rats receiving the same treatment combination. No improvement in feed or energy utilization could be observed before the end of the 8 weeks of exercise, and the gains of weight observed during this period were entirely due to the increase in feed intake. Increases in weight gains among exercised rats during the two rest periods (periods II and III) correspond to both an increase in feed intake and an improvement in feed efficiency. Exercise appears to exert a delayed sparing action on energy utilization for at least 2 weeks after activity is stopped and perhaps longer, especially if the protein intake is adequate. The loss of weight and decrease in feed efficiency observed in animals on diet 2 during period III (cf. tables XIV and XVI) may have been the consequence of treatment or of some undiagnosed ill-health in some members of this group. The decline in vigor observed in these animals is reminiscent of the condition developed in rats on diet 3 and might have been the result of a slight but chronic protein deficiency.

The higher feed intake of the rats on the 7.5% casein diet (diet 2) may represent an effort of the animals to obtain more energy, because of the lower caloric content of their diet compared to diet 1 (cf. table IX), or to obtain more protein. Since the caloric intake of these rats was higher (cf. table XI) than that of rats fed the 15% casein diet, the second hypothesis is more probable. This is another indication that the level of protein

- 150 -

provided by diet 2 (15 mg. of protein per Calorie) may not have been adequate for rats of this age which, though adults, were still growing slowly. The severe inadequacy of diet 3 with respect to protein made it impossible for the rats consuming this diet to compensate for the lack of protein by an increase in feed intake. Quite the contrary, rats on this diet just barely maintained or gradually lost their appetite.

Weight gains were highest (approximately 14% of initial weight), and energy utilization best, in rats consuming diet 1. Animals on diet 2 gained an average of 11% of their initial weight in the 12-week experimental period, and their feed efficiency was second best. Finally, the use of diet 3 caused a weight loss of about 8% of the initial weight and was associated with the lowest level of energy utilization. These results reinforce the opinion that the 7.5% casein diet was inadequate, at least for optimal growth and feed efficiency in rats of this age and stage of development.

The rats in replicate I ate more food than those in replicate II perhaps because the caloric content of their diets was slightly lower (cf. table IX). This would not explain, however, why their caloric intake was higher than that of replicate II during period II of the experiment. One simple reason for their higher feed intake is their larger size. This could also explain why their efficiency in using calories was lower than that of replicate II during periods II and III: assuming that their energy requirement was higher because of a larger body mass, a smaller proportion of the calories consumed would be used for growth. An average gain in weight of 4.3% throughout the experiment was registered by the rats in replicate I, and an average gain of 7.0% by animals in replicate II. These results suggest that rats of replicate II might have been younger, physiologically, than rats in replicate I. It may be pertinent to recall that the rats included in replicate II, although of the same strain and age as those in replicate I (cf. section V-B) were obtained from a different source, the first source being unable to supply the animals at the time they were needed.

B - Weights of organs and tissues.

The hypertrophy of the heart observed in the exercised rats was of the order of 5%: this result is in agreement with those reported by Steinhaus (1931b) in dogs, and by Hearn and Wainio (1956) in rats (cf. table VI). But the absolute weight of the heart was less than one-half of that of rats of comparable size used by Hearn and Wainio (1956) (table VII). Without the details of the procedure used by the latter in removing the heart, it is difficult to suggest any explanation for this difference other than the type of exercise, swimming being the exercise to which Hearn and Wainio subjected their rats. The fact that the increase in heart size was not proportional to the increase in body weight is in accordance with the observation of Steinhaus (1931a). But it is not possible from the present data to confirm this author's opinion that the size of a heart that has hypertrophied as a result of exercise regresses when the animal is allowed to rest.

Up to a certain extent the dry, fat-free weight of the liver followed body weight, but there was a tendency for the rats exercised for 8 weeks but not allowed to rest, to have smaller livers in proportion to their body weights compared to their - 152 -

controls. This is in agreement with the results obtained by Christensen (1963a) in animals exercised for 4 weeks. If one assumes that exercise and rest do not alter the nitrogen concentration of the liver, this result can be interpreted as a decrease in the total amount of nitrogen in the liver in the exercised rats, with a tendency for this depletion to be made up during a subsequent rest period. But no further increase in the size of liver was observed if the rest period was extended from 2 to 4 weeks.

Muscle size was very closely proportional to body size, much more, in fact, than liver size. The only effect of rest on the size of the muscles of rats that had been exercised was to make it possible for them to reach the same weight as muscles of cage-idle animals. No tendency to hypertrophy could be observed in the gastrocnemius muscle neither as an immediate or delayed effect of exercise. According to Leathem (1964) the gastrocnemius is one of the muscles that respond the least quickly to any stimulus. It may be that one only period of exercise of 8 weeks' duration followed by 4 weeks of rest was not long enough for this muscle to show hypertrophy similarly to that observed by Christensen (1963a) in rats subjected to several 4-week periods of exercise and rest. The absolute sizes of the gastrocnemii muscles of both exercised and control animals were very close to those reported by Gollnick and Hearn (1961).

C - Composition of blood serum.

The absence of effects of exercise on serum proteins(cf. table XXVII), either immediately or after rest, comes in contradiction with the results obtained by Christensen (1963a) who reported a decrease in serum proteins following a 4-week period of exercise, and this whether the rats had or had not been subjected to previous intermittent periods of exercise. The length of the exercise period used in the present study, i.e. 8 weeks instead of 4 weeks, may be responsible, at least to a certain extent, for this difference in results. A longer exercise period may allow sufficient time for the rats to recover from the immediate effects of an increase in activity, and a loss in the albumin fraction may be compensated by an increase in the globulin fraction and/or by a reduction in the catabolism of serum proteins, similarly to what occurs in long-term protein malnutrition in humans (Picou and Waterlow, 1962).

The first hypothesis: an increase in serum globulins, is supported by the observation that the levels of total globulins and of the main component of this fraction, γ globulin, tended to be slightly higher in the exercised rats than in the controls (cf. figure 7), resulting in lower A/G ratios in exercised animals. The finding of a decrease in serum globulins and of an increase in the serum A/G ratio in both exercised and idle animals during period III (cf. table XXVIII) throws some doubt on the validity of relating these changes to exercise. It is possible that serum globulins are influenced by some other factor to which exercised animals are more sensitive. But since even during period III, exercised rats had a higher proportion of globulins in their serum than control rats, exercise is not to be discarded as a possible cause of the above-mentioned differences in the serum protein

- 153 -

fractions.

The effect of the level of dietary protein on serum proteins and on the A/G ratio is similar to that reported in the literature (Lippman, 1948; Weimer <u>et al.</u>, 1959a and b; Ambegaonkar and Chandran, 1959; Wannemacher <u>et al.</u>, 1963). The increase in the proportion of globulins in serum proteins found in rats fed the low protein diet indicates that the loss of serum proteins that occurred as a consequence of protein deficiency was the result of a loss of albumin, the amounts of globulins and of γ globulin per 100 grams of serum being approximately the same on all levels of proteins (cf. figure 7).

Serum protein values of non-exercised rats (cf. table XXVI) were the same as those reported by Christensen and above those obtained by other workers (cf. table II). The A/G ratio for the same group of animals was also similar to that observed by Christensen (1963a) for idle rats, but higher than that found in normals rats by Weimer <u>et al.</u> 1959a).

D - Composition of muscle.

No significant change in the relative or absolute nitrogen or DNA content of muscle, nor in its N/DNA ratio can be ascribed to exercise (cf. tables XXV and XXX), either as an immediate or late effect. The significant increase in the percentage of nitrogen that occurred after 4 weeks of rest was observed in the idle group as well as in the exercised group (cf. table XXXI), and could therefore not be related to exercise. The small difference (not significant) between the N/DNA ratios of exercised and nonexercised animals during period III (cf. table XXXII) was caused almost entirely by a higher ratio in exercised animals consuming

- 154 -

diet 3 over idle animals on the same level of protein. This would suggest that exercised animals fed a low-protein diet could maintain their protein reserves better than cage-idle animals but more evidence is needed to support this statement.

This absence of effect of exercise on muscle composition, contrasting with the results obtained by Christensen (1963a) could be related to the following factors:

1) the length of the exercise period;

2) the age of the animals;

3) the type of exercise, i.e. continuous versus discontinuous.

It was suggested with respect to the results obtained on blood serum that an exercise period of 8 weeks may allow adjustments in the metabolic processes, adjustments which do not take place within 4 weeks, and that would cancel short-lasting effects of exercise on tissue composition. The same reasoning may apply to muscle and one may assume that the increase in muscle nitrogen and DNA following 4 weeks of exercise and reported by Christensen (1963a) may be a temporary effect of exercise and may not show after 8 weeks. On the other hand, the only animals in which such an increase was demonstrated by Christensen were those that had been trained prior to the experimental period, i.e. who had been subjected to 3 periods of 4 weeks of exercise, separated by rest periods, before the study began, bringing the total exercise period up to 16 weeks. The difference between the two experimental situations lies either in the length of the exercise period, (16 weeks instead of 8) or in the presence of several rest periods. The present data offer no basis for discarding either one of these hypotheses.

The second factor: age, could also be evoked to explain the difference in results between the two studies. At the time they were sacrificed, the rats used in this experiment were 6 to 7 months old, while those included in Christensen's work were approximately 11 months old. But the fact that it is the older animals, i.e. those observed by Christensen, that exercise affected more markedly, contradicts the general observation that younger individuals are usually more sensitive to external influences than older ones. It is therefore not likely that the age of the experimental animals accounts for the difference in their response to exercise.

Finally, the alternation of exercise and rest periods may induce changes in the mechanism of synthesis and catabolism of protein and of DNA that result in increasingly higher dispositions to hypertrophy and perhaps to hyperplasia in the muscles that participate in the exercise. As early as 1931, Steinhaus had noticed (Steinhaus, 1931b) that long sustained effort would not cause hypertrophy of skeletal muscle, contrarily to short intense exercise periods interrupted with frequent rests. In the present experiment, the effort imposed was moderate, the exercise period, long and was followed by only one continuous period of rest of 4 weeks. Such conditions produced no evident signs of hypertrophy and no increase in the nitrogen or DNA content of muscle. In the light of Christensen's results, one is inclined to think that shorter exercise and rest periods repeated several times would be more successful in stimulating the synthesis of nitrogenous components in muscle.

- 156 -

If one considers the increase in muscle DNA associated with the sub-maintenance level of protein (cf. tables XXX and XXXII) as an indication of a loss of other muscle constituents, then the fall in the N/DNA ratio (cf. tables XXX and XXXIII) observed in the same group of rats may represent a decrease in the labile nitrogen of this tissue. It is to be noted that the muscle N/DNA ratio was significantly lower in rats on diet 3 (low-protein) than in those fed diets 1 or 2 (high- or maintenance- protein) only during the two rest periods. Also of interest is the observation that the muscle N/DNA ratio in the rats given the low-protein diet was higher in the exercised rats than in the cage-idle animals in all three periods of the experiment (cf. Appendix table 12-A). These findings could be related to the opinion (Munro et al., 1953; Yuile et al., 1959b; Allison et al., 1963) that during stress (in this case physical exercise) muscle tissue supplies amino-acids to maintain labile protein reserves. Further data are needed, however, to support the opinion that, if dietary protein is inadequate, exercised animals maintain their protein reserves at a higher level than non-exercised animals.

The finding that the total amount of DNA per muscle fell as the dietary protein was decreased contradicts the observations of Mandel <u>et al.(1949)</u> and of Christensen (1963a) and the opinion that, in general, the DNA content of a tissue is stable after maturity is attained (Allison and Fitzpatrick, 1960). But it is in agreement with the results reported by Mendes and Waterlow (1958) who ascribed this decrease in the quantity of DNA per muscle to a decrease in the number of cells. The protein contents of the muscle of idle rats is similar to that reported by Gollnick and Hearn (1961) and by Christensen (1963a) in normal or control rats. If the present results are calculated in terms of grams of protein per 100 grams fresh muscle, the mean protein content of the muscle of idle rats on diet 1 and 2 is 21.2, a figure which resembles closely those of 21.4 obtained by Christensen (1963a) and of 21.9, by Gollnick and Hearn (1961). The mean DNA content of the muscle of control rats consuming maintenance or high levels of protein in the present study was 94.9 mg. per 100 grams fresh weight, compared to 123.9 mg. (Christensen, 1963a) and 84.6 mg. (Mendes and Waterlow, 1958). It was therefore within the range of previous observations.

E - Composition of skin.

Neither exercise nor the length of the rest period are believed to have had a direct influence on the composition of the skin in nitrogen, collagen nitrogen, or DNA. The significant difference in the percentage of nitrogen between exercised and idle rats of group 2 (R_2) is (cf. table XXXVII), in fact, the result of a higher value in the idle rats of group 2 (R_2) and not of a decrease in the percentage of nitrogen in the skin of the exercised animals. It is doubtful that this difference has any biological significance.

The marked increase in DNA and corresponding decrease in the N/DNA and, to a lesser extent, in the non-collagen N/DNA ratios associated with the longest rest period (4 weeks) (cf. tables XXXV and XXXVI) could not be prolonged effects of exercise because they were observed in both idle and exercised rats. This increase in the percentage of DNA and consecutive decrease in N/DNA and non-collagen N/DNA ratios were slightly more pronounced in the

- 159 -

exercised than in the cage-idle group (cf. tables XXXVII, XXXVIII and XXXIX) and might reflect a relative decrease in constituents of the skin other than DNA. It is interesting to note that Christensen (1963a) also observed a lower N/DNA in the skin of animals that had been subjected to several intermittent exercise periods but not in those that had been through one 4-week period of exercise only.

If time and, to a certain extent, exercise resulted in a decrease in skin labile nitrogen as reflected on the N/DNA ratio, a deficiency in dietary protein had an opposite effect because of the significantly lower percentage of DNA in the skin in the animals consuming the low-protein diet, compared to those fed maintenance or high levels of protein. A slower rate of synthesis of DNA or the higher proportion of collagen, not affected by diet (cf. table XXXV) could, perhaps account for this finding. If one accepts the first hypothesis, one may also suppose that when the experimental period is prolonged to 12 weeks, the synthesis of both DNA and other nitrogenous components are restrained to the same extent which would explain why the N/DNA ratio of group 4 (R_4) does not show any difference with various levels of dietary protein (cf. table XXXIX).

The lower percentage of nitrogen in the skin of rats consuming diet 2, as compared to those on diet 1, was found in all 3 groups of animals: group 0 (R_0), group 2 (R_2) and group 4 (R_4), although the difference was not significant when these 3 groups were considered separately (cf. table XXXVII). Again, this might be interpreted as an indication that the 7.5% casein diet (diet 2) was not quite adequate to maintain maximal levels of all nitrogenous components in the skin, but not low enough to interfere with the synthesis of DNA, as would be the case with the 3.75% casein diet.

The skin of idle rats consuming normal or super-maintenance levels of protein contained 85.5% protein on a dry, fat-free basis and 19.6% on a fresh basis. These values are very close to those obtained by Christensen (1963a) for normal rats fed similar diets and slightly higher than those reported by Stanier (1957) for fresh skin, and by Elkinton and Widdowson (1959) for dry, fat-free skin (cf. table IV). The collagen content of the skin of the same rats, in the present study, was 56.4% for the dry, fat-free tissue and 12.9% for the fresh tissue. This is lower than the figure given by Kao and McGavack (1959) for total collagen in the skin of 8-month old female rats, but more than that found for soluble collagen by the same authors. Differences in the preliminary treatment of the tissue prior to the determination of collagen may explain this discrepancy. The DNA content of the skin of the control rats was surprisingly high, compared to values obtained on normal animals by Christensen (1963a) and by Rodesh and Mandel (1958). It was calculated to be 667.3 mg. per 100 grams dry, fat-free skin and 153.0 mg. per 100 grams fresh skin which is about 1.5 times the value obtained by these workers (cf. table IV). Neither the literature reviewed nor the present data offer any basis for relating this difference to the treatments or to the procedure used in this experiment.

- 160 -

F - Integrating discussion.

The 8-week period of exercise imposed on young adult rats in this experiment had immediate effects on the animals' feed intake, growth and heart size, the first two being significantly reduced for the first 4 to 5 weeks of the study, and the latter showing a significant increase. Delayed effects were also observed, mostly on energy utilisation which was sensibly increased in the 4 weeks' rest period that followed the 8-week exercise period. Effects on the nitrogenous composition of blood serum, muscle and skin were, however, slight and in practically all cases, statistically nonsignificant. A tendency was noted in the exercised animals to have a higher proportion of globulins and of yglobulin in their serum, and in those that were allowed to rest, a lower albuminglobulin ratio. In the skin of the exercised animals, the N/DNA ratios tended to be lower after rest in the exercised rats fed diets 1 or 2 than in the control rats given that same level of protein, and this was the result of larger concentrations of DNA in the skin of the former group of animals, compared to the latter.

These two trends are in line with the results obtained by Christensen (1963a), although the differences observed between exercised and non-exercised rats were not as pronounced in the present study. Contrary to the findings of this worker, no increases in the nitrogen and the DNA content of muscle were observed as a consequence of exercise. Possible reasons for this difference have been stated in the first part of the discussion.

The length of the exercise period and of the rest periods used in this study seem particularly important in the light of the findings on feed intake, body weight and feed efficiency. The marked improvement in feed intake and weight gain noted after 4 to 5 weeks of exercise offers an indication that the 8-week exercise period of this experiment could be divided into 2 phases: first, a 4 to 5 weeks period of adaptation during which the organism would show signs of stress and probably corresponding to an increase in the output of adreno-corticoid hormones, causing an intensification of protein catabolism and of nitrogen excretion. With the end of this adjustment period, nitrogen retention would gradually increase and tissue nitrogen would return to normal levels, the more labile proteins reaching these values more rapidly then the more stuble proteins. It is believed that eight weeks were sufficient for most of the inbile protein stores of the body to be replenished, as indicated by the similarity of the values obtained after 8 weeks of exercise in exercised and control rats for serum proteins, A/G ration, muscle N/DNA, skin N/DNA and non-collagen N/DNA.

But this length of time (8 weeks) did not allow liver or muscle to grow to a size comparable to that of control animals. The percentage of DNA in muscle was also affected and did not quite reach the same values in exercised rats as in idle rats after this first period of the trial. Rest was the factor that permitted liver and muscle of the exercised group of animals to attain the same weight as the cage-idle group, and rest might have permitted muscle DNA and skin DNA to increase in concentration. As a result of this increase in DNA, the N/DNA ratio in muscle and skin had a tendency to fall, at least during the first 2 weeks of rest, in spite of the stability of the numerator of this ratio. The 4 weeks of rest were,

- 162 -

however, ineffective in producing an increase in either nitrogen or DNA in muscle, over and above the amount found in control animals. In order to observe this phenomenon, an exercise period of more than 8 weeks and/or more than 4 weeks of rest would appear necessary. The fact that energy utilization of exercised rats greatly improved during rest inclines one to think that the presence of several rest periods is probably the determining factor in the development of hypertrophy or hyperplasia in muscle following an increase in physical activity. Some support is given to the hypothesis that one of the delayed effects of exercise on muscle would be to allow rats fed diets inadequate in protein to maintain protein reserves at a higher level than cage-idle animals.

Both the 15% and the 7.5% casein diets appear to have been sufficient for body protein stores to be maintained during the 8 weeks of exercise. However, the 7.5% casein diet gave results that were slightly inferior to those obtained with the 15% casein regime and, with respect to serum proteins and albumin/globulin ratio, the difference between the results obtained on these two diets was significant. For this reason and because higher feed and caloric intakes and lower energy utilization were observed with the 7.5% casein diet, this diet is considered insufficient for maintaining maximal levels of protein in the tissues and for maximal feed efficiency in rats of this age, sex and activity.

One unexpected result associated with diet was the decrease in total DNA per muscle with a decrease in the level of dietary protein. If future experiments on a larger number of animals confirm this finding, one could question the validity of using N/DNA ratio in muscle as a measure of protein reserves in this tissue when low-protein diets are used.

The replicate effect was important in this experiment although conditions of experiment were similar in each of the two replicates. Results tend to indicate that animals in replicate II were younger, not chronologically, but physiologically, than those used in the first replicate. This belief is supported by the fact that animals in replicate II had lower final weights and smaller livers than those in replicate I, although their weight gains and feed efficiency were higher. The percentage of nitrogen and DNA in the muscles and skin of the former group of animals (replicate II) as well as the collagen content of their skin were higher, and the serum proteins and serum globulins, lower than those of rats included in replicate I. In general, exercise had more pronounced effects on replicate II than on replicate I.

The reaction to the treatments imposed was often different in the various tissues studied: blood serum, muscle and skin. For example, the effect of the dietary protein level on the percentage of nitrogen and of DNA was in opposite directions in muscle and in skin. And labile protein reserves, as represented by the albumin/ globulin and N/DNA ratios, increased in blood serum and decreased in the skin during the last rest period (period III). As found by other workers in this field, blood serum appeared more sensitive to treatment than muscle and skin. In both serum and muscle, 4 weeks of rest were sufficient to equalize ratios of labile/stable nitrogen (albumin/globulin in the serum and N/DNA in muscle) in exercised and control animals. In neither of the three tissues: serum, muscle and skin, 8 weeks of exercise and 4 weeks of rest

- 164 -

appreciably altered the percentage of nitrogen.

Significant interactions between treatments were found practically only in connection with replicate, which can be explained by the above discussion on the differences between replicates. Exercise-length of rest period interactions were observed in connection with liver weight, weight gains, weight gain/100 Calories, nitrogen/weight gain and DNA per muscle. As indicated previously, these interactions reflect a delayed effect of exercise on these variables.

VIII SUMMARY

In summary, the following observations were recorded immediately after an 8-week period of physical exercise, or after a 2- or a 4-week rest period following the exercise period, in young adult female rats fed sub-maintenance, maintenance or super-maintenance levels of protein: A - Effects of exercise

- 1 Effects on feed intakes, body weight and feed efficiency ratios.
 - a Immediate effects of exercise:
 - Exercise was associated with a reduction in the voluntary feed intake continuing for 4 to 5 weeks after the beginning of the trial. This lack of appetite resulted in a retardation of growth.
 - After 4 to 5 weeks, both feed intake and body weight gradually increased in the exercised animals, so that the final weight of those that were killed immediately after this 8-week exercise period was practically the same as that of control animals.
 - b Delayed effects of exercise:
 - During the 4 weeks of rest, and especially during the first 2 weeks, exercised animals significantly increased their feed intake and their efficiency in utilizing food energy.
 - As a result, the final weights of the exercised rats that were allowed to rest after the initial 8 weeks of exercise were equal or superior to those of cage-idle animals.

- 2 Effects on liver, muscle, and heart weights.
 - a Immediate effects of exercise:
 - After the initial exercise period of 8 weeks, the weight of the liver and of the gastrocnemius muscle of the exercised animals had not reached that attained by control animals.
 - Heart weight was significantly higher in exercised than in control rats.
 - b Delayed effects of exercise:
 - The liver weight of the exercised rats consuming highor average-protein diets, and muscle weight of exercised rats consuming the high-protein diet increased through the 4 weeks of rest, to equal or exceed those of the cage-idle animals.
 - The muscle weight of exercised rats fed the averageprotein diet decreased in the last 2 weeks of rest and was inferior to that of the controls.
 - Both liver and muscle weights of exercised animals receiving the low-protein diet gradually decreased during these 4 weeks.
 - The hypertrophy of the heart observed in exercised rats was maintained through the 4 weeks of rest.

3 - Effects on blood serum:

- Total serum proteinswere not significantly affected by exercise either immediately or after rest.
- But exercised animals showed a tendency to higher proportions of serum globulins and gamma-globulin during exercise and
rest periods, and to lower albumbin/globulin ratio during the 4 weeks of rest.

- 4 Effects on muscle:
 - No significant change in the nitrogen and in the DNA content of the gastrocnemius muscle, or in muscle nitrogen/DNA ratio could be related to exercise either as an immediate or late effect.
 - In the animals consuming high or average levels of protein, labile protein reserves, as measured by nitrogen/DNA ratio tended to drop during the first 2 weeks of rest and to be restored during the last 2 weeks.
 - Rats fed the low-protein diet appeared to be able to maintain muscle N/DNA ratio at a higher level than cage-idle animals during the whole 12 weeks of trial.

5 - Effects on skin:

- The nitrogen, the collagen nitrogen, and the DNA composition of the skin were not affected significantly by exercise either immediately or after rest.
- However, when the animals were given high or medium levels of dietary protein, a slightly lower nitrogen/DNA ratio was observed in the exercised group than in the control group after 2 and after 4 weeks of rest. This trend was not apparent in the non-collagen nitrogen/DNA ratio.

B - Effects of diet

- The nitrogenous composition of muscle and of skin were sensibly the same when the diet contained 15% casein and when it contained 7.5% casein.

- But the serum proteins, the albumin/globulin ratio were higher, and the weight gains and the energy utilization were better on the high-protein than on the medium-protein diet, in both exercised and cage-idle animals.
- The adequacy of the 7.5% casein diet for rats of this age, strain, and stage of development is questioned.

IX CONCLUSIONS

The pattern of changes occurring in adult rat tissues as a result of physical exercise appears to depend on a number of factors among which the length of the exercise period and the length and frequency of rest periods play an important role. The hypothesis that protein metabolism is modified by exercise and that this effect lasts after exercise has stopped, is verified in the observations that the feed efficiency ratio was greatly increased and that the albumin/globulin ratio in the serum, the nitrogen/DNA ratio in muscle and in skin tended to fall during the rest period that followed the 8 weeks of exercise imposed to the animals in this study. The levels of these tissue components were reestablished, at least in muscle and in serum, after 4 weeks of rest. This would indicate that the changes observed are reversible.

It is believed that the prolongation of the exercise period to 8 weeks, in this experiment, resulted in obscuring somewhat the picture of the effects of exercise, through allowing the body to make adjustments in its nitrogenous components whenever the protein intake was adequate. Future research on this problem could benefit from dividing the 8 weeks of exercise into 2 periods of 4 weeks, the first being one of adaptation, and the second showing the effects of exercise on trained animals. It would also be of interest to observe the effect of another 4-week period of exercise that would follow a period of rest of the same length.

The full effects of the level of dietary protein on the results could be observed only in the two rest periods included in the experiment. Because the appetite was poor in the exercised rate during most of the 8-week exercise period, this group of animals could not take advantage of any benefit that might have resulted from an increase in their total deily protein intake. Moreover, the appetite of the rate consuming the low-protein diet was poor during the whole experiment, and these tate, even when exercised, never consumed as much protein as the idle rate fed a moderate level of protein. In these rate, the effects of the protein deficiency predominated and masked the possible influence of exercise on the nitrogenous composition of tissues. It might be sufficient, in future studies of this type, to use only two levels of dietary protein: one which is barely adequate or slightly below requirements, and one which provides an amount of protein which is undoubtedly sufficient to satisfy the needs of the animals.

Serum albumin/globulin ratio and nitrogen/DNA ratio in muscle and skin were found to be useful, but not entirely satisfactory criteria of protein nutrition in this study. The lack of stability of serum globulin and, to a certain extent, of muscle DNA, indicates the need for further research on the validity of using these ratios as measures of labile protein reserves in the body. The difficulty of using nitrogen balance as a method of investigation in cases where the experimental animals are confined for a certain length of time every day to an exercise apparatus, practically eliminates this technique for measuring protein status in studies involving physical exercise. Other possible criteria include the determination of total carcass nitrogen and that of daily urinary creatinine as a measure of muscular mass. A very recent publication by Wannemacher * proposes a new method for the evaluation of protein reserves called Protein reserve index (PRI). If this criterion proves to be as reliable as it appears to be from the preliminary report on its use, it will no doubt be most welcomed by investigators in the field of protein nutrition who

Fed. Proceedings Abstracts vol. 25, p.605, abstract no. 2344, 1966

have been long waiting for a simple yet valid tool for evaluating the protein status of individuals. This method might have the advantage of giving a more complete picture of the availability of labile nitrogen in the whole body, over methods where it is measured in one or a few tissues only. This feature would be especially valuable in investigations on the question of protein requirements where the question is not so much whether exercise or any other factor lowers the labile protein reserves in one or the other of the body compartments, but whether this factor, through lowering the nitrogen stores, can affect the normal physiological functions of the organism. The final answer to the problem of protein requirement for exercise is therefore linked very closely with those of the role of labile protein reserves in the body, and of the fundamental relationship between the activity of a cell and its requirement for protein.

Abraham, J., C. Calet, A. Rerat and R. Jacquot 1961 Solidarité des besoins énergétiques et protéiques de croissance: l'ajustement spontané des calories et des protides. C. R. Acad. Sci. (Par.), 253:2768 Addis, T., D. D. Lee, W. Lew and L. J. Poo 1940 The protein content of the organs and tissues at different levels of protein consumption. J. Nutrition 19:199 Albanese, A. A. 1959 Protein and amino acid nutrition. Academic Press, New York. Allison, J. B. 1956 Optimal nutrition correlated with nitrogen retention. Amer. J. Clin. Nutrition 4:662 Allison, J. B. 1957 Nitrogen balance and the nutritive value of proteins. J.A.M.A. 164:283 Allison, J. B. and W. H. Fitzpatrick 1960 Dietary proteins in health and disease. Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill. Allison, J. B., R. W. Wannemacher, Jr., W. L. Banks, W. H. Wunner and R. A. Gomez-Brenes 1962 Dietary proteins correlated with ribonuclease, ribonucleic acid and tissue proteins. J. Nutrition 78:333 Allison, J. B., R. W. Wannemacher and W. L. Banks, Jr., 1963 Influence of dietary proteins on protein biosynthesis in various tissues. Fed. Proc. 22:1126 Altland, P. D. and B. Highman 1961 Effects of exercise on serum enzyme values and tissues of rats. Amer. J. Physiol. 201:393 Ambegaokar, S. D. and K. Chandran 1959 Physiological effects of low-protein diets. 2. Studies on haemoglobin, erythrocytes and plasma protein formation in rat. Indian J. Med. Res. 47:552 Andik, I., S. Donhoffer, M. Farkas and P. Schmidt 1963 Ambient temperature and survival on a protein-deficient diet. Brit. J. Nutrition 17:257 Anonymous, 1959

Protein depletion and enzymes. Nutrition Rev. 17:309

Anonymous, 1960 Influence of body composition on survival under stress. Nutrition Rev. 18:125

A.O.A.C., 1960

Official methods of analysis of the Association of Official Agricultural Chemists. 9th edition, Washington, D.C.

Aschkenasy, A., 1959

Comparaison des effets du propionate de testostérone sur le poids de divers organes et tissus chez des rats mâles castrés et castrés-surrénalectomisés. Ann. Endocrinol. (Par.) 20:158

Aschkenasy, A., 1960

Evolution du métabolisme de base au cours de l'inanition protéique et pendant la réparation de cette carence chez le rat. Action de la thyroxine et de la cortisone. J. Physiol. (Par.) 52:9

Bailey, C. B., W. D. Kitts and A. J. Wood 1960 Changes in the gross chemical composition of the mouse during growth in relation to the assessment of physiological age. Canad. J. Animal Sci. 40:143

Barrows, C. H., Jr. and B. C. Chow, 1959 Dietary proteins and synthesis of tissue proteins, chapter 6 in: Protein and amino acid nutrition (A.A. Albanese, ed.), Academic Press, New York.

Bender, A. E. and D. S. Miller 1953 Constancy of the N/H₂O ratio of the rat and its use in the determination of the net protein value. Biochem. J. 53:VII

Black, A., 1939 The effect of protein and exercise at different ages on the basal metabolism. J. Nutrition 17:361

Boulouard, R. 1963

Effects of cold and starvation on adrenocortical activity of rats. Fed. Proc. 22:750

Brozek, J., 1961

Body composition. The relative amount of fat, tissue and water Vary with age, sex, exercise and nutritional state. Science 134:920

- Bugard, P., H. M. Abou, F. Plass and P. Chailley-Bert 1961 Les corticoides et l'aldostérone dans l'effort prolongé du sportif. Indication avec les métabolismes. Rev. Path. Gén. 61:159
- Cabak, V., J. W. T. Dickerson and M. W. Stanier 1963 (b) Response of young rats to rehabilitation with diets containing different amounts of protein after deprivation of protein or of calories. Brit. J. Nutrition 17:617
- Campbell, R. M. and H. W. Kosterlitz 1952 The absence of dietary effects on the DNA content of liver nuclei of the adult rat. Science 115:84
- Canadian Council on Nutrition 1964 Dietary Standard for Canada. Canadian Bulletin on Nutrition vol. 6, no. 1
- Cantone, A., and P. Cerretelli 1960 (a)
 The effect of muscular work on serum aldolase activity in
 trained and untrained man. Int. Z. Angew. Physiol. Einschl.
 Arbeitsphysiol. 18:107
 (Biol. Abstr. 36: (2): 19568, 1961)
- Cantone, A., and P. Cerretelli 1960 (b) Effect of training on proteinuria following muscular exercise. Int. Z. Angew. Physiol. Einschl. Arbeitsphysiol. 18:324 (Biol. Abstr. 36: (4): 60177, 1961)
- Ceriotti, G. 1952 A microchemical determination of desoxyribonucleic acid. J. Biol. Chem. 197:297
- Ceriotti, G. 1955 Determination of nucleic acids in animal tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 214:59
- Chailley-Bert, P., F. Plas, H. M., Abou, and P. Bugard 1961 Les modifications métaboliques au cours d'efforts prolongés chez le sportif. Rev. Path. Gén. 61:143

Christensen, D. A. 1963 (a) The effect of exercise and diet on the nitrogen status of several tissues in young adult rats. Ph.D. Thesis, McGill University, Montreal.

Christensen, D. A. 1963 (b) Personal communication.
Coles, B. L. 1960 Effect of a low-protein diet on the serum proteins of kittens. Brit. J. Nutr. 14:419
Consolazio, C. F., R. A. Nelson, L. O. Matoush, R. S. Harding and J. E. Canham, 1963 Nitrogen excretion in sweat and its relation to nitrogen balance requirements. J. Nutrition 79:399
Crampton, E. W. 1964 Nutrient-to-calorie ratios in applied nutrition. J. Nutrition 82:353
Davidson, J. N. 1954 The chemical architecture of the liver cell. Proc. Nutrition Soc. (Lond.) 13:112
De Lanne, R., J. R. Barnes and L. Brouha 1958 Changes in concentration of plasma protein fractions during muscular work and recovery. J. Appl. Physiol. 13:97
Dickerson, J. W. T. and R. A. McCance 1960 Severe undernutrition in growing and adult animals. 3 - Avian skeletal muscle. Brit. J. Nutrition 14:331
Dukes-Dobos, F. N., T. G. Carlow and R. G. Keenan 1963 Urinary mucoprotein excretion in physical exercise. Fed Proc. 22:685
Elkinton, J. R. and E. M. Widdowson 1959 Effect of chronic undernutrition on body composition in the rat. Metabolism 8:404
Ely, J. O., and M. H. Ross 1951 Desoxyribonucleic acid content of rat liver nuclei influenced by diet. Science 114:70
F A O / WHO Joint Expert Group 1965 Protein requirements. Food and agricultural organization nutrition meetings report series, No. 37, Geneva.
Fisher, H. and P. Griminger 1963 Aging and food restriction: changes in body composition and hydroxyproline content of selected tissues. J. Nutrition 80:350

- Fisher, H., J. Grun, R. Shapiro and J. Ashley 1964 Protein reserves: evidence for their utilization under nutritional and disease stress conditions. J. Nutrition 83:165
- Fowler, W. M. Jr., S. R. Chowdhury, C. M. Pearson, G. Gardner and R. Bratton 1962 Changes in serum enzyme levels after exercise in trained and untrained subjects. J. Appl. Physiol. 17:943
- Fukuda, M. and A. Sibatani 1953 Relation between the body weight and the average DNA content of liver nuclei in postnatal growth of the rat. Exp. Cell Research 4:236
- Freeman, T. and A. H. Gordon 1964 Metabolism of albumin and y globulin in protein-deficient rats. Clin. Sci. 26:17
- Garcia, P. A. and C. E. Roderuck 1964 (a) Protein-energy relationship in adult rats. Part I Effects of varying amounts of dietary protein and food energy on nitrogen utilization. J. Nutrition 82:224
- Garcia, P. A. and C. E. Roderuck 1964 (b)
 Protein-energy relationship in adult rats. Part II Qualitative and quantitative variations in dietary N and effects on deposition of hepatic fat and on N utilization. J. Nutrition 82:231
- Garrow, J. S. 1959 The effect of protein depletion on the distribution of protein synthesis in the dog. J. Clin. Invest. 38:1241
- Gollnick, P. D. and G. R. Hearn 1961 Lactic dehydrogenase activities of heart and skeletal muscle of exercised rats. Amer. J. Physiol. 201:694
- Gontzea, I., P. Sutzescou and S. Dumitrache 1959 Besoins en protéines de l'homme au travail. Influence de l'effort physique sur le bilan azoté. Arch. Sci. Physiol. 13:99
- Gontzea, J., P. Sutzescou and S. Dumitrache 1960
 The protein requirement of human subjects during physical work
 in a hot environment. Internat. Ztschr. Angew. Physiol.
 Arbeitsphysiol. 18:248
 (Nutrition Abstr. & Rev. 30:1404, 1960)

- Gontzea, I., P. Sutzescu and S. Dumitrache 1962 (a) Recherches sur le besoin en protéines de l'homme au cours de l'activité musculaire. Arch. Sci. Physiol. 16:97
- Gontzea, I.. P. Sutzescu and S. Dumitrache 1962 (b) Influence de l'adaptation à l'effort sur le bilan azoté chez l'homme. Arch. Sci. Physiol. 16:127
- Gould, M. K. and W. A. Rawlinson 1959 Biochemical adaptation as a response to exercise. I. Effect of swimming on the levels of lactic dehydrogenase, malic dehydrogenase and phosphorylase in muscles of 8, 11, and 15-week-old rats. Biochem. J. 73:41
- Gray, D.E. and H. A. Deluca 1956 Use of desoxyribonucleic acid as a reference standard in metabolic experiments. Amer. J. Physiol. 184:301
- Grossman, M. I., D. H. Calloway, J. Bowman and W. K. Calhoun 1954 Effect of previous level of protein intake in response to injury. Fed. Proc. 13:459
- Guerrant, N., R. Dutcher and F. Chornock 1939 The influence of exercise on the growing rat in the presence and absence of vitamin A. J. Nutrition 17:473
- Hagan, S. N. and R. O. Scow 1957 Effect of fasting on muscle proteins and fat in young rats of different ages. Amer. J. Physiol. 188:91
- Halac, E. 1961 Effects of stress on animals fed high protein diets. Amer. J. Clin. Nutrition 9:557
- Halac, E. 1962 Studies on protein reserves. The relation between protein intake and resistance to protein deprivation. Amer. J. Clin. Nutrition 11:574
- Harkness, L. R., R. D. Harkness and D. W. James 1955 Effect of protein-free diet on total body collagen. J. Physiol. 128:15P
- Harkness, M. L. R., R. D. Harkness and D. W. James 1958 The effect of a 'protein-free diet on the collagen content of mice. J. Physiol. 144:307
- Hartsook, E. W. and T. V. Hershberger 1963 Influence of low, intermediate and high levels of dietary protein on heat production of rats. J. Nutrition 81:209

- Harvey, A. L., B. H. Thomas, C. C. Cuthbertson and E. V. Collins 1939 The effect of limited feeding of oats and timothy hay during work on the nitrogen balance of draft geldings. Proc. Am. Soc. Animal Production, p. 94-103.
- Hatai, S. 1915 On the influence of exercise on the growth of organs in the albino rat. Ant. Rec. 9:647
- Hawk, P. B., B. L. Oser and W. H. Summerson 1954 Practical physiological chemistry, 13 ed., Blakiston Co., Inc., Toronto
- Hearn, G. R. and W. W. Wainio 1956 Succinic dehydrogenase activity of the heart and skeletal muscle of exercised rats. Amer. J. Physiol. 185:348
- Hegsted, D. M. 1964

Protein requirements, in: Mammalian protein metabolism, Vol. II chapt. 14, H. N. Munro and J. B. Allison, editors, Academic Press, New York.

- Helander, E. A. S. 1961 Influence of exercise and restricted activity on the protein composition of skeletal muscle. Biochem. J. 78:478
- Hettinger, T. 1961 Physiology of strength. Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill.
- Holt, L. E., Jr., E. Halac, Jr., and C. N. Kadji 1962 The concept of protein stores and its implication indiet. J. A. M. A. 181:699
- Houck, J. C. and R. A. Jacob 1958 Effect of age upon collagen and hexosamine content of rat skin. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 97:604
- Humphrey, J. H., A. Neuberger and D. J. Perkins 1957 Observations on the presence of plasma proteins in skin and tendon. Biochem. J. 66:390
- Jacob, M., L. Mandel and P. Mandel 1951 L'action du jeûne protéique prolongé sur les acides nucléiques de la rate et sa signification. Experimentia 7:269
- Javitt, N. B. and A. T. Miller 1952 Mechanism of exercise proteinuria. J. Appl. Physiol. 4:834
- Jeffay, H. and R. J. Winzler 1958 (a) The metabolism of serum proteins. 1. The turnover rates of rat serum proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 231:101

- Jeffay, H. and R. J. Winzler 1958 (b) The metabolism of serum proteins. 2. The effect of dietary proteins on the turnover of rat serum protein. J. Biol. Chem. 231:111
- Johnson, T. F. and H. Y. C. Wong 1961 Effect of training and competitive swimming on serum proteins. J. Appl. Physiol. 16:807
- Ju, J. S. and E. S. Nasset 1959 Changes in total nitrogen content of some abdominal viscera in fasting and realimentation. J. Nutrition 68:633.
- Kao, Kung-Ying Tang and T. H. McGavack 1959 Connective tissue: 1. Age and sex influence on protein composition of rat tissues. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. Med. 101:153

Kassenaar, A. A. H., A. Querido and A. Haak 1962 Effects of anabolic steroids on nucleic acid and protein

metabolism, in: Protein Metabolism. Influence of growth hormone, anabolic steroids and nutrition in health and disease. Ed. by F. Gross, An International Symposium Sponsored by Ciba, Berlin.

Kawashima, Y. 1956

The effect of low protein diet on hepatic nucleic acids and serum proteins. J. Nara Med. Assoc. 7:233 (Nutrition Abst. & Rev. 28:167, 1958)

- Kimeldorf, D. J. and S. J. Baum 1954 Alterations in organ and body growth of rats following daily exhaustive exercise, X-irradiation, and post-irradiation exercise. Growth XVIII:79
- Konishi, F. and C. M. McCoy 1960 The effect of exercise on nutrient utilization with special reference to calcium. J. Nutrition 71:125

Korner, A. 1960

The adrenal gland and in vitro protein synthesis, in: Metabolic effects of adrenal hormones. Ed. by G. E. W. Wolstenholme and M. O'Connor. Ciba Foundation Study Group No. 6, J. and A. Churchill Ltd., London.

Korner, A. 1962

Action of hormones at the cellular level, in: Protein Metabolism. Influence of growth hormone, anabolic steroids and nutrition in health and disease. Ed. by F. Gross, An International Symposium Sponsored by Ciba, Berlin.

Krahl, M.E. 1961

The action of insulin on cells. Academic Press, New York.

Kraut, H., E. A. Müller and H. Müller-Wecker 1958 Influence of the composition of dietary protein on the nitrogen balance and muscle training. Internat. Ztschr. Angew. Physiol. Arbeitsphysiol. 17:378 (Nutrition Abstr. & Rev. 29:540, 1959)

Kulkarni, B. S., R. S. Satoskar and R. G. Chitre 1960 Electrophoretic studies on the serum proteins in protein malnutrition. Ind. J. Med. Research 48:488 (Chem. Abstr. 54:22893, 1960)

Kuncova, M. and R. Vinaricky 1958 The influence of intense and long-lasting muscular stress on self selection of foodstuffs in rats. Scripta Med. (Brno) 31:221. (Biol. Abstr. 35:9804, 1960)

- Leach, A. A. 1960 Notes on a modification of the Neuman and Logan Method for the determination of hydroxyproline. Biochem. J. 74:70
- Leathem, J. H. 1964 Some aspects of hormone and protein metabolic interrelationships, in: Mammalian Protein Metabolism, vol. 1, chapter 9. H. N. Munro and J. B. Allison, editors. Academic Press, New York.

Lecompte, C. and A. de Smul 1952 Effet du régime hypoprotéique sur la teneur en acide désoxyribonucléique des noyaux hépatiques chez le rat jeune. C. R. Acad. Sci. 234:1400

Lee, M. and S. P. Lucia 1961 Some relationships between calorie restriction and body weight in the rat. I. Body composition, liver lipids and organ weights. J. Nutrition 74:243

Lippman, R. W. 1948 Effects of protein and fluid consumption on plasma volume in circulating protein in the rat. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. Med. 67:196

Mandel, P., M. Jacob and L. Mandel 1949 Action du jeûne protéique prolongé sur les deux acides nucléiques du muscle chez le rat. C.R. Soc. Biol. 143:536

Mandel, L., M. Jacob and P. Mandel 1950 Acides nucléiques du cerveau au cours du jeûne protéique prolongé. C.R. Soc. Biol. (Par.) 144:275

- Mandel, P., M. Jacob and L. Mandel 1954 Effet du jeûne protéique prolongé sur les acides pentosenucléiques et d^esoxypentonucléiques du pancréas et des surrénales. C.R. Acad. Sci. 238:288
- Mayer, J., N. B. Marshall, J. J. Vitale, J. H. Christensen, M. B. Mashayerkhi and F. I. Stare 1954 Exercise, food intake and body weight in normal rats and genetically obese adult mice. Amer. J. Physiol. 177:544
- Mendes, C. B. and J. C. Waterlow 1958 The effect of low-protein diet, and of refeeding on the composition of liver and muscle in the weanling rat. Brit. J. Nutrition 12:74
- Meyer, J. H. and W. A. Hargus 1959 Factors influencing food intake of rats fed low-protein rations. Amer. J. Physiol. 197:1350
- Michelsen, O. and A. ^A. Anderson 1959 A method for preparing intact animals for carcass analysis. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 53:282
- Morehouse, L. E. and A. T. Miller 1953 Physiology of exercise. V. C. Mosby Co., St. Louis.

Moulé, Y. 1959

Composition des noyaux de foie de rat en fonction de différentes conditions nutritionnelles. Arch. Sci. Physiol. 13:379

- Mulgaonkar, A. G. and A. Sreenivasan 1959 Alterations in rat serum proteins in relation to dietary proteins and B vitamins. II Studies during protein depletion and repletion. Proc. Indian Acad. Sc. Sect. B 50 (2):51 (Biol. Astracts 35:18197, 1960)
- Munro, H. N., D. J. Naismith and T. W. Wikramanayake 1953 The influence of energy intake on protein metabolism. Biochem. J. 54:191

Munro, H. N. 1954

The influence of the protein and energy content of the diet on the liver. Proc. Nutrition Soc. (Lond.) 13:115

- Munro, H. N. and C. M. Clark 1960 The nutritional regulation of ribonucleic acid metabolism in the liver cell. Proc. Nutrition Soc. (Lond.) 19:55
- Munro, H. N., J. Chisholm and D. J. Naismith 1962 (a) The influence of the calorie content of the diet on the uptake of labelled amino acids by tissue proteins. Brit. J. Nutrition 16:245
- Munro, H. N., W. C. Hutchison, T. R. Ramaiah and F. J. Neilson 1962 (b) The influence of diet on the weight and chemical constituents of the rat adrenal gland. Brit. J. Nutrition 16:387
- Munro, H. N. 1964 An introduction to nutritional aspects of protein metabolism, in: Mammalian Protein Metabolism (vol. II, H. N. Munro.and J. B. Allison, editors. Academic Press, New York.
- Muntwyler, E., S. Seifter and D. M. Harkness 1950 Some effects of restriction of dietary protein on the intracellular components of liver. J. Biol. Chem. 184:18
- Muramatsu, K., T. Sato and K. Ashida 1963 Dietary protein level and the turnover rate of tissue protein in rats. J. Nutrition 81:427
- Nedbal, J. and V. Seliger 1958 Electrophoretic analysis of exercise proteinuria. J. Appl. Physiol. 13:244
- Neuman, R. E. and M. A. Logan 1950 The determination of collagen and elastin in tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 186:549
- Passmore, R. 1964 How many calories? Lancet 2:853
- Passmore, R. and R. E. Johnson 1960 Some metabolic changes following prolonged moderate exercise. Metabolism 9:452
- Picou, D. and J. C. Waterlow 1962 The effect of malnutrition on the metabolism of plasma albumin. Clin. Sci. 22:459

Popova, N. K. 1951

Effect of muscular activity on the consumption of nitrogenous substances by the muscles. Fiziol. Zh. S.S. S. R. Sechenova 37:103 (Nutrition Abstr. & Rev. 22:846, 1952)

Pratt, A. W. and F. K. Putney 1959 Gross body composition and total energy metabolism in normal rats. Amer. J. Physiol. 197:660 Querido, A. 1962 Protein metabolism. Some problems brought into focus, in: Protein Metabolism. Influence of growth hormone, anabolic steroids and nutrition in health and disease. Edited by F. Gross, An International Symposium Sponsored by Ciba, Berlin. Randle, P. J. 1963 Endocrine control of metabolism. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 25:291 Rodesch, J. and P. Mandel 1958 Effet du jeune protéique sur les acides nucléiques de la peau. C. R. Soc. Biol. 152:658 Ross, M. H. 1959 Protein, calories and life expectancy. Fed. Proc. 18:1190 Rougier, G. and P. Osouf 1960 Effet des exercices musculaires répétés sur le métabolisme basal chez l'homme. J. Physiol. (Par.) 52:216 Rutherford, B. E. 1955 The effect of diet composition on the apparent digestibility and hence, on the physiological fuel value of protein. Ph.D. Thesis, McGill University, Montreal. Schöenheimer, R. 1942 The dynamic state of body constituents. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass. Selye, H. 1950 Stress (The Physiology and pathology of exposure to) p. 5-52 and p. 149-182, Acta Inc., Montreal. Shapiro, R. and H. Fisher 1962 Protein reserves: relationship of dietary essential and nonessential amino acids to formation and maintenance in the fowl. J. Nutrition 76:106 Simkin, J. L. 1959 Protein biosynthesis. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 28:148 Snock, J. T. and J. H. Meyer, 1964 Response of digestive enzymes to dietary protein.

J. Nutrition 82:409

Sobel, H., S. Gabay, C. Johnson and B. Hassan 1959 Carcass nitrogen and the hexosamine/collagen ratio of skin following starvation and cortisone administration in rats and guinea pigs. Metabolism 8:180

Stanier, M. W. 1957 Effect of protein deficiency and subsequent refeeding on body composition of adult rats. Brit. J. Nutrition 11:206

Steel, R. G. D. and J. H. Torrie 1960
Principles and procedures of statistics. Chapter 7, McGrawHill Book Co., Inc., New York.

Steinhaus, A. H., J. P. Kirmiz and K. Lauritsen 1931 (a) Studies in the physiology of exercise. VIII The chronic effects of running and swimming on the hearts of growing dogs as revealed by roentgenography. Amer. J. Physiol. 99:487

Steinhaus, A. H., L. A. Hoyt and H. A. Rice 1931 (b) Studies in the physiology of exercise. X. The effects of running and swimming on the organ weights of growing dogs. Am. J. Physiol. 99:512

Steinhaus, A. H. 1933 Chronic effects of exercise. Physiol. Rev. 13:103

Summers, J. D. and H. Fisher 1960

The nutritional requirements of the protein-depleted chicken. 1- Effect of different protein depletion regimes on body composition during depletion, repletion and redepletion. J. Nutrition 72:153

Taylor, A. 1960 Some characteristics of exercise proteinuria. Clin. Science 19:209

Terroine, E. F. and H. Sorg-Matter 1927 Loi quantitative de la dépense azotée minima des homéothermes; validité interspécifique. Arch. Internat. Physiol. 29, 121

Thomas, B. M. and A. T. Miller 1958 Adaptation to forced exercise in the rat. Amer. J. Physiol. 193:350

Thompson, H. T., P. E. Schurr, L. M. Henderson and C. A. Elvehjem 1950 The influence of fasting and nitrogen deprivation on the concentration of free amino acids in rat tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 182:47

- 185 -

Thomson, R. Y., F. C. Heagy, W. C. Hutchison and J. N. Davidson 1952 The effect of diet on the average protein and nucleic acid content of the liver cell. Brit. J. Nutrition 6: III

Thomson, R. Y., F. C. Heagy, W. C. Hutchison and J. N. Davidson 1953 The deoxyribonucleic acid content of the rat cell nucleus and its use in expressing the results of tissue analysis, with particular reference to the composition of liver tissue. Biochem. J. 53:460

- Trémolières, J., R. Derache and G. Griffaton 1954 Effets de la cortisone sur la synthèse des protéines hépatiques. Ann. Endocr. 15:694
- Umana, R. 1965 Effect of protein malnutrition on the DNA content of rat liver. J. Nutrition 85:169
- U.S. Food and Nutrition Board 1964 Recommended dietary allowances. Sixth rev. ed., Pub. 1146, National Academy of Sciences, N.R.C., Washington, D.C.

Vaughan, O. W., L. J. Filer and H. Churella 1962 Influence of prior dietary protein levels on resistance to the stress of protein depletion. Pediatrics 29:90

Wachstein, M. and E. Meisel 1954 Relation of dietary protein levels to pancreatic damage in the rat. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 85:314

- Wagle, D. S., U. Marfatia and A. Sreenivasan 1962 The effect of variation in the calorie/protein ratio of the diet on nitrogen retention and body composition in the rat. Brit. J. Nutr. 16:369
- Wainio, W. W., J. B. Allison, L. T. Kremzner, E. Bernstein and M. Aronoff 1959 Enzymes in protein depletion. III. Enzymes of brain, kidney, skeletal muscle and spleen. J. Nutrition 67:197
- Wannemacher, R. W., Jr., T. J. Russell and J. B. Allison 1963 Serum and liver protein metabolism in protein-depleted dogs. J. Nutrition 80:315

Warner, R. G. 1962 Nutrient requirements of the laboratory rat, in: Report of the Committee on Animal Nutrition. Pub. 990, National Academy of Sciences, N.R.C., Washington, D.C.

.

÷

L

	Waterlow, J. C. 1956 The protein content of liver and muscle as a measure of protein deficiency in human subjects. W. Indian Med. J. 5:167
Ş	Waterlow, J. C. and T. Weisz 1956 The fat, protein and nucleic acid content of the liver in malnourished human infants. J. Clin. Invest. 35:346
	Waterlow, J. C. 1959 Protein nutrition and enzyme changes in man. Fed. Proc. 18:1143
	Waterlow, J. C. 1963 The assessment of marginal protein malnutrition. Proc. Nutrition Soc. (Lond.) 22:66
	Watkin, D. M., J. B. Das and M. C. McCarthy 1963 Protein requirement as a function of work load. Fed. Proc. 22:260
	Weill, J. D., M. Ledig and P. Mandel 1956 Effet du jeûne protéique prolongé sur la répartition des ribo- nucléotides nucléiques dans diverses fractions cytoplasmiques du foie de rat. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 20:430
	Weimer, H. E., R. T. Bell and H. Nishihara 1959 (a) Dietary protein and serum electrophoretic patterns of the adult rat. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 100:853
	Weimer, H. E., R. T. Bell and H. Nishihara 1959 (b) Effects of protein depletion and repletion on serum electro- phoretic patterns of adult rats. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 102:689
	Weimer, H. E., H. Nishihara and S. H. Ling 1959 (c) Serial determinations of serum protein-bound CHO's and proteins during protein depletion and repletion in the adult rat. J. Nutrition 69:151
	Whipple, G. H. 1948 Hemoglobin, plasma protein and cell protein; their production and interchange. American Lecture Series No. 11, Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill.
	Widdowson, E. M. and R. A. McCance 1956 The effects of chronic undernutrition and of total starvation on growing and adult rats. Brit. J. Nutrition 10:363

.

,

Widdowson, E. M., J. W. T. Dickerson and R. A. McCance 1960 Severe undernutrition in growing and adult animals. 4. The impact of severe undernutrition on the chemical composition of soft tissues of the pig. Brit. J. Nutrition 14:457

Williams, J. N. Jr. 1961
 Response of the liver to prolonged protein depletion.
 l. Liver weight, nitrogen and deoxyribonucleic acid.
 J. Nutrition 73:199

Wirramanayake, T. W., F. C. Heagy and H. N. Munro 1953 The effect of level of energy intake on the metabolism of ribonucleic acid and phospholipin in different parts of the liver cell. Biochem. Biophys. Acta 11:566

Yoshida, A., A. E. Harper and C. A. Elvehjem 1957 Effects of protein per calorie ratio and dietary level of fat on calorie and protein utilization. J. Nutrition 63:555

Yoshimura, H. 1960 Adult protein requirements. Fifth International Congress on Nutrition Panel II. Proteins and Amino Acid Nutrition. Washington, D.C.

- Young, D. R., R. Mosher, P. Erve and H. Spector 1959 Energy metabolism and gas exchange during treadmill running in dogs. J. Appl. Physiol. 14:834
- Young, D. R. and R. Price 1961 Utilization of body energy reserves during work in dogs. J. Appl. Physiol. 16:351
- Young, D. R., R. Price, N. E. Elder and R. R. Adachi 1962 Energy and electrolyte metabolism and adrenal responses during work in dogs. J. Applied Physiol. 17:669
- Yuile, C. L., F. V. Lucas, R. D. Neubecker, C. G. Cochrane and G. H. Whipple 1959 (a) Depletion of reserve protein from extravascular extracellular fluid. J. Exp. Med. 109:165
- Yuile, C. L., F. V. Lucas, J. P. Olson and A. B. Shapiro 1959 (b) Plasma protein turnover and tissue, exchange. Influence of dietary protein and protein depletion. J. Exp. Med. 109:173

Zigman, S. and J. B. Allison 1959 Ribonuclease activity in tumor-bearing and protein-depleted rats. Fed. Proc. 18:359

Table 1-A

VITAMIN DIET FORTIFICATION MIX

(used at the 1% level)

<u>Vitamin</u>

grams per 100 grams mix

Vitamin A acetate (500,000 I.U./gram) 0.488
Vitamin D ₃ (1654 I.U./gram)
δ -1, \prec to copherol acetate 2.120
thiamine hydrochloride 0.285
riboflavin
niacin
calcium pantothenate
pyridoxine hydrochloride
choline chloride
inositol
folic acid 0.258
biotin
menadione
vitamin B ₁₂ (0.1% mix) 0.480
alphacel

	Tab	ole 2-A	
assuming a	DIETARY PROTEIN F source of dietary p	REQUIREMENTS OF RATS protein of high qual	ity (B.V. 100) (Warner, 1962)
	Maintenance a	dult requirement	Growth requirement
· ·		,	<u> </u>
mg. protein/gross Calorie	1	.0	57-20 (average: 29)
% net protein in the diet		4	28-10 (average: 12)
(air dry basis)			
grams net protein/day	· · · · ·		
- female		0.52	1.2 - 1.9
- male		0.76	1.1 - 2.4
•			
ж			

*

11

· · ·						T INITI (gram	able 3 AL WEI s per	-A GHTS rat)					•	
Level of	Replicate		Gro	up O			Grou	p 2		-	Grou	p 4		
exercise	-	Dl	D ₂	D ₃	Sub- total	D1	D ₂	D ₃	Sub- total	D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	Row totals
	I	.279 287	295 302	282 293	1738	275 302	285 286	308 298	1754	316 260	265 293	313 287	1734	5226
E ₁ (exer- cised)	II	264 270	272 250	272 265	1593	261 262	261 250	255 247	1536	250 252	267 258	260 260	1547	4676
	Sub- total	1100	1119	1112	3331	1100	1082	1108	3290	1078	1083	1120	3281	9902
EO (idle)	I	292 276 262 257	286 301 262 259	275 287 256 263	1717	279 285 251 256	283 276 256 251	297 299 260 264	1719	271 306 251 264	277 301 249 259	269 311 245 249	1735	5171
					1559				1538				1517	4614
	Sub- total	10 87	1108	1081	3276	1071	1066	1120	3257	1092	1086	1074	3252	9785
Column	totals	2187	2227	2193	6607	2171	214 8	2228	6547	2170	2169	2194	6533	19687

. .

.

.

III

						Т	able 4	- A						
						FINA	L WEIG	HTS						
		•				(gra	ms per	rat)						
Level of	Replicate		Group	0 (R _O)			Group	2 (R ₂)	·		Group	4 (R ₄)		Row
exercise		D1	D ₂	D ₃	Sub- total	D ₁	D ₂	D ₃	Sub- total	D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	totals
	, I	303 310	312 305	247 291		329 335	348 301	265 292		341 298	313 350	281 272	·	
E.		!			1768				1870				1855	5493
(exer-	11	285	294	241		327	302	229		304	295	246		
cised)	· ·	. 292	241	249	1602	315	288	221	1688	286	285	237	1653	4943
	Sub- total	1190	1152	10 28	3370	1306	1239	1013	3558	1229	1243	1036	3508	10436
	I.	319 322	279 353	260 299		291 344	284 334	293 266		295 334	310 320	227 231	•	
					1832	.			1812				1717	5361
E _O (idle)	11	323 283	306 293	240 249		230 325	300 292	243 244		288 312	273 282	22 8 224		
					1694				1684				1607	4985
	Sub- total	1247	1231	1048	3526	1240	1210	1046	3496	1229	1185	910	3324	10346
Column	totals	2437	2383	2076	6896	2596	2449	2059	7054	2458	24 28	1946	6832	20782

.

,

IV

						Т	able 5	i-A						
						HEART W	EIGHTS	(fres	h)					
•						(millig	rams p	er rat)					
Level of	Replicate		Group	0 (R _O)			Group	2 (R ₂)			Group	4 (R ₄)		Row
exercise		Dl	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	totals
	I	936	809	588		866	864	742		921	834	806		
_		838	979	911	5061	816	814	849	4951	853	1014	785	5213	15225
E _l (exer-	11	959	888	807 726		944	929	696		892	1000	833		
ci sed)		022	709	730	4981	917	931	090	5113	020	091	704	5146	15240
	Sub-							· · · ·						
	total	3555	3445	3042	10042	3543	3538	<u>298</u> 3	10064	3492	<u>3739</u>	3128	10359	30465
	I	848	812	700		832	761	807		809	816	653		
		799	847	/13	4719	806	806	790	4802	730	882	722	4612	14133
EO		815	933	756		832	909	797		868	895	730		
(idle)	11	879	846	807		871	835	707		798	832	686		
					5036				4951				4809	14796
	Sub- total	3341	3438	2976	9755	3341	3311	3101	9753	3205	3425	2791	9421	28929
Column	totals	6896	688 3	6018	19797	6884	6849	6084	19817	6697	7164	5919	19780	59394

.

•

<

•

							Table	6-A						
					LIVE	R WEIG	HTS (d) grams	ry, fat per rat	-free)					
· · · · · ·						1				1				I
Level of	Replicate		Group	0 (R _O)			Group	2 (R ₂)			Group	4 (R ₄)		Pere
exercise	Repricat	D	D ₂	` D ₃	Sub- totals	• D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- totals	D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- totals	totals
	I	1 89 5 2184	1692 1545	1347 1467		2617 2043	2036 1818	1800 1561		2846 1994	187 8 2965	1984 1845	•	
El (exer-	II	1867	1747	1359	10130	2207	2393	1741	11875	2137	2247	1462	13512	35517
cised)		1025	1943	13/4	9514	2337	1705	1027	12088	1/01	2106	1264	10977	32579
	Sub- total	7571	6527	5546	19644	9204	8030	6729	23963	8738	9196	6555	24489	68096
	I	2045	1529	1974		2213	2011	2144		2454	1847	1610		
		2103	2423	2116	12190	2492	2 33 8	1830	13028	2315	2285	1692	12203	37421
E _O (idle)	II	2062 1867	1935 1933	1505 1727		1800 1832	2013 2023	1626 1640		1859 2151	1739 2113	1414 1322		
					11029			<u> </u>	10934				10598	32561
•••••	Sub- total	8077	7820	7322	23219	8337	8385	7240	23962	8779	7984	6038	22801	69982
Column	n totals	15648	143 47	12868	42863	17541	16415	13969	47925	17517	17180	12593	47290	138078
μ .		<u> </u>				1				1				

۰.

٦N

					MUSCL	E WEIGH (millig	ITS (dr grams p	y, fat er rat	-free))						
Level of	Replicate		Group	0 (R _O)			Group	2 (R ₂)		Group	4 (R ₄)		Row	
exercise		D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	DI	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	totals	
	I	722 866	786 775	623 721		871 845	856 775	687 856		892 750	779 796	710 641			
E1 (exer-	11	870 845	910 744	779 732	4493	951 808	812 873	654 717	4890	886 948	837 783	782 693	45 68	13951	
cised)		· -			4880			•	4815			•	4929	146?4	
	Sub- total	3303	3215	2855	9373	3475	3316	2914	9705	3476	3195	2826	9497	28575	
	I	971 886	822 796	727 727		850 841	847 840	711 683		885 791	815 786	646 737			
E _O (idle)	II	947	884	775	4929	855	805	739	4772	917	927	69 8	4661	14362	
* .		922	867	,	5165	929	836	770	4934	815	829	664	4849	14948	
	Sub- total	3726	3369	2999	10094	3475	332 8	2903	9706	3408	3357	2745	9510	29310	
Colum	n totals	7029	6584	5854	19467	6950	6644	5817	19411	6884	6552	5571	19007	57885	

Table 7-A

6

VII

						. T	able 8	- A						I
·					· •	BLOOD S	ERUM N	ITROGE	N (1)					
	•					(grams	%)				_		<u>.</u>
Level of	Replicate		Group	0 (R _O)			Group	2 (R ₂)		Group	4 (R ₄)		Row
exercise		D ₁	D2	D3	Sub- total	D1	. D2	D3	Sub- total	D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	totals
	I	1.18 1.16	1.23 1.04	1.03 1.10	,	1.26 1.34	1.04 1.19	1.01		1.21 1.16	1.16 1.24	1.01 0.93	· ·	
E ₁ (exer-	II	1.11	1.09	0.91	6.74	1.07	1.03	0.80	6.99	1.16	0.95	0.86	6.71	20.44
cised)				0.00	. 6. 02		0.70	0.74	5.91	1122	0.00	0.00	5.93	17.86
	Sub- total	4.49	4.35	3.92	12.76	4.78	4.22	3.90	12.90	4.75	4.23	3.66	12.64	38.30
	I	1.19 1.23	1.07 1.16	1.16 1.01	6.82	1.30 1.18	1.29 1.23	0.99 1.10	7.08	1.07 1.19	1.08 1.16	1.05	6.45	20.35
E _O (idle)	II	1.02 1.12	0.99 0.99	0.87 0.85	5.84	1.06	1.03 0.99	0.93 _ *	_	1.09 1.08	0.89 1.09	0.77 0.85	5.77	_
	Sub- total	4.56	4.21	3.89	12.66	4.62	4.54	-	<u> </u>	4.43	4.22	3.57	12.22	
Column	totals	9.05	8.56	7.81	25.42	9.40	8.76	-		9.18	8.45	7.23	24.86	_

* missing value.

. •

(1) corrected for NPN

VIII

Level of	Replicate		Group	0 (R _O)			Group	2 (R ₂)		Group	4 (R ₄)		Row
exercise		Di	D2	D3	Sub- total	Dl	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	Dl	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	totals
	I	0.54 0.54	0.48	0.38 0.41		0.67 0.64	0.62 0.56	0.35 0.53	•	0.83 0.58	0.69	0.30 0.44		
El (exer- cised)	II	0.82 0.81	0.58 0.60	0.48 0.49	2.91	0.68 0.65	0.49 0.4 <u>3</u>	0.38 0.44	3.37	0.85	0.66	0.52 0.56	3.64	9.92
	Sub- total	2.71	2.22	1.76	6.69	2.64	2.10	1.70	6.44	2.98	2.68	1.82	7.48	20.61
	I	0.63 0.63	0.46 0.61	0.60		0.70 0.57	0.55 0.48	0.42	· ·	0.75	0.49	0.47 0.41		
E _O (idle)	11	0.52 0.75	0.50 0.58	0.38 0.46	3.55	0.77	0.73 0.58	0.41	3.19	0.85	0.68 0.65	0.57 0.50	4.21	10.95
	Sub- total	2.53	2,15	2.07	6.75	2.86	2.34			3.42	2.90	1.95	4.06 8.27	-
Column	totals	5.24	4.37	3.83	13.44	5.50	4.44		-	6.40	5.58	3.77	15.75	-

Table 9-A BLOOD SERUM ALBUMIN / GLOBULIN RATIO

* Missing value.

XI

						Ta	able 10	-A	·		•			
. •	•	•	•			MUSCI ()	LE NITR grams %	ogen)	•					
Lev el of	Replicate		Group O	(R _O)			Group 2	(R ₂)		C	Group 4	(R ₄)		Row
exercise		D1	D2	D ₂	Sub- total	D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	totals
· ·	I	14.72 14.22	14.45 14.54	14.51 14.63	87.07	14.63 14.47	14.48	14.45 14.79	87.18	14.63 14.36	14.35 14.83	14.54 14.63	87.34	261.5
El (exer- cised)	11	15.22 14.92	14.93 15.26	14.87 14.84	90.04	14.82 14.06	15.34 15.16	14.92 14.62	88.92	15.34 14.82	15.44 15.70	15.47 14.98	91.75	270.7
	Sub- total	59.08	59.18	58.85	177.11	57.98	59.34	58.78	176.10	59.15	60.32	59.62	179.09	532.30
	I	14.89 14.62	14.41 14.29	14.11 14.18	86,50	14.76 14.70	14.57 14.71	14.80 14.39	87.93	14.53 14.64	14.35 14.79	14.52 14.69	87.52	261.9
E _O (idle)	II .	15.28 15.11	15.52 14.94	14.72 14.84	90.41	14.84 14.83	15.01 14.87	15.19 14.59	89.33	15.12 15.25	15.78 15.23	15.08 14.50	90.96	270.70
· ·	Sub- total	59.90	59.16	57.85	176.91	59.13	59.16	58.97	177.26	59.54	60.15	58.79	178.4 8	532.6
Column	totals	118.98	118.34	116.70	354.02	117.11	118.50	117.75	353.36	118.69	120.47	118.41	357.57	1064.9

. . .

. .

,

<u>ہ</u> ،

×

.

		,					Table	11-A		· .				
							MUSCLE	DNA	,					
	• .				•	(mi	lligra	ms %)		,				
Level of	Replicate		Group	0 (R _O)			, Grou	p 2 (R	₂)		Group	4 (R ₄)		Row
exercise		D ₁	D2	D3	Sub- total	D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	totals
	I	430 413	343 467	437 427		447 407	.370 450	450 430		420 377	40 0 380	417 407		
E ₁ (exer-	11	397	430	437	2517	450	460	453	2554	420	440	447	2401	7472
cised)		417	430	41/	2 528	427	420	420	2630	400	440	447	259 4	7752
	Sub- total	1657	1670	1718	5045	1731	1700	1753	5184	1617	1660	1718	4995	15224
	I	430 400	447 453	460 370		440 413	400 417	420 447		400 450	470 417	470 473		
E _O (idle)	11	413 440	407 420	447 470	2560	400 430	387 367	470 - 447	2537 ·	3 90 42 7	390 397	437 447	2680	7777
					2597		001		2501		577	•••	2488	7586
	Sub- total	1683	1727	1747	5157	1683	1571	1784	503 8	1667	1674	1827	5168	15363
Column	totals	3340	3397	3465	10202	3414	3271	3537	10222	3284	3334	3545	10163	305 87

•

ΙX

		·			MUS	CLE NIT	FROGEN	/ DNA	RATIO					
<u>محمد متعمق و</u>	.			•				•					•	
Level of	Replicate		Group	0 (R _O)			Grou	2 (R ₂)		Group	4 (R ₄)		Row
exercise		D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	totals
	I	34.2 34.5	42.1 31.1	33.2 34.3	200 /	32.7 35.6	39.1 31.9	32.1 34.4	205 8	34.8 38.1	35.9 39.0	34.9 35.9	919 ((22.0
El (exer- cised)	II	38.3 35.8	34.7 35.5	34.0 35.6	213.9	33.0 32.9	33.4 36.1	32.9 34.8	203.1	36.5 37.1	35.1 35.7	34.6 33.5	212.5	629.5
	Sub- total	142.8	143.4	137.1	423.3	134.2	140.5	134.2	408.9	146.5	145.7	138.9	431.1	1263.3
	I	34.6 36.6	32.3 31.1	30.7 38.3	203.5	33.5 35.6	36.4 35.3	35.3 32.2	208.2	36.3 32.5	30.5 35.5	30.9 31.1	196.8	608.5
E _O (idle)	11	37.0 34.3	38.1 35.6	32.9 31.6	209.6	37.1 34.5	38.8 40.5	32.3 32.6	215.9	38.8 35.7	40.5 38.4	34.5 32.4	220.3	645.8
	Sub- total	142.5	137.1	133.5	413.1	140.7	151.0	132.4	424.1	143.3	144.9	128.9	417.1	1254.3
Column	totals	285.3	280.5	270.6	836.4	274.9	291.5	266.6	833.0	289.8	290.6	267.8	848.2	2517.6

Table 12-A

 $\overline{\alpha}$

XII

	•					Ta	ible 13	-A						
						SK IN	NITRO	GEN						
						(grams	%)						
Level of	Replicate	G	roup 0	(R _O)		G	roup 2	(R ₂)		. 0	Group 4	(R ₄)		Row
exercise		D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	D1	D ₂	D ₃	Sub- total	Dl	D ₂	D ₃	Sub- total	totals
· .	I	15.71 15.12	15.46 15.44	15.90 15.87	93.50	15.90 15.73	14.97 15.66	15.27 15.67	93.20	15.84 15.39	15.15	15.82 15.52	92.93	279.63
E ₁ (exer- cised)	11	16.58 15.75	15.92 16.07	16.22 16.37	96.91	16.38 16.75	15.59 15.79	16.65 15.98	97.14	16.14 16.40	16.34 16.45	16.59 16.71	98.63	292.68
	Sub- total	63.16	62.89	64.36	190.41	64.76	62.01	63.57	190.34	63.77	63:15	64.64	191.56	572.31
:	I I	15.73 15.35	15.48 15.14	15.35	92.77	16.09 15.24	15.98 16.08	16.11 15.94	95.44	15.55 15.47	14.65	15.32 16.10	92.74	280.95
E _O (idle)	11	16.07 15.85	15.74 16.45	15.71 16.23	96.05	16.09 16.65	16.23 16.16	16.52 16.46	98.11	16.24 16.74	16.08 16.56	16.13 16.47	98.22	292.38
	Sub- total	63.00	62.81	63.01	188.82	64.07	64.45	65.03	193.55	64.00	62.94	64.02	190.96	573.33
Column	totals	126.16	1 25.70	127.37	379.23	128.83	126.46	128.60	383. <u>8</u> 9	127.77	126.09	128.66	382.52	1145.64

XIII

			• .				Table	14-A	•.					
				• .			SKIN	DNA						
						(mi	lligra	ms %)		(4
Level of	Replicate		Group	0 (R _O)	:		Group	2 (R ₂)			Group	4 (R ₄)		Row
exercise		Dl	D2	D3	Sub- total	D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	tota
	I	623	577	667		667	650	680		683	650	648		
		680	680	563		693	705	460		607	650	647		1
					3790				3 855				3 885	11530
El (avor	11	627	690	607		710	737	640		853	850	710		
cised)		713	650	630		623	· 637	567		697	823	700		
erocu,		•			3917				3914				4633	12464
	Sub-													
	total	2643	2597	2467	7707	2693	2729	2347	7769	28 40	.2973	2705	8518	23994
	-	600	637	607	•	620	622	562		623	667	700	•	
•	T	637	713	556		607	665	670		673	700	673		
Fo					3750				3746				4046	11542
بن (idle)		703	657	600		670	667	670		710	717	7/3		
	11	710	607	647		747	710	617		670	683	683		
					3924		,	•=•	4081		000	000	4206	12211
	Sub-			·										
	total	2650	2614	2410	7674	2644	2664	2519	7827	2676	2767	2809	8252	23753
Column	totals	5293	521 1	4877	15381	5337	5393	4866	15596	5516	5740	5514	16770	4774

•

.

•

XIV

.

•

.

Level of	Replicate	Group O (R _O)					Group	2 (R ₂)			Row			
exercise		D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	Dl	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	totals
	I	25.2 22.3	26.8 22.7	23.8 28.2	149.0	23.8 22.7	23.0 22.2	22.5 34.1	148.3	23.2 25.4	23.3 23.4	24.4 24.0	143.7	441.0
E ₁ (exer- cised)	II	26.4 22.1	23.1 24.7	26.7 26.0	149.0	23.1 26.9	21.2 24.8	26.0 28.1	150.1	18.9 23.5	19.2 20.0	23.4 23.9	128.9	428.0
	Sub- total	96.0	97.3	104.7	298.0	96.5	91.2	110.7	298,4	91.0	85.9	95.7	272.6	869.0
E _O (idle)	I	26.2 24.1	24 .3 21.2	25.3 28.3	149.4	25.9 25.1	25.7 24.2	2817 23.8	153.4	24.9 23.0	22.0 22.4	21.6 23.9	137.8	440.6
	11	22.9 22.3	24.0 27.1	26.1 25.1	147.5	24.0 22.3	24 .3 22 . 8	24.6 26.7	144.7	22.9 25.0	22.4 24.2	21.7 24.1	140.3	432.5
	Sub- total	95.5	96.6	104.8	296.9	97.3	97.0	103.8	298.1	95.8	91.0	91.3	278.1	873.1
Colum	n totals	191.5	193.9	209.5	594.9	193.8	188.2	214.5	596.5	186.8	176.9	187.0	550.7	1742.1

Table 15-A

•

•

.

. .

SKIN NITROGEN / DNA RATIO

٧X
						т	able 1	6-A			•			
	• .				. 5	SKIN CO	LLAGEN	NITRO	GEN					
	· .						(grams	%)						
Level of	Replicate	Group O (R _O)				Group 2 (R ₂)					Group 4 (R ₄)			
exercise		D1	D ₂	D3	Sub- total	Dl	D2 ′	D3	Sub- total	D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	totals
E _l (exer- cised)	I	10.85 9.71	11.27 10.70	11.07 9.51		9.96 9.00	9.75 9.95	10.21 10.31		10.00	9.41 9.51	10.74		
	11	9.91 11.07	9.44 10.57	9.76 10.89	63.11	10.52	10.80	10.75	59.19	9.95	10.02	9.55	60.40	182.70
			· .		61.64				65.96	10.04	10.52	11.2)	61.93	189.53
	Sub- total	41.54	41.98	41.23	124.75	41.19	41.06	42.90	125.15	41.22	39.26	41.85	122.33	372.23
	I	11.23 10.82	9.41 9.45	10.61		11.37 9.49	10.82 10.66	10.68 11.14		10.23	9.86 10.05	9.17 11.09		
E _O (idle)	II	10.81 9.80	10.46	11.52 10.64	62 . 69	11.98	10.67 10.52	10.80	64.16	9.78	9.95 11.23	10.88	60.04	186.89
					64.11				66.22				64.67	195.00
	Sub- total	42.66	40.20	43.94	126.80	43.91	42.67	43.80	130.38	41.03	41.09	42.59	124.71	381.89
Column	totals	84,20	82.18	85.17	251.55	85.10	83.73	86.70	255.53	82.25	80.35	84.44	247.04	754.12

•

.

•

.

XVI

SKIN NON-COLLAGEN NITROGEN / DNA RATIO														
Level of exercise	Replicate		Group	0 (R _O)			Group	2 (R ₂)	•		Row			
		D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	D1	D2	D3	Sub- total	totals
E ₁ (exer- cised)	. I	7.80 7.95	7.27 6.97	7.24 11.31	10.51	8.90 9.71	8.03 8.10	7.44 11.65		8.55 8.16	8.84 8.77	7.83 8.06		
	11	10.64	9.41 8.45	10.64 8.69	48.54	8.26 8.08	6.50 8.22	9.24 7.68	53.83	7.25	7.44 7.45	9.92 7.79	50,21	152.58
					54.38				47.98				47.84	150.20
	Sub- total	32.94	32.10	37.88	102.92	34.95	30.85	36.01	101.81	31.95	32.50	33.60	98.05	302.78
E _O (idle)	1.	7.50 7.11	9.53 7.98	7.81 8.18	48.11	7.63 9.47	8.29 8.16	9.65 7.16	50.36	8.55 8.66	7.18 8.00	8.66 7.44	48 . 49	146.96
	II	7.49 8.53	8.03 9.17	6.98 8.64	48.84	6.13 7.46	8.34 7.94	8.55 8.56	46.98	9.10 8.00	8.55 7.82	7.07 8.34	47.88	143.70
	Sub- total	30.63	34.71	31.61	96.95	30.69	32.73	33.92	97.34	34.31	31.55	30.51	96.37	290.66
Column totals		63.57	66.81	69.49	199.87	65.64	63.58	69.93	199.15	66.26	64.05	64.11	194.42	593.44

Table 17-A

IIAX

STATEMENT OF CLAIM OF ORIGINAL WORK

Previous work had shown that prolonged muscular exercise affects the nitrogen status of rats, as indicated by changes in labile nitrogenous components of the body and even in muscle DNA, which is generally considered stable. Moreover, it had been demonstrated that alternative periods of exercise and rest have a more pronounced effect on body nitrogen than a single period of exercise. The hypothesis formulated in the present study is that rest may be the factor that allows some otherwise hidden changes in body nitrogen to become noticeable or to be intensified, and that the level of dietary protein may influence the results. The disclosure of these changes, the length of time necessary for their appearance, and the time required for the same body components to return to pre-exercise levels are the object of the present investigation.

The author claims as an original contribution to knowledge the following observations that form part of the experimental work on which this thesis is based:

- 1 observations on the immediate effects of a 56-day continuous period of exercise on the collagen content of skin;
- 2 observations on the delayed effects (after 2 or 4 weeks of rest) of a 56-day continuous period of exercise and of the simultaneous effect of exercise and dietary protein level on:
 a) feed efficiency and nitrogen efficiency ratios;
 - b) total serum proteins and serum albumin/globulin ratio;
 - c) levels of nitrogen and of DNA in skeletal muscle;
 - d) levels of nitrogen, collagen nitrogen, and DNA in skin.

.

.

.

· . .

.

.